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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Director(s)") of EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
(the "Company’), | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting
Year’).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Building on a solid foundation, the Group has been consistently
investing in the long-term success of our business. For
the year under review, the Group’s revenue increased by
approximately HKS$191.7 million or approximately 42.3%, from
approximately HK$452.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$644.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2024. The Group recorded a loss of HK$26.5 million (for
the year ended 31 March 2023: loss of HK$50.3 million). The
Group has successfully implemented its strategy of expanding
our healthcare products business with steady growth which
positively affected our results.

Our garment business showed a stable profit for the Reporting
Year versus a profit for the same period last year. The revenue
was up 22.4% as orders from the United States of America (the
“USA") kept on increasing.

On healthcare products business, as both newly acquired
subsidiaries, namely (i) EP Trading Co., Ltd. and (ii) R&E
Corporation Limited recorded almost a full year revenue into
the Group during the Reporting Year as compared to their less
substantial revenue contribution for the year ended 31 March
2023, the revenue was up 150.0%. This business has been
continually contributing profits and cash flow to support the
Group.

As for IRO with CRO services and In-house R&D business, the
revenue was up 144.2%. The increase in revenue and gross profit
mainly arose as a result of the PRC specialized CRO business
being competitive and that the Group is in the process to
coordinate industry resources to improve its margins.
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
ERWME

PROSPECTS

In the face of the ever-changing business environment, the
Group has adopted a series of flexible and diversified strategies
on garment business. These include optimising product mix,
strengthening supply chain management, and improving
production efficiency to enhance competitiveness and market
adaptability. We are committed to continuously innovating and
enhancing our business processes to ensure that our products
and services can meet the changing needs of consumers while
maintaining our market share in the industry.

On the healthcare segment, our Group considers that the
increase in the consumption level in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") builds the base for the steady growth and
will continue its increasing trend in the future. In our Healthcare
Products Business ("HCP Business”), we made the following
acquisitions during the Reporting Year. In March 2023, we have
acquired 65% equity interest of R&E Corporation Limited ("R&E")
which wholly owns a PRC company. R&E and its subsidiary
possess an extensive distribution network and export/distribute
Japanese health food to the PRC market via extensive networks.
As such, R&E would be able to complement the existing business
operations of the Group in HCP Business Unit by trading and
distributing the healthcare products of the Group to generate
income for the Group and create positive synergy effect.

Of the existing pipeline, we also have EP Trading Co., Ltd. ("EP
Trading”) and its subsidiary, which source and distribute large
and medium-sized healthcare products for preclinical trials and
added services of leasing medical devices to ensure the smooth
running of clinical trials. HCP Business Unit will continue to
identify potential market needs in a timely manner and expand
its lineup of new products.

For our IRO with CRO services and In-house R&D Business, in
order to meet customer demands, changes in market structure
and the long-term prospects of the healthcare and drug R&D
markets, the Group has fully prepared, integrated and launched
businesses in the healthcare segment during the Reporting
Year, and expanded its services scope to IRO with CRO services
with the provision of comprehensive solutions in Japan such as
new drug development planning, development promotion, and
commercialization support including licensing and financing
support, Japan-PRC specialized CRO services and Japanese-
Chinese medical personnel exchange service.
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During the Reporting Year, we have newly acquired, Biotube
Co,, Ltd. ("Biotube”), a company initiate in investigator-initiated
clinical trials which are highly compatible with the development
area of the Group. The resources and innovative research
technology controlled by Biotube are of high quality which will
further improve the development of the Group’s innovative
research sector.

Our Group will continuously enhance the necessary functions
toward our vision which is to create the business co-creation
platform satisfying a wide range of needs and demands from
product development and manufacture to distribution in
the healthcare industry in the PRC and Japan as a business
development partner.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff
for their commitment and dedication throughout the year. |
would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all of our
business partners, customers, suppliers and the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company for their continuous support.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
Shimada Tatsuji
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

INTRODUCTION

Under the apparel segment, the Group is engaged in Garment
Business, providing apparel supply chain management service.
Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group principally sells knitwear
products. The Group provides one-stop apparel supply chain
management solutions for its customers ranging from fashion
trend analysis, product design and development, sourcing and
procurement of materials, production management, quality
control to logistics services. The Group’s customers are mainly
owners or sourcing agents of apparel retail brands based in
Japan and the USA, which market and sell their products under
their own brands. The Group does not possess its own labels. All
the Group's knitwear products are manufactured in accordance
with the specifications and requirements set out by the Group’s
customers in the sales orders, some designs of which are
recommended or inspired by the Group. Since the Group does
not own or operate any manufacturing operations, the Group
outsources the whole manufacturing process to third-party
manufacturers with manufacturing operations located in the PRC,
Thailand and/or Cambodia.

Under the healthcare segment, the Group is also principally
engaged in Healthcare Products Business, IRO with CRO services
and In-house R&D Business. During the Reporting Year, the Group
has acquired (i) a Hong Kong company which together with
its subsidiary are engaged in the sales of Japanese health food
to the PRC market via an extensive distribution network; and
(i) a Japanese company which is developing medical devices
specialized in in-body tissue architecture (iBTA) technology and is
conducting investigator-initiated clinical trial for lower extremity
artery bypass surgery in patients with critical lower extremity
ischemia, as well as physician-initiated clinical trial for wound
care in patients with diabetic foot ulcers.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Garment Business

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$467.0 million in this segment, representing an
increase of approximately 22.4% as compared to approximately
HK$381.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group's
gross profit for the Reporting Year in this segment amounted
to approximately HK$69.7 million (for the year ended 31 March
2023: approximately HK$61.8 million). The increase in gross profit
of the Group in this segment was primarily attributable to the
increase in the sales volume of a major customer headquartered
in the USA.

During the year under review, despite the generally optimistic
global outlook driven by the pause in rate hikes and the strength
of the USA economy, it is important for the Group to continue
to closely monitor other economic instabilities like soaring
inflation rates, increasing logistic costs as well as the high energy
prices. Our sales teams would continue to expand our client
bases and to explore more manufacturing sources and products
development. Hopefully by doing so, we could maintain our
garment business with a profitable margin.

Healthcare Products Business

In order to expand our Healthcare Products Business (HCP
Business), we made the following acquisitions during the
Reporting Year.

In March 2023, we have acquired 65% equity interest of R&E
which wholly owns a PRC company. Following the completion in
May 2023, R&E and its subsidiary have become part of our Group.

R&E and its subsidiary possess an extensive distribution network
and export/distribute Japanese health food to the PRC market via
established channels. As such, R&E would be able to complement
the existing business operations of the Group in HCP Business
Unit by trading and distributing the healthcare products of the
Group to generate income for the Group and create a positive
synergy effect.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

In this HCP Business Unit, we also have EP Trading and its
subsidiary, which has a long-established business operation
with connection in the sourcing of healthcare products. They
distribute large and medium-sized medical healthcare products
for preclinical trials. They have also expanded the channels and
network for the import/distribution of consumable healthcare
products from overseas to the Japanese and the PRC markets.

In addition, EP Trading provides leasing of medical devices
service to ensure the smooth running of clinical trials, such as
electrocardiograms, drug refrigerators, centrifuges and other
items.

HCP Business Unit recorded revenue of approximately HK$139.5
million for the Reporting Year, representing an increase of
approximately 150.0% as compared to approximately HK$55.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group's gross
profit for the Reporting Year in this segment amounted to
approximately HK$29.6 million (for the year ended 31 March
2023: approximately HKS$12.2 million). The increase in revenue
and gross profit mainly arose as a result of the acquisition of
R&E and its subsidiary. R&E distributes popular Japanese food
products to the PRC, and gained substantial market shares via
strong brand products and extensive networks.

Provision of Innovative Research Organization (IRO)
Business with Specialised Contract Research Organization
(CRO) Services and In-house R&D Business (“IRO with CRO
Services and In-house R&D Business”)

IRO with CRO Services

The Group has been aiming to provide one stop solution to
academia, biotech-ventures and pharmaceutical companies in
Japan and the PRC, based on our knowledge and know-how of
drug development support businesses that we have cultivated
over many years in Japan and the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We have called it “IRO Business” which is quite a new business
model to provide services for business development and
commercialization support including the entry of the PRC
companies into the Japanese market and the entry of the
biotech-ventures in Japan into the PRC. This business is also
characterized by the fact that most of the business development
clients are mainly in the early stage which require consultation
and there shall be long-term benefits once these clients’ business
proceed.

As a part of business function, the Group has CRO Services which
is principally engaged in clinical trial services providing project
management, clinical operations, data science, consulting for
medical safety and regulatory science in the PRC.

The IRO Business would be expected to provide synergy for the
expansion of the In-House R&D business and Healthcare Products
Business (HCP Business) Unit of the Group.

In-house R&D Business

In order to expand our In-house R&D Business, we made the
following acquisition during the Reporting Year.

In November 2023, we entered into a share transfer agreement
to acquire approximately 47.3% equity interest in Biotube and a
subscription agreement to subscribe for convertible bonds issued
by Biotube. Following the completion of the acquisition and the
subscription (and conversion of the said convertible bonds) in
January 2024, the Company indirectly holds 51% equity interest
in Biotube and it has become part of our Group.

Biotube is developing medical devices specialized in In-body
tissue architecture (iBTA) technology, and developed a device
that enables the subcutaneous formation of tubular tissue from
the patient’s own tissue and is conducting a physician-initiated
clinical trial for lower extremity artery bypass surgery for patients
with a lower extremity arterial disease (LEAD). Biotube has also
developed a device that enables the subcutaneous formation
of tissue bodies in which the patient’s own stem cells and is
conducting a physician-initiated clinical trial for wound treatment
in patients with diabetic foot ulcers. Biotube has been working
in the Group to aggressively pursue the early commercialization
of iBTA technology for the implementation of new regenerative
medicine in society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

In the In-house R&D Business, it has been focusing and making
steady progress on the initiatives of (i) exploring the potential for
anti-obesity and anti-diabetes using the brown fat cell induction
technology in a subsidiary which is EPD Co., Ltd,; (ii) creating a
new treatment option so that EIM-001 becomes an alternative
to highly invasive surgical bypass surgery in peripheral artery
diseases in a subsidiary which is FEF Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd;
(i) pursuing the possibility of sublingual vaccines, focusing on
the importance of secretory IgA, which it considers influences
defense against allergic diseases as well as against new
coronaviruses in a division, Research Center; and (iv) developing
medical devices specialized in iBTA technology in a subsidiary
which is Biotube.

The progress of each of the above initiatives is as follows: (i)
preparing for clinical research; (ii) conducting investigator-
initiated clinical trials; (iii) publishing research results/findings on
some articles in each research as needed; and (iv) conducting
investigator-initiated clinical trials.

IRO Business with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business
Unit recorded revenue of approximately HK$38.1 million for
the Reporting Year in this business segment, representing an
increase of approximately 144.2% as compared to approximately
HKS$15.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group's
gross loss for the Reporting Year in this segment amounted to
approximately HK$0.08 million (for the year ended 31 March
2023: gross loss approximately HKS$6.1 million). The increase in
revenue and decrease in gross loss mainly arose as a result of
the PRC specialised CRO business being competitive and that
the Group is in the process to coordinate industry resources to
improve its margins.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Performance Review

The Group's total comprehensive expense attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$22.3 million for the
Reporting Year (for the year ended 31 March 2023, the total
comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company
was as approximately HK$45.4 million). The decrease of the total
comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company
is mainly attributable to (i) the increase in profit on healthcare
products business of approximately HKS13.1 million and (ii)
the fair value gain on promissory note due to non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$16.1 million.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue from Garment Business

The Group's knitwear products are divided into three categories,
namely womenswear products, menswear products and kidswear
products. During the Reporting Year, the Group’s revenue
mainly derived from the sales of womenswear products, which
accounted for approximately 72.5% (for the year ended 31 March
2023: approximately 78.3%) of the Group’s total revenue for the
Reporting Year. The following table sets out a breakdown of the
Group's revenue by product category for each of the two years
ended 31 March 2024:

EEENWED
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AEBRFEFEZARREE AEBEEZERHR
SBBAORNIBEAT(HE_ST-_=F=H
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AR BER D EEBARO)REERES R A
EANA13.1 8 &7 7T K (1) FETE AR 2 7B A Y
HERAABAERKZENI6IBEST -

gy ge o
AR B W
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FERNEBEWEN725% (BE_T_=F=
A=1+—HIEFE : RzE4783%) - NXRFH
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Year ended 31 March

BE=RA=1+—LEE

Rate of
2024 2023 Change
—EoE —T-=F pEE RS
HK’000 % HK'000 % %

FET FET
Womenswear o 338,604 72.5 298,830 783 133
Menswear Ba 117,833 25.2 68,995 18.1 70.7
Kidswear g 10,541 2.3 13,675 3.6 (23.4)
Total BUL S 466,978 100.0 381,500 100.0 224

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024
2023/2024 F3;



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

During the Reporting Year, the sales volume of the Group
amounted to approximately 5.7 million pieces (for the year ended
31 March 2023: approximately 4.6 million pieces) of finished
knitwear products. Set out below are the total sales quantity of
each product category for each of the two years ended 31 March
2024:

RBEFE - AREHEBREERFERY
STABHEBE_T_=Ff=A=1+—HBL*HF
B #W46BEM) - LTEIRNEBE_F
FZA=T—HULEMEFESEREARZEH

=
==

Year ended 31 March

BZE=A=1+—1t&E

Rate of
2024 2023 _Change
—E-ME —E-=F )Ly
Pieces 000 %  Pieces 000 % %
HE 14 & T1F
Womenswear e 3,993 70.5 3,345 73.1 194
Menswear % b3 1,476 26.0 969 21.2 52.3
Kidswear o 200 3.5 264 5.7 (24.2)
Total BIHE 5,669 100.0 4,578 100.0 238
The selling price of each of the product category depends BEMBAICEEETERF(HFEE)TIF
primarily on, among other things, (i) the complexity of the IEME : ()VEMFRFTEFHEIRE 5 (NF]ERIE III
product design; (ii) the size of an order; (iii) the delivery schedule g}f'ﬁﬁrﬁﬁé SRR (VRERMERA : RV

set out by customers; (iv) the costs of raw materials; and (v) the
production costs as quoted by the third-party manufacturers.
Accordingly, the selling price of the Group's products may differ
considerably in different purchase orders by different customers.
Set out below are the average selling prices per piece of finished
product sold by the Group by product category for each of the
two years ended 31 March 2024:

=T BBERMTRAEERA o Eit $%@Z}Z
mEERBEATREF Z T RRER]#mAE
ERE - ATHIAEERBE_ZT_MF=H
=t BUEMEFESMEKRRIZERERE
DB EE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—LLtFE

2024 2023 Rate of Change
—EMEF —Eo=F E xR
Average selling Average selling
price (Note) price (Note)
FIHERE FHERE
(D) (W)
HKS$ HKS %
ET BT
Womenswear e 84.8 89.3 (5.0)
Menswear B 79.8 71.2 121
Kidswear BE 52.7 51.8 1.7
Overall average selling BT E8HTH
price per piece EE 82.4 83.3 (1.1)

Note: The average selling price per piece represents the revenue for the
year divided by the total sales quantity for the year.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's revenue from the garment segment increased
by approximately 22.4%, or approximately HK$85.5 million,
from approximately HK$381.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately HK$467.0 million for Reporting
Year. The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to the
increase in purchase orders of the Group from a major customer
headquartered in the USA.

Womenswear

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s revenue from the
garment segment mainly derived from the sales of womenswear
products. Revenue derived from the sales of womenswear
products increased by approximately HK$39.8 million or 13.3%,
from approximately HK$298.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately HK$338.6 million for the Reporting
Year. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
sales quantity from approximately 3.3 million pieces for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 4.0 million pieces
for the Reporting Year, which outweighed the decrease in
average selling price per piece of womenswear products from
approximately HK$89.3 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$84.8 for the Reporting Year.

Menswear

The Group’s revenue derived from the sales of menswear
products increased by approximately HK$48.8 million or 70.7%
from approximately HK$69.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$117.8 million for the Reporting Year.
Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in sales
quantity from approximately 1.0 million pieces for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 1.5 million pieces for the
Reporting Year coupled with the increase in average selling price
per piece of menswear products from approximately HK$71.2 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$79.8 for the
Reporting Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

Kidswear

Revenue derived from the sales of kidswear products of the
Group decreased by approximately HK$3.2 million or 23.4%
to approximately HK$10.5 million for the Reporting Year from
approximately HK$13.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The decrease in the revenue of the Group’s kidswear products
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales volume of the
Group's kidswear products from approximately 0.3 million pieces
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 0.2 million
pieces for the Reporting Year, which outweighed the increase
in average selling price per piece of the kidswear products from
approximately HK$51.8 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$52.7 for the Reporting Year.

Revenue from Healthcare Products Business

Revenue derived from the Healthcare Products Business (HCP
Business) of the Group increased by approximately HK$83.7
million or 150.0% to approximately HK$139.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 from approximately HK$55.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. The increase in revenue and
gross profit mainly arose as a result of the acquisition of R&E and
its subsidiary. R&E distributes popular Japanese food products
to the PRC, and gained substantial market shares via strong
brand products and extensive networks. On the other hand, EP
Trading'’s revenue decreased due to re-evaluation of the product
line.

-1
AEEHEERERMSREREE-_S =
FZA=+—HLEFEN/BEBTEERE
WEFEMOSEEBTRD2BEB TS
#49234%) - REBEEER WML EER
RAEEEREREEHEE T -_=F=-HA
T HIFENEEHRIEREFTED
EEH  BRERELREHFHEEHRESE
TR =F=ZRA=+—HILFEH518F L
EREFELS27BTTZIBEK °

PRI fm 3RS Wk

BE-_T-_NE=A=+—HILFEE ' X&
B R MERHPPER) EENKABRBE
T = =A=+—HItFE4558F L& M
49837 B BB ITTEH1500%E 41305 B BB T ©
WAFREFNOENEZ AN WEBRERE T
NEIFTEN - RREBZECAMN B AR MmO 5+
- Wi B 58 KA AR E A B2 MR ES
TEXRMMBHHE - Z—FHME * EP TradingAy
WA R EHTEHEREFM NP o

Revenue
WA
Year ended 31 March

BEZA=t—LFE

2024 2023 Rate of Change
e LE S —T-=F pEn RS
HK$’000 HKS'000 %

FET FET
R&E R&E 91,681 . n/a
EP Trading EP Trading 47,807 55,844 (14.4)
Total HBET 139,488 55,844 150.0%

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue from IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D
Business

Revenue derived from the IRO with CRO Services and In-house
R&D Business of the Group increased by approximately HK$22.5
million or 144.2% to HKS$38.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 from approximately HK$15.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2023.

EEENWEDH

IRO X CROF (A SR Aff 2% £ 75 Wk 25

BHE-_Z_WNFE=ZA=+—HItFE k8K
& ECROMRTE & N BRAf 38 SEFSHIROM A BV E
TEC=F-ZA=T—BULHEFENScAEE
TCEINAI225 B BB T 1442% E 381 H BB
= .

Revenue
A
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—LtEE
2024 2023 Rate of Change
—ECImE —EFo=F HEH X
HKS’000 HKS'000 %
F#T FHT
IRO with CRO IRO K& CRO 28,668 8,735 228.2
In-house R&D P 2R A 3% 9,481 6,827 389
Total st 38,149 15,562 144.2%
Gross profit and gross profit margins EFREFNZE
Garment Business REFHE

The Group's gross profit is improved to approximately HK$69.7
million for the Reporting Year as compared with approximately
HK$61.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
an increase of approximately 12.8%. The Group’s gross profit
margin decreased to approximately 14.9% for the Reporting Year
from approximately 16.2% for the year ended 31 March 2023.
Such decrease in the Group’s gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the decrease in average selling price per piece of
womenswear products for the Reporting Year.

Healthcare Products Business (HCP Business)

The Group's gross profit in this business segment increased to
approximately HK$29.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
from approximately HK$12.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2023, representing an increase of approximately 142.6%. The
increase in revenue and gross profit mainly arose as a result of
the acquisition of R&E and its subsidiary. R&E distributes popular
Japanese food products to the PRC, and gained substantial
market shares via strong brand products and extensive networks.
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A=1HIEFEXN6I SAB B THREEL69.7H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business

The Group’s gross loss decreased to approximately HK$0.08
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 from gross loss
approximately HK$6.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 98.7%. The increase in
revenue and decrease in gross loss mainly arose as result of that
the PRC specialised CRO business has being competitive and
the Group is in the process to coordinate industry resources to
improve its margins.

Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses mainly consist of sample sales
income, exchange loss and fair value gain on promissory note
due to non-controlling interests. Other income, gains and
losses increased by approximately HK$12.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to gain of HKS$11.9 million from loss of
approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The increase in other income, gains and losses of the Group
was primarily attributable to the fair value gain on promissory
note due to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$16.1
million, issued for the acquisition of the 65% equity interests in
R&E during the Reporting Year.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses have increased to
approximately HK$24.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
from approximately HK$13.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2023, representing an increase of approximately 86.9%. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in research and
development trials during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of advertising
expenses, commission expenses, logistic expenses, sample
costs and staff costs and benefits of merchandising staff. Selling
and distribution expenses increased to approximately HK$48.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 from approximately
HK$33.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
an increase of approximately 44.4%. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the overall increase in transportation cost and the
selling expenses of the Healthcare Products Business and the
Garment Business.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of legal and
professional fees, overseas and local travelling and general
administrative expenses. Administrative expenses decreased to
approximately HK$55.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
from approximately HK$63.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2023, representing a significant decrease of approximately 12.8%.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff
costs and benefits during the year.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased to approximately HKS7.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 from approximately HK$5.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in the factoring cost arisen from the
Garment Business.

Total comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company

Total comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$22.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 compared with that of approximately
HKS$45.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$23.1 million. The decrease in
the total comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company is mainly attributable to (i) the increase in profit on
healthcare products business of approximately HK$13.1 million
and (ii) the fair value gain on promissory note due to non-
controlling interests of approximately HK$16.1 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

The Company'’s basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK4.41 cents, as compared to the basic
loss per share of approximately HK9.15 cents for the year ended
31 March 2023. The significant decrease in the Company's basic
loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 was a result of
the increase in revenue generated in the Healthcare Products
Business for the year ended 31 March 2024.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (for the year ended 31 March
2023: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's operations
were generally financed through its internally generated cash
flows and borrowings from banks. The Directors believe that
in the long term, the Group’s operations will be funded by
a combination of internally generated cash flows and bank
borrowings and, if necessary, additional equity financing.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$6.9 million and HK$101.5 million,
respectively, including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$115.5 million and HK$131.5 million, respectively. The Group's
current ratio decreased from approximately 1.9 as at 31 March
2023 to approximately 1.0 as at 31 March 2024. Such decrease
was mainly due to the significant increase of current liabilities by
approximately 78.0% as compared to the balances as at 31 March
2023. They were mainly attributable to the additional research
and development cost and losses arisen from the IRO with CRO
services and In-house R&D Business and the increase in amount
due to ultimate holding company.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings (including bank borrowings due within one year and
lease liabilities) divided by total equity at the respective reporting
date. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's gearing ratio
was 0.08 and 0.03, respectively. The Group entered into two
banking facility agreements with the amount in aggregate of
up to approximately HK$19.8 million (at 31 March 2023: HK$19.8
million). The Group’s rate of unutilised banking facilities was
63.1% as at 31 March 2024. With the existing available cash and
cash equivalents, the Group has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its
funding requirements, but the Group will continue to look for
fund raising opportunities in order to further strengthen the
Group financial cash position.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies. The Group's credit
risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. In
order to minimise its credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team to perform ongoing credit evaluation
of the financial conditions of the customers including but not
limited to the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that appropriate
follow-up action(s) is/are taken to recover overdue debts and
reduce the Group's exposure to credit risk. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate expected
loss allowance is made. The Group generally grants an average
credit period of 30 to 90 days to its customers. Most of these
counterparties are either owners or sourcing agents of apparel
retail brands based in Japan and the USA. The management of
the Group considered that the credit risk on amounts due from
these customers is insignificant after considering their historical
settlement records, credit qualities and financial positions of
the counterparties. In management of the liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors and maintains levels of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
the currency of Japanese Yen (“JPY") and Renminbi (‘RMB").

EEENWED N

BEABEXRESMEAENERMERARE
(BRE—FANHNRITEREAEEE)BRIA
MERHE cBET-_NE=A=+—HE=
T _—F=—A=+—H  AEBNEEAEREX
25 A008%%0.03 - KEBEFTZMIERITELE
®eHEAHAsEMBEEBAEAT(RIE-=
F=ZA=+—H 1 198E&8BT) - HE_MF
ZA=+—H8 ' AEEMNRPHETHEERS
63.1% - BRIERBA AR EREFEY + X
SEERRNRBESRRCEESE K - A
rEEHEESIKEERS - UE—PINES
B IR e o

ERBE

AEERPNERZBEBRER - AEBZEER
BT BIREHEWE 508 M E M EWIE -
AEBEEECEZREBRH TP 2SR E
THRHEEENE - BRETRREEEER
B EEFRSREMEERERN - ABRERREE
BEREEREOBREHEREAEEZEE
R - thSh - RER RS BR 5 & R (E 5
BBz AT Bl 25 - AREIRSE T AT Bl @ #E1E
HAREMEEER - AEE-RRTHEXP
TF30E0H 2 FHEER - ZFHFHTAR
DRAARREBERETEREHEB ASRER
2o AREEERBEERY T 2 BENKG
i - EEEREMYBMRRERS  BEZEER
PREz  AEBEEEEREERDE SRR
ms  EXEEVERLERRERRSEE
MREBBRRITRIKF - LRAEEER
RHESNHAEABMARE KB 2ZE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024
2023/2024 F3;

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The share capital of the
Company only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HKS$5.0 million divided by 500,000,000 ordinary shares of HKS$0.01
each.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has acquired
51% of the issued share capital of Biotube.

References are made to announcements of the Company dated
29 November 2023 and 29 January 2024.

On 29 November 2023, EPS Innovative Medicine (Japan) Co.,
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as purchaser
and individual shareholders of Biotube as vendors, entered
into a share transfer agreement. The total consideration for the
acquisition is approximately JPY612.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$31.8 million).

On the same day, EPS Innovative Medicine (Japan) Co., Ltd,, entered
into a subscription agreement in relation to the subscription for
convertible bonds issued by Biotube at the principal amount
of approximately JPY150.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HKS7.8 million).

Following the completion of the acquisition and the subscription
(and conversion of the aforesaid convertible bonds) in January
2024, the Company indirectly holds 51% equity interest in
Biotube and it has become part of our Group.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2024,
the Group did not have any significant acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures nor had any significant
investment with a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently has no other plan for material investments
and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A subsidiary of the Company has been involved in a legal action
as a defendant for its alleged failure to provide a compensation
to the plaintiff.

The Directors are of the opinion that, based on legal advice
sought, there are valid grounds to defend against the legal claim.
The Group will also take appropriate actions to negotiate for
settlement, and the legal claim is expected to be settled in the
course of the next twelve months.

The maximum liabilities of the Group under the legal action were
in the amount of HKS$5,280,000. Save as disclosed above, the
Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 (as at 31 March 2023: HKSNil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has capital commitments of JPY50 million (equivalent
to approximately HKS$2.6 million) as at 31 March 2024 (as at 31
March 2023: JPY50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2.9
million)).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Certain trade and bills receivables, other receivables, bank and
cash balances, trade and other payables are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk. Although the Group’s revenue
and major expenses are mainly in USS, the functional currency of
the Company is HKS, as HKS is pegged to USS$, the Group does
not expect any significant movement in the USS/HKS exchange
rate. The Group has operations both in the PRC and Japan and
the Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure in relation to JPY and RMB should the
need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of each of the below reporting years, the following
assets were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group:
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—LtFE

2024 2023

—EE TE=4F

HK$’000 HKS000

FHET FET

Pledged bank deposit BEEMRITIER 9,000 9,000

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 136 full-
time employees (as at 31 March 2023: 136). The Group’s staff
costs included Directors’ emoluments, salaries, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes. For the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's total staff costs
(including Directors’” emoluments) amounted to approximately
HKS$54.3 million and HKS$55.1 million, respectively. Remuneration
is determined with reference to market terms and the
performance, qualification(s), experience, position and seniority
of individual employee. In addition to the basic salary, year-end
bonuses would be discretionarily offered to those employees
with outstanding performance, in order to retain employees
continuously contributing to the Group.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages
of the Directors and senior management of the Company
with reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload,
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.
Share options may also be granted to the Directors and senior
management under the share option scheme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group mainly carried
out its businesses in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy saving and recycling of office resources. The Group will
continue to seek better environmental practices and promote
the right environmental attitudes within the organisation. The
Group has complied with all relevant laws, rules and regulations
regarding environmental protection, health and safety, workplace
conditions and employment during the year ended 31 March
2024.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group and the Group strictly complies with the labour
laws, rules and regulations in Hong Kong and reviews regularly
the existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the
reasonable remuneration packages, the Group also offers other
employee benefits, such as medical insurance, birthday leave
to the eligible employees, etc. The Group works closely with its
customers in devising new product designs each season and
delivering knitwear products according to their requirements. The
Group’s Garment Business had maintained business relationships
with its major customers for a period ranging from 2 to 14
years. Over the years, the Directors believe that the Group has
fostered a trustworthy and reliable strategic partnership with its
customers built upon its proven track record of quality products,
industry and product know-how, market awareness, dedicated
management team and competitive pricing. The Group has also
established stable, close working and long-term relationships
with its suppliers. During the year, there was no material dispute
or disagreement with the employees, the customers and the
suppliers of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Garment Business

Despite the unstable economic environment, the Group will
continue to adopt flexible approaches in its business operation
and take effective cost control measures. The management
believes that the demand for apparel supply chain management
service will recover gradually in the second half of 2024. To this
end, the Group will strive to maintain good relationship with
its existing clients and pro-actively acquire new customers by
upgrading its existing facilities and enhancing its competitive
strengths, in order to reduce the adverse effects of social
uncertainties.

Healthcare Segment (Healthcare Products Business and
IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business)

The Group considers that the increase in the consumption level
in the PRC builds the base for the steady growth in China’s
healthcare products market. The overall healthcare products
market probably will continue its steadily increasing trend for a
long time in the future.

In addition to the In-house R&D business, in order to meet
customer needs, changes in market structure and the long-
term prospects of the healthcare and drug R&D markets, the
Group has fully prepared, integrated and launched businesses
in the healthcare segment during the reporting period, and
expanded its services scope to IRO with CRO services with the
provision of comprehensive solutions in Japan such as new
drug development planning, development promotion, and
commercialisation support including licensing and financing
support, Japan-PRC specialized CRO service and Japanese-
Chinese medical personnel exchange service.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our newly acquired subsidiary, Biotube owns pipelines under
on-going investigator initiative clinical trials projects which are
highly compatible with the development area of the Group. The
Group expect synergy effect to be created thereby. The resources
and innovative research technology controlled by Biotube are
of high quality which will further improve the development of
the Group's innovative research sector, in line with the overall
development strategy of the Group.

In addition to the above expansion, the Group is steadily
enhancing the necessary functions step by step toward our vision
which is to create the business co-creation platform satisfying a
wide range of needs and demands in the healthcare industry as
a business development partner.

The Directors will continue to review and evaluate the business
objectives and strategies and make timely decisions taking
into account the business risks and market uncertainties. The
Directors will also continue to explore opportunities to diversify
the Group’s operations.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shimada Tatsuji (“Mr. Shimada”), aged 63, was appointed
as an executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 1 November 2023. He is the Managing
Corporate Officer of EPS Holdings, Inc. ("EPS Japan”), which is
a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the Company. Mr. Shimada joined EPS Japan in October 2018
and has over 39 years of experience in pharmaceutical business.
Prior to joining EPS Japan, Mr. Shimada worked in Chugai
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a Japanese pharmaceutical company
the shares of which are listed on the Japanese (Tokyo) Stock
Exchange (ticker code: 4519), from 1984 to 2018 in which he
had been the chief executive officer of Chugai Pharma Taiwan
Ltd. and the International Marketing Manager of Chugai-Rhone-
Poulenc SA, Paris France. Mr. Shimada is a colleague of Mr.
Miyano, Mr. Maezaki and Mr. Kusaba (each as defined below) in
EPS Japan.

Mr. Shimada graduated from Waseda University in Tokyo, Japan,
majoring in B.A. Education. He also received an MBA degree from
Washington University, MO USA in 1999.

Mr. Shimada did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru (“Mr. Miyano”), aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 12 July 2022. He is
the Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, LR Authorised
Representative and the member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Miyano joined EPS Japan in January 2002 and has over 32
years of experience in the domestic pharmaceutical industry in
Japan and has extensive experience in business development
and marketing. From 2005 up to 2016, Mr. Miyano had been the
executive director of Simian Conservation Breeding & Research,
Inc. Mr. Miyano graduated from the Faculty of Agriculture of the
Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology in March 1991.
Mr. Miyano is a colleague of Mr. Shimada, Mr. Maezaki and Mr.
Kusaba (each as defined below) in EPS Japan.

Mr. Miyano did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Maezaki Masahiro (“Mr. Maezaki”), aged 54, was
appointed as an executive Director with effect from 22 August
2022 and is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He
is the Head of Center of Management Planning & Promotion
Division of EPS Japan. Mr. Maezaki joined EPS Japan in April 2022
and has over 30 years of experience in corporate banking and
management. Prior to joining EPS Japan, Mr. Maezaki had been
the Deputy General Manager of Shinbashi Branch of MUFG Bank,
Ltd., Assistant General Manager of The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi
UFJ (Malaysia) Berhad and the Manager of the Shanghai Branch
of The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. Mr. Maezaki graduated
from the Faculty of Commerce and Economics of The Kinki
University in 1992. Mr. Maezaki is a colleague of Mr. Shimada, Mr.
Miyano and Mr. Kusaba (as defined below) in EPS Japan.

Mr. Maezaki did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Miyazato Hiroki (“Mr. Miyazato”), aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director and the Chief Strategy Officer with
effect from 1 November 2023. He started his early career in
Credit Suisse (CSFB), and JP Morgan as an investment banker,
and then joined Nikko (Citigroup) Asset Management as a fund
manager where he created the cross-border arbitrage hedge
fund and China-focus pilot fund. Mr. Miyazato has built a senior
management career in Haitong Securities group as a deputy
chief executive officer, responsible for investment and overseas
business development and he also worked as the chairman of
the executive board and a chief executive officer for Haitong
Bank where he built his international practice.

Mr. Miyazato founded Sunrise Oriental Japan LLC which aims at
connecting China and Japan, as well as the rest of Asia regarding
to the cross-border corporate interactions and had even served
as the vice chairman of the OTC Business Committee of the
Securities Association of China and the vice chairman of the
Shanghai Cross-border Business Committee.

Mr. Miyazato graduated from Fudan University in Shanghai
majoring in genetics. He also received his second degree
from Tokyo University in Tokyo majoring in biophysics and
biochemistry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBEE

Mr. Miyazato did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 60, was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 November 2023 and
has been appointed as the Company Secretary, a LR Authorised
Representative and a CO Authorised Representative, all with
effect from 30 June 2021. Mr. Chiu graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University majoring in accounting. He has
over 32 years of experience in overseeing accounting, auditing,
corporate finance, merger and acquisition, taxation and company
secretarial business. He is a Hong Kong practicing CPA and
a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chiu was the founder
of CT. Chiu & Co., CPA and has also worked in a multinational
company.

Mr. Chiu did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kusaba Takuya (“Mr. Kusaba”), aged 48, was appointed
as a non-executive Director and the member of the Audit
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 November 2023.
He joined EPS Japan in March 2022 and was appointed as the
Head of Investment Management Office and the Deputy Head
of Corporate & Alliance Planning Office in October 2022, where
he is responsible for business development and alliances as
well as investment management within the group. Mr. Kusaba
joined Mitsubishi Corporation in 2000, and he has been involved
in numerous business development, business investment, and
alliances in Japan and overseas, mainly focusing in telecom, IT
services, and retail industries. When stationed in the United States
from 2010 to 2015, he served as the executive vice president of
a subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation, which offers enterprise
IT services, and he was responsible for corporate planning,
marketing, and sales. Mr. Kusaba is a colleague of Mr. Shimada,
Mr. Miyano and Mr. Maezaki in EPS Japan.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kusaba completed a Master's Degree of Engineering from
Kyoto University. Additionally, he received an MBA degree in
Finance from Hitotsubashi University.

Mr. Kusaba did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Yan Ping (“Mr. Yan”), aged 60, was appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from 1 November 2023. He is a
businessman and has extensive experience in biomedical industry
in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Yan was the chairman of
the board of directors and the general manager of 2 8 (&R /)
BRI AR AR from 2013 to 2017 and was as the chairman
of the board of directors ofz ¥ (F Bl)A R A Alduring 2018 to
2020, and since 2022 and has been the chairman of the board of
directors of L/BEFT AW EFEM AR A A since 2021. Mr. Yan
graduated from Wuxi Institute of Light Industry (4 $5 8% T 3£ E3fx)
(now known as Jiangnan University(CTF AE2)) in 1984. Mr. Yan
is the brother of Mr. Yan Hao, who indirectly owns as to 71.51%
of EPS Japan.

Mr. Yan did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (“Mr. Chan”), aged 57, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
9 July 2021 and is responsible for providing independent
judgment on the Group's strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct. He is the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of both the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. He obtained a
bachelor's degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1989 and a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of Manchester in
2003. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBEE

In the past 20 years, Mr. Chan has been the finance director,
financial controller and company secretary of several companies
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings
Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2368) since November 2002,
and an independent non-executive director of Winshine Science
Company Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 209) since June
2023 and an independent non-executive director of Gudon
Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the
GEM Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8308) since
December 2023 respectively.

He is currently also the company secretary of Pine Technology
Holdings Limited (“Pine Technology”), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1079) since July 2017 and SuperRobotics Holdings Limited,
the issued shares of which are listed on GEM Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8176) since May 2022 respectively.

He was previously an executive director of Pine Technology from
June 2017 to May 2022 and Wai Chun Bio-Technology Limited
("Wai Chun Bio Technology’), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 660),
from July 2022 to March 2023.

He was previously also an independent non-executive director
of Wai Chun Bio-Technology from November 2020 to July 2022
and an independent non-executive director of Wai Chun Group
Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1013) from March
2022 to July 2022.

Mr. Choi Koon Ming (“Mr. Choi”), aged 56, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 30 June
2021 and is responsible for providing independent judgment
on the Group's strategy, performance, resources and standard
of conduct. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Choi
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British
Columbia and has over 27 years of experience in the financing
activities of corporate and property mortgage, real estate
development and property investment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi has been the chief executive officer of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (“Sunwah Kingsway”, stock code: 188.
HK) since 2010 and an executive director of Sunwah Kingsway
since 2000. Mr. Choi has also been the non-executive director
of China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80.HK) since
February 2022.

Save as the aforesaid, during the last three years, Mr. Choi was
a director of Sunwah International Limited, the shares of which
were listed on Toronto Stock Exchange up until 14 June 2021 at
which point it was privatized.

Mr. Saito Hironobu (“Mr. Saito”), aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 1 November 2023. He has been working in Daiichi
Sankyo Company, Limited (“Daiichi Sankyo”), a Japanese
pharmaceutical company the shares of which are listed on the
Japanese (Tokyo) Stock Exchange (ticker code: 4586), for almost
34 years. He moved to the clinical strategic team and became
the team leader of anti-hypertensive agents named Olmesartan
in Japan from 1997 to 2005 and became a senior vice director to
register Olmesartan in the rest of world (Asia, South and Central
America and Saudi Arabia etc.). From 2012, he has been the vice
president of the new drug regulatory affairs department in Japan
and the co-chairman of the Global Regulatory Affairs Committee.
He has been the vice president of oncology clinical development
in Japan from April 2016. From April 2023, he has been the
Corporate Advisor of Daiichi Sankyo.

Mr. Saito has been the president of SAITO Concierge Co., Ltd
from September 2023. Mr. Saito received his Ph.D. from Chiba
University in Japan. He is also the vice chairperson of the ICH
Steering Committee of the Japan Pharmaceutical Manufacturers
Association (JPMA).

Mr. Saito did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

EEREREEECERFE

EREE T TFEECHEEESRER
BRA T(f%ﬁﬁﬁaj PR AR FL5% : 188.HK) Y

TBRENE —_ZETFEETHEEETNVAN
TEF - EARENMEB T _F - FEELT
BB E B R DA (D LR : 80.HK)EVZE
HITES °

BrEmEI  EBE=ZFh  BELLEDET

%ﬁﬁill REMERRFNES - ERHRZ M
*RGEM  BEE-T-—FA+HW
& RIEWAAEIL °

EEREZEEE(EELE]D 625 B2
—F+—HA—BREZERBILIFNITES -

1% #EDaiichi Sankyo Company, Limited ([ Daiichi
Sankyo | ° 7% MAARERT - ARHRA

K(RR)BER ST T (RZERL : 4586))
Bim34F - R—NWNW+EFZ2 -_ZTZRHFHMRA -

A NERRERBE EEX - /S B ARS8 (% B
EEKEEA IW%%%ViBEﬁM/\1ﬁi@

(e - FEM - PEMARD MRS

AfHEREIEE BT ——F - WEE
EI$%E§£§“*$%% MARENEHEEEHE
BgMATFE - AT FOARE - RIEET
BREREERFAERAEYE BT _=F

AR » H¥EEDaiichi SankyoRy 1 EAR ©

BE-_ZE-_=F A BEELEETSATO

Concierge Co., LtdEVAREY - TBWERSTAN B AT

HERENBIELEN - FIHAHARETER
Z(PMA) ICHIEBEZ B EMEIEE -

BRAENBE=-FUABEHEHESsNEBIE
QI\EH*"‘%W%LWZEHEﬂﬁtﬁiﬂ%’g"
AEEHEMERR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024
2023/2024 F3;

33



34

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBEE

Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko (“Mr. Taniguchi”), aged 64, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with
effect from 1 April 2024. He has over 40 years' experience in
international and global businesses, 30 years in information
technology and over 10 years in healthcare industry. Mr.
Taniguchi currently engaged with Nagoya University for
development of “Super Degree Programs” and was President &
CEO of Hitachi Healthcare Americas and the Special Appointive
Officer of President’s Office of Fujifilm Healthcare. Mr. Taniguchi
obtained a bachelor's degree in Nagoya University of Japan in
1982.

Mr. Taniguchi did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Wing Kai (FR 7k BX), aged 55, joined the Group in
November 2015, current as a director and the chief executive
officer of the Group’s garment business. He was responsible for
the operation and management of the Group’s garment business
since he joined the Group. Mr. Chan Wing Kai completed his
secondary education in Hong Kong in 1987. He obtained a
Level 1 certificate of the Japanese Language Proficiency Test
in February 1990. He completed a course entitled “Professional
certificate in business management” co-organised by Li Ka Shing
Institute of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open
University of Hong Kong and ET Business College in November
2008. Mr. Chan Wing Kai has more than 31 years of sales and
merchandising experience in the apparel industry. Prior to joining
the Group, he had been employed by South Overseas Fashion
Limited from March 1990 to March 1995 and he was dispatched
to Yamaichi Nitto Company Limited in Japan for on-the-job
training from March 1993 to February 1994. He then worked for
a knitwear manufacturing company, a subsidiary of South Asia
Textiles (Holdings) Limited from 1995 to 2000.

In the last three years, Mr. Chan Wing Kai served as an executive
director of the Company and resigned in June 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises that the transparency and accountability
are important to a listed company. As such, the Company is
committed to establishing and maintaining good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Directors believe
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business growth
and healthy corporate culture in return for the benefits of the
Company'’s stakeholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Directors will continue to
review its corporate governance practices in order to enhance its
corporate governance standard, to comply with the increasingly
tightened regulatory requirements from time to time, and to
meet the rising expectation of the shareholders and other
stakeholders of the Company.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with all the
code provisions of the CG Code save as the deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the period from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024, where Mr. Okoso Satoshi (“Mr. Okoso”),
a former executive director of the Company, and following the
resignation of Mr. Okoso, Mr. Shimada, an executive Director,
took up the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company during the periods from 1
April 2023 to 31 October 2023 and from 1 November 2023 to 31
March 2024 respectively. They have been managing the Group’s
business and supervising the overall operations of the Group
in the respective periods. The Directors consider that vesting
the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company in the same individual is beneficial to the
management and the business developments of the Group and
will provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Group. The
Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors. Having been made
specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct concerning securities transactions by the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

Currently, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shimada Tatsuji (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru (Managing Director)

Mr. Maezaki Masahiro

Mr. Miyazato Hiroki

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kusaba Takuya
Mr. Yan Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho
Mr. Choi Koon Ming
Mr. Saito Hironobu

Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko
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The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 28 to 34 of this annual report.

Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko, who was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 April 2024, obtained
legal advice on 27 March 2024 from a qualified firm of solicitors
as referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules. He has confirmed
he understood his obligations as a Director.

There was no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors save as disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Regular Board meetings will be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

GENERAL MEETINGS

All Directors attended both the annual general meeting (AGM)
and extraordinary general meeting (EGM) of the Company on 26
September 2023 except Mr. Maezaki Masahiro and Mr. Gao Feng
were unable to attend the AGM and EGM due to other work
commitments.
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TEERME

BOARD MEETINGS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, sixteen Board meetings were
held and the attendance records of each Director at the Board
meetings held for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in

the table below:

EXgEa
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Board meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HESENREEEEY
Name of directors EEHE ERXBEHERE
Mr. Shimada Tatsuji SHEZSLAE 7/7
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE==F+—H—REZF)
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =HELEE 13/13
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro AT IR E 5L 58 A 13/13
Mr. Miyazato Hiroki Eiﬁy@f‘ﬁi 7/7
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE_=Ft+—HA—BEZEF)
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak HEELEE 7/7
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE_=F+—H—RAEZF)
Mr. Kusaba Takuya ﬁ%ﬂiﬁj?ﬁi 7/7
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE==F+—HA—HEZF)
Mr. Yan Ping BT 7/7
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE_=F+—HA—RAEZ%T)
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PREZF AL 16/16
Mr. Choi Koon Ming AL A 16/16
Mr. Saito Hironobu = %?%%E 9/9
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE==F+—HA—HEZF)
Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko AARERE 0/0
(appointed on 1 April 2024) (RZZE_NFMA—REZET)
Mr. Okoso Satoshi j(tl:H/ufEéE 6/6
(resigned on 1 November 2023) (RZB-_=F+—AF—B&T)
Mr. Gao Feng (ST 3 e 2/6
(resigned on 1 November 2023) (R—BE-_=F+—F—B&T)
Mr. Xia Xiangming BERALE 6/8
(resigned on 1 November 2023) (RZEBE-_=F+—HF—HEHTL)
Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo RMREREE 11/12
(resigned on 20 March 2024) (RZZE-_WF=HA =+ H#E)
Mr. Taguchi Junichi H EI/; §E$ 16/16

(resigned on 1 April 2024)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RN EEBR LA



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. All the
Directors shall make decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board focuses on (i) formulating the Group's
overall strategies; (i) authorising the development plans and
budgets; (iii) monitoring financial and operating performance;
(iv) reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system; and (v) setting the Group's values and standards. The
day-to-day management, administration and operations of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs
of the Group.

During the Reporting Year, the Company had a minimum of
three independent non-executive Directors and at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules that the number
of independent non-executive Directors must represent at
least one-third of the Board members and at least one of
the independent non-executive Directors had appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee’) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee’) of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
on the liabilities of the Directors of the Group in respect of any
legal actions taken against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as (i) developing and reviewing the Company'’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional developments of the Directors and
senior management of the Company, and (ii) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, and developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct of the Directors,
etc.
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The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings is
given to all Directors and they can include matters for discussion
in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda accompanying Board
documents and related materials are deliverable to all Directors
at least 3 days before the date of every Board meeting in order to
allow sufficient time for the Directors to review the documents.
Draft minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all
Directors for their perusal and comments prior to confirmation
of the minutes. The company secretary of the Company is
responsible for keeping the minutes of all meetings of the Board
and the Company’'s committees. Every Board member has full
access to the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Group with a view to ensure that all required procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are
also entitled to have full access to Board documents and related
materials so that they are able to make an informed decision and
to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the reporting period, the
Group has complied with the CG Code for the period from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024, where Mr. Okoso, a former executive
director of the Company, and following the resignation of Mr.
Okoso, Mr. Shimada, an executive Director, took up the roles of
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company during the periods from 1 April 2023 to 31 October
2023 and from 1 November 2023 to 31 March 2024 respectively.
They have been managing the Group's business and supervising
the overall operations of the Group in the respective periods.
The Directors consider that vesting the roles of the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company in Mr.
Okoso or Mr. Shimada is beneficial to the management and the
business developments of the Group and will provide a strong
and consistent leadership to the Group. The Board will continue
to review and consider splitting the roles of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”)
provide that subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of
Directors as from time to time prescribed by the Listing Rules, at
each annual general meeting (“AGM"), one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at AGM of the
Company by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are initially appointed for a specific term of two years
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles. Each independent non-executive Director is
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is
any change that may affect his independence and must provide
an annual confirmation of his independence to the Company.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Every newly appointed Director will receive a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his appointment to ensure an appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and his full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Directors are
encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous professional
trainings at the Company’s expenses to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
will be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics will be
provided to Directors where appropriate. A record of the training
received by the respective Directors should be maintained
and updated by the company secretary of the Company. All
the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional developments and are committed to participating
any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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During the Reporting Year, all the Directors namely Mr. Shimada
Tatsuji, Mr. Miyano Tsumoru, Mr. Maezaki Masahiro, Mr. Miyazato
Hiroki and Mr. Chiu Chun Tak, Mr. Kusaba Takuya, Mr. Yan Ping,
Mr. Taguchi Junichi, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, Mr. Choi Koon Ming,
Mr. Saito Hironobu, Mr. Okoso Satoshi, Mr. Gao Feng, Mr. Xia
Xiangming and Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo, had participated in
appropriate continuous professional development training
sessions and relevant training records have been maintained by
the Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 23 January 2017, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee, respectively, are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to (i) assist the Board in reviewing the Company’s
financial information; (i) oversee the Group's financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; (iii) review
and monitor the effectiveness of the scope of audit; and (iv)
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Choi Koon Ming and Mr. Kusaba Takuya, being
two independent non-executive Directors and a non-executive
Director respectively. No member of the Audit Committee is
a member of the former or existing independent auditor of
the Company in the last two years. The Audit Committee has
reviewed this annual report, including the audited consolidated
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least two times for a financial year. Three meetings
were held by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 March
2024 to (i) review and discuss the audited annual results and
the unaudited interim financial results of the Group; (ii) discuss
and consider the issues arising from the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems; (iii) review and
recommend the appointment of external auditors and relevant
scope of works; (iv) review and consider continuing connected
transactions; and (v) review and consider the enforcement of the
Company’s controlling shareholders” undertaking in relation to
the deed of non-competition executed in favour of the Company.
The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out as follows:
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Board meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the HEEEEERRE

Audit Committee EREEERENE BEREERHY

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho REZKE 3/3

Mr. Choi Koon Ming AL E 3/3

Mr. Kusaba Takuya BighthitE /1
(appointed on 1 November 2023) (RZZE_=F+—H—BEZF)

Mr. Xia Xiangming ERALE 2/2

(resigned on 1 November 2023)

Amongst three meetings held by the Audit Committee, one
of which was meeting with the external auditors without the
presence of executive Directors to discuss issues relating to
the audit and financial reporting matters for the year ended 31
March 2024.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 to 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Choi Koon Ming (the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Miyano Tsumoru and Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, being
an independent non-executive Director, an executive Director
and an independent non-executive Director respectively.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
(i) assess performance of executive Directors and approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts; (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of the Group; (iii) review other performance-based
remuneration; and (iv) ensure none of the Directors or any of his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) determine his own
remuneration.

Five meetings were held by the Remuneration Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2024. In the meeting, the Remuneration
Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.
No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by
the Remuneration Committee during the year. The attendance
record of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set
out as follows:
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Meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the HESBRE

Remuneration Committee FMEEERENRR CEREERE

Mr. Choi Koon Ming AL A 5/5

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru EHRLE 1/1
(appointed on 22 March 2024) (RZZE-_MF=A-+HEZEE)

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PREZRITAE 5/5

Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo RMEREE 4/4

(resigned on 20 March 2024)

Details of emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with terms of
reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination
Committee consisted of three members, namely Mr. Taguchi
Junichi (the Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Miyano
Tsumoru and Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, being an independent non-
executive Director, an executive Director and an independent
non-executive Director respectively. Following the resignation of
Mr. Taguchi Junichi with effect from 1 April 2024, Mr. Taniguchi
Yasuhiko has been appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee currently consists of
three members, namely Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko (the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Miyano Tsumoru and Mr. Chan
Cheuk Ho, being an independent non-executive Director, an
executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
respectively.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least
annually; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (iii) assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors.

Two meetings was held by the Nomination Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2024. In the meetings, the Nomination
Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, (i)
the existing structure, size and composition of the Board to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the Group’s business and is in compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules; (i) the recommendation to
the Board on re-election of retiring Directors at the forthcoming
AGM; and (iii) the assessment of the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. The attendance records of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:
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Meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the BRHERE

Nomination Committee REZEEREHE SEREERY

Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko KRARELEE 0/0
(appointed on 1 April 2024) (RZZE-HFMA—BEZE)

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =HELEE 2/2

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PRESITAE 2/2

Mr. Taguchi Junichi HAE—fE 2/2

(resigned on 1 April 2024)

(R—ZE-FmA—HEHE)
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The Directors aim to present a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position
and prospects with timely publication of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. As at 31 March 2024, the
Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that might cast significant doubts upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The responsibility
of the external auditor is to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared by the Directors and to report its opinion to
the Shareholders. A statement by the external auditor, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants (“Deloitte”),
about their reporting responsibility is set out in the independent
auditor’s report from pages 124 to 131 of this annual report.

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the
Group's internal control and risk management systems as
well as monitoring its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Directors recognise the need for risk management and internal
control in the Group’s strategic and operational planning, day-
to-day management and decision making process and are
committed to manage and minimise the risks that may impact
on the continued efficiency and effectiveness of the Group's
operations or prevent the Group from achieving its business
objectives. The Board with the assistance of the Audit Committee
annually reviews the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems.
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The Group currently has no internal audit function. The Directors
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group engaged an
independent external consulting firm as the Group's internal
control adviser (the “Internal Control Adviser”) to undertake
a review and an assessment of the Group’s internal control
environment and operating cycles in the aspects of (i) policies
and procedures on ethics and combating fraud and corruption;
(ii) financial closure and reporting process; and (iii) cash and
treasury. The review process involved system documentations,
testing, interviews and assessment of the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Subsequently,
improvements in internal control and risk management
measures, as recommended by the Internal Control Adviser, to
enhance the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group and to mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by
the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of the
Internal Control Adviser, as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
enforcement of the controlling shareholders’ undertakings in
relation to the deed of non-competition executed in favour of
the Company. Details of which were set out in the prospectus (the
"Prospectus”) of the Company dated 16 May 2017. The Board
confirmed that there are no other matters in relation to the
aforesaid undertakings which should be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the external auditors generally
depends on the scope and volume of the external auditors’ work
performed. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees paid or
payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect of
the statutory audit services for the Group are as follows:

BB B &=

SR % BEM AT YR 2 B R & B — ARAR SN AR X
BFETTZ RSB R TEEME - BE_F
“HE=ZA=T—RHLFE - REAEEELE
BRZIRG M N RN AR BN EREED < B
BT :

Fees paid / payable

B ENER

HKS'000

Services rendered Frifit 2 R %% FET
Statutory audit services EEBEZRE 2,000
Total st 2,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak was appointed as the company secretary
of the Group (the “Company Secretary”’) on 30 June 2021.
The biographical details of Mr. Chiu are disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. For the year ended 31 March
2024, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours
of professional training to update his skills and knowledge in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy’) on 28 December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity of
the Board. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together
with the measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those
objectives are disclosed below:
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

In determining the composition of the Board, the Company will
consider from a number of aspects in terms of, among other
things, gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, candidates will be considered against objective
criteria and having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates as Board members will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, expertise or
professional experience. The Board intends to maintain at least
one female Director in the Board going forward. The ultimate
decision will be based on merits and contributions which the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose annually, in the
corporate governance report, on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives (including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, expertise, or professional
experience), and monitor the implementation of this policy.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revision that may be required and
recommend any such revision(s) to the Board for consideration
and approval.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity of the Board and considered that the Company
has achieved the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity
Policy in terms of age, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The
Nomination Committee has also reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and considered
them satisfactory.
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Currently, the Board consists of male members. The Nomination
Committee will continue to monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving those
measurable objectives and will review the Board Diversity Policy
on a regular basis to ensure its continuing effectiveness.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. The Company plans
to appoint at least one female Director by the end of December
2024.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) initially on 28 December 2018 and amended on 11
December 2019. A summary of the Nomination Policy, together
with the selection criteria and the nomination procedures made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed below:

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy provides the key selection criteria and
general principles of the Nomination Committee in making any
recommendation on the appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors. It aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business.

Selection criteria

When making recommendation(s) regarding the appointment
of any proposed candidate(s) for directorships to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board, the
Nomination Committee shall consider a number of criteria
including but not limited to the followings:

(a) Reputation for integrity;

(b) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the apparel
industry and other relevant sectors;

() Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Group's business;
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(d) Potential contributions he/she will bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

(e) The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Group's success;

(f) Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of
an independent non-executive Director; and

(@) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles and other applicable
rules and regulations. The progress made towards achieving the
objectives set out in the Nomination Policy will be disclosed
periodically in the corporate governance report of the Company.

Nomination procedures

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

(@) The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene
a meeting, and invite nomination of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration;

(b) In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and
make recommendations for the Board's consideration and
approval;

() In the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for
re-election at a general meeting;
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(d) The section headed “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose
a Director” in this corporate governance report sets forth the
procedures for Shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a Director; and

(e) The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, and the ultimate responsibility for
selection and appointment of Directors is at the discretion
of the Board.

Review of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy has been approved by the Board. Any
subsequent amendment of the Nomination Policy shall be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board to ensure that it remains relevant to the Group's needs
and reflects both current regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practices.

MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS
FROM DIRECTORS

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the
following mechanism is established by the Board:

1. Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall
provide a written annual confirmation of independence to
the Company on their compliance with the independence
requirements as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee shall assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors upon appointment
and annually to ensure they can continually exercise
independent judgement.

2. Composition of Board

Currently, over one-third of the Board members are
independent non-executive Directors, which meets the
requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-third of
the Board are independent non-executive Directors.
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Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board and Board
committee meetings will be given to all Directors, and all
Directors are invited to include any matters for discussion
in the agenda. By at least 3 days in advance of every
regular Board and Board committee Meeting, Directors
are provided with the meeting agenda and the relevant
board papers containing complete, adequate and timely
information to enable full deliberation on the issues to be
considered at the respective meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be considered
at the meetings and, where appropriate, they are required
to abstain from voting on any Board resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all
regular meetings of the Board and Board committees on
which they serve. They should also attend general meetings
of the Company to acquire understanding of the views of
the Shareholders.

Remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committees
and no equity-based or incentive based compensation
program is granted to independent non-executive Directors
as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence.
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5. Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board. Such
program would familiarise the newly appointed Director
with the nature of the business, the corporation’s strategy,
the internal control and corporate governance practices
and policies, and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Subsequent information packages are regularly provided to
the Directors to keep them abreast of their responsibilities
and infuse them with new knowledge relevant to the
Group's current business and operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from
the Company Secretary as well as from independent
professional advisers at the expense of the Company.

6. Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an
open and candid manner. The chairman also encourages
questions and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their comments
and concerns are closely followed up by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the chairman schedules
a meeting annually with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to discuss
the affairs of the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that
record not only the decision reached but any concerns
raised or dissenting views expressed by Directors. Draft
versions of the minutes are circulated to all Directors for
their comment and confirmation before it is finalised
for records. Minutes of all Board and Board committee
meetings are available for Directors’ inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms
have been reviewed by the Board on an annual basis and
the Board believe these measures would allow Directors to
contribute effectively and independent views and input are
available to the Board and Board committees.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 28 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to set out the
general principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the recommendation, declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the Shareholders.
The Board shall take into account, inter alia, the followings:

(@) The Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth

as well as its shareholder value;

(b) The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio;

(c) The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and
all applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out
below;

(d) The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

the financial results of the Group;

the cash flow situation and possible effects on
liquidity and financial positions of the Group;

the business conditions and strategies;

the future operations and earnings;

the capital requirements and future expansion needs;
the interests of Shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.
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(e) Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period as follows:

an interim dividend;
a final dividend:;
a special dividend; and

any distribution of net profits that the Board may
deem appropriate.

(f)  Any final dividend for a financial year will subject to
Shareholders” approval provided that no dividend shall be
declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board;

() The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board may deems
appropriate; and

(h) Any dividend or bonuses unclaimed after a period of six
years from the date of declaration shall be forfeited and
shall revert to the Company in accordance with the Articles.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived
or agreed to waive any dividends during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and
rights, separate resolutions can be proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting.
All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meeting will be
voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting
results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company after the relevant Shareholders’ meeting. An AGM
shall be held each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM
are subject to the Articles (as amended from time to time), and
the applicable legislations and regulations, in particular the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(@) Any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)") carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, shall at all times have the
right, by a written requisition (the “Requisition”) sent
to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong as set out in the manner below, for the attention
of the Board and/or the Company Secretary to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition;

(b) The Eligible Shareholder(s) who wish(es) to convene an
EGM must deposit the Requisition with which stating
the purposes of the meeting, signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business at
Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man Lok Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong;

() The Requisition must state clearly the name(s) of
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/its
shareholding(s), the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the
details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the
EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement submitted by Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
Shareholders;
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The Requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the Requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all
the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the Requisition has
been verified but not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly,
an EGM will not be convened as requested; and

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
Requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) may convene a meeting
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned should be at least 14 clear days' notice in writing and
not less than 10 clear business days.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51D of the Listing Rules, the Company sets
out below the procedures to provide the Shareholders with
detailed procedures by which they can follow for nominating a
person for election as the Director(s):

(a)

According to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other
than a retiring Director at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless (i) a
written notice signed by the Shareholder(s) other than a
proposed person (the “Proposed Candidate”) who is/are
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting stating
his/her intention to propose the Proposed Candidate for
election as a Director; and (ii) a written notice signed by
the Proposed Candidate stating his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director shall be validly served to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company;
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The period for lodgement of such notices required under
the aforesaid Article will commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least seven days;

In order to allow the Company to inform the Shareholders
of the proposal and to enable the Shareholders to make an
informed decision on their election at a general meeting,
the written notice must state the full name of the Proposed
Candidate and include his/her biographical details as
required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and the
Proposed Candidate’s written consent to the publication of
his/her personal data; and

Upon receipt of the valid and verified written notices from
the Shareholder(s) to propose the Proposed Candidate
at the general meeting, the Company will then publish
an announcement in accordance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules or issue a supplementary circular.
The particulars of the Proposed Candidate will be included
in the announcement or supplementary circular of the
Company.

RIGHT OF RAISING ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment of
dividend to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong
(details of which are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report).

All any other enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or by
e-mail to info@epshk.hk for the attention of the Board and/or the
Company Secretary.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their enquiries together with
their detailed contact information for the prompt response from
the Company if it deems appropriate.
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EREBRE

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETING

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meeting under the Companies Act.
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may by means of the Requisition convening
an EGM following the procedures set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders and investors.
These include the AGM, the annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements, circulars and the Company's website at
www.epshk.hk.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
through discussions amongst Board members during board
meetings. The Company has reviewed communication activities
and engagement with Shareholders conducted during the year
and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy which allowed
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There was no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted a Whistleblowing Policy on 22 July 2022. It
provides employees and the relevant third parties who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) with
guidance and reporting channels on reporting any suspected
improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the designated person. Whistleblowers can report
to the email account (jchiu@epshk.hk). All reported matters
will be investigated independently and, in the meantime, all
information received from a whistleblower and its identity will
be kept confidential. The Board and the Audit Committee will
regularly review the Whistleblowing Policy and mechanism to
improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy on 22
July 2022. It outlines guidelines and the minimum standards of
conducts, all applicable laws and regulations in relation to the
anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees
to resist fraud, to help the Group defend against corrupt
practices and to report any reasonably suspected case of fraud
and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management or
through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would not
tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf
of the Group, and in its business dealing with third parties. The
Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure its
effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms
of fraud and corruption.
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CORPORATEPURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company and considers that the Company’s corporate culture
is aligned. The Group is committed to investing in the apparel
and healthcare industry, creating value for consumers, and to
delivering attractive and sustainable returns to the Shareholders.
Despite the ever-changing operating environment, the Group
places strong emphasis on workplace safety, employee relations
and the efficient use of materials, energy and resources,
promoting a culture of ethical conduct and integrity. A healthy
corporate culture is important to good corporate governance
which is crucial for achieving sustainable long-term success of
the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of
corporate development’s impact on the environment and
society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and
reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance of the
Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular review of
the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered, among others,
(i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and experience,
training programmes and budget of those relating to Group's
ESG performance and reporting; (i) the changes, since the last
annual review, in the nature and extent of significant ESG risks
(if any); and (iii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of ESG risks. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 63 to 101 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Group (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report
(the “ESG Report’), prepared by EPS Creative Health Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) to summaries the Group's ESG key
issues, initiatives, and the sustainability performance of our
principal business for the year ended 31 March 2024. The ESG
Report is prepared in response to stakeholders' expectations and
concerns about the sustainable development of the Group.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing corporate governance practices across the Group,
and takes into account ESG-related risks in decision making
and maintaining effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Executive Directors are responsible for
formulating ESG management policies, strategies, goals, and
annual reporting and promoting related implementation. They
also identify, evaluate, review, and manage major ESG issues,
risks and opportunities while the management from different
business units are responsible for organizing, promoting, and
implementing various ESG related tasks under the Group's ESG
management policies and strategies. The Board with an aim to
ensure that the Group's operations comply with the principle
of sustainability and to look after the Group's daily operations
and risk management matters in relation to the Group’s ESG-
related risks and deals with sustainability issues by regular
communication with senior management from key business
divisions, monitoring the Group's daily operations, reviewing
feedbacks from stakeholders and updating internal policies
whenever necessary. The material issues and tasks regarding
the ESG-related risks of the Group will be reported to the Board
regularly in order to review and re-formulate the polices and
plans for achievement of goals and targets.
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RIR  HERERBKRE

The Group has set short-term and long-term sustainable
development vision and goals to achieve ongoing emission
reduction according to governmental requirements. Relevant
emission reduction targets and corresponding strategies are
established and sustainable development factors have been
incorporated into the Group’s strategic planning, business
model and other decision-making processes. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the effectiveness of management
approach, including reviewing the Group's ESG performance and
adjusting corresponding action plans.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to becoming an enterprise with high
level of social responsibility and understands the importance
of sustainable development of its business and community.
The Group pursues rewarding shareholders with better value,
provision of high-quality products and services to customers and
provision of adequate and competitive benefits to employees.
The Group takes the sustainable development of its business
as its long-term development goal, tries its best to reduce
the negative impact on the environment in its business, and
integrates climate related issues and ESG elements into its long-
term business strategic planning.

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report covers our commitments, practices, and
performance in various ESG aspects for the period starting
from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).
The reporting scope of the ESG Report focuses on the primary
businesses including: apparel supply chain management
services, sale of Japanese health food, and provision of
innovative research organization ("IRO") and specialized contract
research organization (“CRO") services and in-house research
and development ("R&D”") business in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region ("Hong Kong"), the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") and Japan.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLE

The ESG Report has been presented into two subject areas,
namely environmental and social. Each subject area has various
aspects to disclose the relevant policies, key performance
indicators ("KPIs") and the status of compliance with relevant
laws and regulations as addressed by the ESG Reporting Guide.
The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of the
“mandatory disclosure requirements” and “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. Certain KPIs which
is considered as material by the Group during the Reporting
Period are disclosed in the ESG Report. The Group will continue
to optimise and improve the disclosure of KPIs.

During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency by:
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The Group’s Application
rEENER

Reporting Principles Interpretation

HERA B

Materiality The report should disclose significant
impacts on the environment and society,
or aspects that materially affect how the
stakeholders assess the Company and
make decisions.

i ZHMEARBHRRENLENEAY

Quantitative

g1t
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The KPIs disclosed in the report shall
be calculable and comparable where
applicable.
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The Group conducted questionnaires to
understand its stakeholders’ expectations.
Based on the results of the questionnaires,
the Group identified and reported the
Group’s material sustainability issues.
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Under feasible situation, the Group recorded,
calculated and disclosed quantitative
information and conducted comparisons
with past performance if applicable.
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Reporting Principles Interpretation The Group’s Application
HwEFA B= rEEWER
Balance The issuer should objectively and The Group followed the principles of
truthfully report its current year ESG  accuracy, objectivity, and fairness to
performance. report its achievements and challenges in
sustainable development.
¥ BOTARETE HEEMBREEARFE IEEBEREEREE FTHEUENQEMHR

AYESGRIE o

Consistency

performance.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group maintained the
same ESG management structure and process as the last
reporting period (from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, “Last
Reporting Period”). The Group fully understands that ESG
policies and practices may change over time to reflect the
changes in business operations, structures, technologies, laws
and regulations, and the environment. The Group thus continues
to invest substantial resources to monitor ESG issues, policies
and practices and performance on an ongoing basis. In order to
contribute to the sustainable development on the environment
and society, whilst maximizing the benefits to our employees
and the stakeholders, the Group has continued to exercises due
responsibility in maintaining the highest level of ethical standards
when conducting its business and upholds strict compliance
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations in all ESG matters.
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The ESG Report should be prepared
in a consistent manner, its KPIs can be
compared to understand corporate
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The Group used its best endeavours to
ensure consistency in preparing the ESG
Report and manages its ESG data for future
comparison.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Board relies on comments and opinion from the
stakeholders to help the Group to better understand the risks
and opportunities in different aspects. The Board believes that
understanding the views of the Group's stakeholders lay a
solid foundation for the long-term growth and success of the
Group. The Board values opinions on the road to sustainable
development and seeks to create value for its stakeholders,
internally and externally, and the communities in which it
operates.

The Board identified the Group's employees, customers,
investors and shareholders, suppliers and business partners
and community at large as its key stakeholder groups. In daily
business activities, the Board communicates with different
stakeholders through multiple channels as below:
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Stakeholders Concerns Communication Mechanisms
BHE BERE BERE
Employees - Providing safe and suitable working - Email

environment for staff
- Career development
- Rights and interests of employees
- Remuneration and welfare

- Staff performance evaluation
- Staff recreational activities
- Staff training
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Customers - Product and service quality - Customer service hotline
- Complying with applicable laws and being - Email
responsible for product and service liability - Company website
= Respecting customer privacy and information
security
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Stakeholders Concerns Communication Mechanisms
HhE AEHEE BBERE
Investors and - Corporate governance - Email

Shareholders -

KREERBR -

Suppliers and -
Business Partners
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Community =
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Financial performance

Information disclosure

Protection of investors’ and shareholders’
interests

Improving operational efficiency to generate
stable returns in the long run

NP

g
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Complying with applicable laws and eradicating
corruption behaviour

Maintaining sound cooperation relationship for
mutual growth

Formulating stringent procurement system and
controlling risks
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Community development support

Enhancing the environmental protection
consciousness of staff and encouraging them
to make commitment to the society
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Annual general meetings
Company website

Reports, announcements and
other publications
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STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Board values and pays active attention to the expectations
and demands of the stakeholders for the ESG performance of
the Group. The Board welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on the
Group's ESG approach and performance. Suggestions can be sent
to the Board via the following:

Address: Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man Lok
Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
+852 2334 2088

info@epshk.hk

Phone number:
Email:

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Company undertook its annual materiality assessment exercise.
The objective of materiality assessment is to identify ESG topics
that are material and relevant to the Group's operation.

Through regular communications with stakeholders and
reviewing of the information collected, the Group has identified
the following ESG material areas and aspects indicated in the
following table:
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Subject Areas

FTEHR

Subject Aspects
FEEHE

Environmental
B

Al.
Al.

Emissions

e

A2.
A2.

Use of Resources

BREM

A3.
A3.

Environment and Natural Resources

RIENBREIR

A4.
A4.

Climate Change
FURSHL,

Social
ran=y

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRESETIER

B1
B1

. Employment

ERE

B2.
B2.

Health and Safety
EEMZ 2

B3.
B3.

Development and Training

TR MIE

B4.
B4.

Labour Standards
BEnZAE

Operating Practices
2EED

BS.
BS.

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

B6.
B6.

Product Responsibility
EmEE

B7

. Anti-corruption
B7.

RES

Community

o)

BS.
BS.

Community Investment

HERIE

The above ESG material areas and aspects have continued to be
strictly managed and monitored through the Group’s established
management structure, process, policies and guidelines as

described in this ESG Report.
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THE GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
AREAS AND ASPECTS AND THEIR PERFORMANCE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in the garment business,
health products business and IRO, CRO services and in-house
R&D business which headquartered in Hong Kong. The Group
provides one-stop apparel supply chain management solutions
for its customers ranging from fashion trend analysis, product
design and development, sourcing and procurement of materials,
production management, quality control and logistics services.
All of the knitwear products were produced by the third-party
manufacturers engaged by the Group. As such, the relevant
environmental laws and regulations are not applicable to the
Group itself. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Group
required its suppliers to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to not only environmental but also labor,
social and safety. The Group also implemented environmental
protection policies in order to reduce the possible pollution
resulted from its business activities on the environment. These
policies including but not limited to the policies on reducing
carbon dioxide ("CO,") emission and water consumption, waste
management and other eco-friendly measurements in the
Group's business operations. The Group implemented these
policies through (i) reminding staff to switch the light on only
when it is needed and turn off when staff are out of office; (i)
reminding staff to set the temperature of air-conditioner to an
energy-efficient level; (iii) emphasising on the use of recycle
paper when printing internal documents and double-sided
printing for external documents; (iv) reminding staff and relevant
person-in-charge to process daily waste properly and to treasure
water resources and avoid wasting; (v) reminding staff to turn
off water taps after use; and (vi) endeavouring to promote water
conservation in the offices which resulted a limited amount of
water consumption during the Reporting Period. The Group
continues to review the environmental impact of its operations
and assess whether its environmental protection policies are in
compliance in all material respects with applicable environmental
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. During
the Reporting Period, the Group’s business operations are wholly
office operations, and thus, the key environmental impacts from
the Group's operations mainly related to (i) energy; (ii) paper
consumption; and (iii) local and overseas business travels. As
such, the environmental impact from the Group's operation
is minimal compared to that of many other industries. During

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE

FEENRENTEERRERIRAER
2]

A. REHEENER

AEBER -—RREREER - RREREBIA
KBEBIRO ~ CROMAEBIE XL - AIMRNE
B AEBEARTPRH A RRHERERE
RN R > BRERBENT - Em&RET KA
% MRERRRE AEEE - ;mEEeR
YIRIRTS - FTAStEmII A REREANE=
HEEREE - At - MEARNRTARARIL
TNERARARBARY - @% LR ETERAR
AEE - AEBDEREMFREEETERE
BT - @M FENHBERER - A&
B EMmRERBE - AR HEB A
HORESHR - BEBRERENRINED
aibix([co,l) BEMFIKFER - BEEYEIRIA
RARBEEGEETNEMRFRER - AEE
BBA T AETELRR : ()VREETRAE
FERARE  VYEBIHMANAERETH
& (D1eEE B TS RHEERE R E S EIFEK
F (iR E R BERITEIARMXM - MEHT
ENSNERSC S - FEEFREEmITED : (v)IREER T
MEHEEALERBATEEREY  BREKE
R EeRE  IREEE THEMEKENEERK
BESE ¢ R RNIEB B R ERHIEIK I - A
EREHEFTNROFKE - AEBHESS
SHEEWRRNOFZE @ LHHEERRBEE
SEMBEEATENARES  FEKLANER
HIRBIADISOER - RMEHA - AEENE
BEEZMAM AR - Bt - AEREXRBH
REMNTEZETEHOER ¢ ()ERBE
R (i) A3 R BN Z IR G BE - Fitt - BEFF
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the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste by the Group.

A1. EMISSIONS
(i) Exhaust Gas Emission

Transportation is one of the emission areas where the Group
also provides guidance to control air pollution. The table below
recorded and compared the Reporting Period and the Last
Reporting Period’s resultant air pollutant emissions in Hong Kong,
where the vehicle owned by the Group is located:

ZEMITEML @ ARENZSEHRENTE
BN e RBERA - AEB W EBEEEZE RN
BTARARRRE  BERLOBEREBIEN - K
Riiwdhs AEREERRVNELNER
ERNARD -

A1, HER

(i) ERHEK

BRaEP—EHRIAR - AEBMEHES
ZHIZERITR o TRCERI LR E A £ —
EshEHETE(AEEEENERAEL) D
ERSRMBENE -

Year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=1+—HLFE

Air Pollutants Unit 2024 2023 Changes
ZR5RY =y —E-WME T =4F -la
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") Kg 0.33 0.38 -13%
RELPINOX) Ny
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") Kg 0.01 0.01 -13%
FRE(E(SOx) Ny
Particulate Matter ("PM”) Kg 0.02 0.03 -13%
SEFRLTF(PM) /Ny

In the coming year, the Group targets to at least maintain and if
possible, continue to reduce its air pollutants emissions by 1-2%.

(ii) Greenhouse Gases (“GHG”) Emission

Greenhouse gases (GHG) include carbon dioxide (CO») and its
non-hazardous equivalents including nitrous oxide and methane
(collectively with CO», “C0O2e"). The Group has established an
emission reduction pathway with a long-term perspective as a
directional target. The primary source of GHG emission of the
Group is from purchased electricity and secondarily from the fuel
consumption by company vehicles.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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EARF— - AREN A BREDRIEAAL
M - SRS R PRE 2% o

(i) BERFE([GHG ) H#HK

BEREGHOBIE — AILHCo,) RAmES
W BE—E - ARTBR(HEC HFE -
[mER) AEECRY TURERKAS
A B ERRE - AEENRERESNE
MEBRBLBENE S - HREDTEHY
BRREBFE o



The table below recorded and compared the Reporting Period
and the Last Reporting Period’s resultant GHG emissions in Hong

Kong, the PRC and Japan:
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TREFHI LBREHN F —ARSHES

7~ BB ARTE LR

EREHFNE :

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

GHG Emissions "o Unit 2024 2023 Changes
\mﬁﬁﬂgpm Htat(1) %’j :g:qz :;:EE'E ﬁ'ﬂ:
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) COe kg 67,353 51,556 +31%
BEREHNEE (HE1F2) —&mEE(AT)
Scope 1Vt @ CO.e kg 1,361 1,569 -13%
#[E e —&tmEE(AT)
Scope 2 Nete @ CO.e kg 65,992 49987 +32%
#[E2 ME0 —EmEE(AT)
Intensity (Scope 1 and 2) per m?* floor ~ CO,e kg/m? 32 28 +14%
space of Hong Kong, the PRC and
Japan offices
=mE(&BEA2) BE - B —&tmEE(Ar),/
HARAEEE K
Note 1:  Emission factors for calculations in this ESG Report were A7 : BRIBEIEEI - NIRE - L2 REAR
made reference to the “How to prepare an ESG Report- ERFAENERATFIR2EREHERS
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on (Environmental KPIs FIERARMI AHFEEIRE e kE
(version updated on 25 March 2022)" by The Stock (Exchange AE M8 IRIRERE U ZE R
of Hong Kong Limited, unless otherwise specified. Eal((RZE_ZF=A=+HBEH) |
Note 2:  Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from vehicles that the  Afit2 : @EEAEEEENEMOEEEN -
Group owns.
Note 3:  Scope 2 refers to indirect emissions resulting from the  #/7£3 : @EREANEEEENBEE IFMELERN

generation of purchased (electricity consumed within the

Group.

For the Reporting Period, the increase in Scope 2 indirect
emissions was mainly due to the change in the reporting scope.

B —{ERE
MEEHRER

P -

HRAR L ”kﬁsz'aﬁ?%}#iﬁﬁzﬂ’ﬂi
LEEMRE o
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(iii) Hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste and packaging
materials

The Group generated/consumed no significant hazardous waste,
non-hazardous waste and packaging materials due to its business
nature. The table below recorded and compared the Reporting
Period and the Last Reporting Period’s total amount of paper
usage in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan:

(iii) BEEERY - BERZYNELEHH

HREEBNE  ARERAELEHREER
BEANATERY  BEBEYVREBEMH -
TREBLHLBRERAN E—EAREHES
B REIMBANRRES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLEE

Wastes Unit 2024 2023  Changes
BERY B —E-E —T-=F 21t
Non-hazardous waste, paper for recycling Tonnes 5.30 1.65 +221%
purpose
EREEY (AR BRAER) U
Inten5|ty of non-hazardous waste per m? Tonnes/m? Insignificant Insignificant N/A
floor space of Hong Kong, the PRC and (<0.01tonnes/m3) (<0.01tonnes/m?)
Japan offices
BE(EEBEEY B REMAARY B FEHAK FEKR rEX  TEA
AEMEE) (<0.01M " F53K) (<0.018F,FI75K)
Compared to the Last Reporting Period, the increase of disposed — H_E— AR HIMELL - Z B KR KIEIE INE
paper was due to change in the reporting scope. HRMmEE E.EI’JE o
(iv) Mitigation measures and reduction initiatives (iv) BfE
The Group advocates emission reduction, energy saving and ANEBEEZBRFEE - fige - HOER - WORE

resources saving, and is committed to achieving sustainable
operations. To this end, we have set preliminary directional
targets in terms of reducing emissions, energy use efficiency and
water efficiency. The Group will review the progress and explore
more opportunities for various environmental protection goals. In
the future, we will set more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish natural resources.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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fﬁ—f FELE - Bt - BPIERIDHENR - 25

RERBEAMEMBKRESHRE T VIZHA
f‘lﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ c AEERFRERER WEHERE
Zite  LERNSERRBEEZE - KK - HME
REFEBENENNREEEZ  MRERELE
EEABIR °



Environmental Aspects
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Targets
BR

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE

Steps Taken To Achieve The Targets
BREX Y 5 i

Air Pollutants Emissions

ROBEDK

H\
A
il
et

/

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Waste Reduction

The Group will actively
implement the air pollutants
control plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the
intensity of air pollutants
emissions.

NEE AR ETTZE R R
ME GGt EI R iEE - AR
SO AR TR E

The Group will actively
implement the electricity-
saving plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the
intensity of greenhouse gas
emissions.

4 B 5 TR HE (7 £ B 5
BRI - AR RSN R
TR

The Group will actively
implement the material-saving
plan and measures to maintain
or reduce the intensity of
waste production.

REBBRBIRE BN R
HEIREM - AR
BEEVNEENE

Carrying out regular maintenance of vehicles
with good condition for operational efficiency
Encouraging the use of public transportations

HRERRFNEMETERRE » REES

S

SEMEAAHRATA

Adopting LED lighting in some offices

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning

system in a range between 25°C to 26°C

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-

consuming devices when they are not in use

Promoting environmental protection such

as saving water and electricity by slogan or

poster in office

#B2I X =R LEDRR A

16 2= TR ERE R EFE 25 CE26°CHVEEE

N

FEE R EEE R T U BN RE

E%ﬂ#”*bﬂﬂu R (R EIREAR
C pnERK - ERE

Using electronic document processing system
to minimize the use of paper

Encouraging printing or photocopying on
both sides of paper, where applicable
Focusing on quality management to reduce
wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted
FRAEFXHRERS @ {ERMDERAE
H

SXENEEE T ENSAR ENAR SR (N A )

EEmE TR AIRBE MR - WA I5R
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES
(i) Energy Consumption

Energy is the critical component of the Group's operation, and
the Group has to acquire energy that originates from fossil fuels,
which is exhaustible and non-renewable energy. The Group has
thus established an energy consumption reduction pathway with
a long-term perspective as a directional target. Because of that,
the Group makes its utmost to reduce energy consumption by
different energy measures.

Established a resources management procedure to regulate
energy use;

Promoting environmental protection such as saving water
and electricity by slogan or poster in office;

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-consuming
devices when they are not in use;

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning system in a
range between 25°C to 26°C;

Disseminated energy-saving message via emails; and

Adopting LED lighting in some offices.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

A2. BERFER
(i) BERHFE

ﬁuﬁ%ﬁ’i@”m%ﬂ’]igéﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ F REE N
ﬁﬁﬁéﬁiﬁﬁftEWﬂE’]Hw B TERFEIR
BARBEAMER - Bt - $/§. S ARIR
ARt A7 M B Tﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂxf“ o Ek - A&
B BB TREREER D ERERE

BV ERERIEFARERRERM

E#j) Z\\Eﬁﬁﬁruu%/i#ﬁ*{ﬁi&{% ;ZD

K - B

tE

ENERARBEREE LN BENFEER
o

7= ? RHBEREE2SCE26CHE

A

E‘Hr}

BHBMEREES &

EE D P A E=ERFLEDRRRR o



The table below recorded and compared the Reporting Period
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TR AT L B B _E — (3R M0

and the Last Reporting Period’s resultant energy consumption: HEE
Year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=+—HLEE
Energy Consumption 2024 2023 Changes
BEIRUH #E —BoNFE —ET=F 2t
- Electricity Consumption (kWh)
— ES =1
= AR (FEky) 155,801 116,070 +34%
Intensity (kWh/m? floor space of Hong Kong,
the PRC and Japan offices)
ZE(TRE BEMNFEBHAZTEETFHXK) 73 63 +16%
- Unleaded Consumption (Litres)
petrol HREE () 512 590 -13%
— /45\&1\ ‘/f)lill_ 7/7_/733 i Note (4)
Consumption (kWh)
HFEE (T R )wEe 4,957 5716 -13%
Intensity (kWh/m? floor space
of Hong Kong office)
BE(TEE BBRAZEARESK) 6 9 -33%
Total Consumption (kWh)
it ERE(FRLET) 160,758 121,786 +32%
Note 4:  Energy conversion factors used for petrol are based on the  AfiF4 - JUBFTABLREREF HERESGIREIE
conversion factor mentioned in the ESG Reporting Guide. Sl ATt IR E F o
The significant increase in electricity consumption was due to RIWEHME - FEEN LA RHRREEHED

change in the reporting scope. phsE o
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(ii) Water Consumption

As the Group does not conduct any business relating to
manufacturing, it does not encounter any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. The Group's key water usage arises from
consumption in offices, including toilet flushing, water tap and
drinking water. For the PRC and Hong Kong offices, we operate in
leased office premises of which water supply and discharge are
controlled by building management who considered provision of
water usage data to individual occupant is not feasible. For Japan
office, the water are mainly used for daily hygiene needs and is
considered insignificant.

(iii) Targets

Energy Conservation The Group will actively implement
the electricity-saving plan and
measures to maintain or reduce the

intensity of electricity consumption.

AEEGREBETHER S NG
it - AERIRPRENE -

Water Conservation The Group will actively implement
the water-saving planand
measures to maintain or reduce
the intensity of water consumption.
7N & B AR AR HE 1T BRI KT 8l o R
W BRSO RKERE o

ERHIR7K

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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(i) FHkE

HRAEE AR I EEERBN RS -
B FR R EE A BEEAIFERE o AN
SENRKEIZANPLAZENEE —RFR
REEMT - HAIEENDBEOHRQSHEHE
ERAE  HEUKTNBINERETEEAR
EH - Rt WEESHAERKERE - 4R
BABAEMS  KEZRANEBEESRLK
HPIRBRMTEER -

(iii) B

- Adopting LED lighting in some offices

- Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in a range between 25°C to 26°C

- Switching off lights and unnecessary
energy-consuming devices when they are
not in use

—  HoWAE=ERALEDIRA

— BERAFRGHREREL25CE26°CHE
N

— EMEAREREE RO BENFEERE

-  Promoting environmental protection such
as saving water and electricity by slogan or
poster in office

—  ERAREBIEER RO TR

BIRTE - QNEK - BT
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Paper and Packaging
Materials and Other
Raw Materials
Consumption

The Group will actively implement
the paper-saving planand
measures to maintain or reduce the
intensity of paper consumption.

ASRM BB R E A

R EUERE it - REFS R ERREERE -

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff's awareness on environmental issues
through education and training and enlists employees’ support
in improving the Group'’s performance, promotes environmental
awareness amongst the customers, business partners and
shareholders, supports community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability, and evaluates and
monitors regularly the impact of past and present business
activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental
matters. With the integration of policies mentioned in Sections
Al(iv) and A2(iii) of this ESG Report, the Group strives to
minimize the impacts to the environment and natural resources.
The principal business activities of the Group do not have a
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.

A4. Climate Risk and Resilience Management

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and has an
impact on the business operations of the Group. Therefore, the
Group has formulated working mechanisms to identify, prevent
and mitigate climate change issues that may have a significant
impact. At the same time, we would adjust the use of resources
and energy. In response to disasters and accidents which are
easily induced by extreme weather, we always enhance the
capability to the disaster response.

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE

- Avoid unnecessary printing and print on
both sides

- Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelops and folders

- Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats

- Adopt company-wide cloud based working
environment to reduce the need of printed
documentation

— @RI LENIH - EREm5IH

— (ERBERYBERERAHER - E

HME R

— BBNENFREFBANERMESR
SREVAR IR AV (2

— EERABEARAER - AR EE]

ol ST EY R Sk
A3. BERBRER

AEERBHBEMBZINARIRS B THIRE
MBEMNRE  WBKETIXH @ UNELAEE
MEN REEF EBBHABRENRRE
# o YHERBERENTSEEREABNLE
B IPTEEERERENITFEGEE
HEE) - I E BT L B i S IR E R TS
EEERER  TEFIREMENTE - BB
B ANESGERE FE A1V A2 ET P IR B EY SR -
TEEZNBEHREBERRIAERNFERE&
K - AEENETEXEKEZHHRBERRABR
WEEATE -

A4. RIRERMNKER

RIRB SRR RRMERL » WHAKE
MEHEZELTE - it - AREHET T
TERES - LABRI - TERAMRE Al e ELE B RT
R EZCER - A RAEHBRERM
BERHIM A o 7T FEEHRIm KR A BE 5] B K

TEW - RAIeRERSATREYES -
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Governance

The Board meets regularly to oversee our strategies and
management approaches related to climate risks and
opportunities, as well as the disclosure of information. We have
implemented a climate change policy statement to guide our
operations and reduce our impact on climate change while
strengthening our business resilience.

Strategy

The Group is committed to supporting the carbon neutrality
pledge made by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government. In line with this commitment, the Group is
consolidating its green efforts to provide support. We strive
to understand the impacts brought by climate change to our
business operations and thus continuously seek to advance
the relevant studies, as well as our action plans and mitigation
measures. Subject to the on-going development of our climate-
related risk assessment and management practices, we will
further study the feasibility and practicality of integrating the
financial impacts of climate-related risk and other sustainability
issues into our financial planning at the corporate and project
levels.

Risk Assessment and Management

We have updated the assessment methodology through
a climate scenario analysis to reassess climate risks and
opportunities across our operations in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Japan under two consolidated scenarios in accordance with
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD")
recommendations. The two consolidated climate scenarios
are constructed based on public available scenarios which
include Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change ("IPCC"),
International Energy Agency (“IEA") and Network for Greening
the Financial System (“NGFS”). Based on the revaluation of our
climate risk assessment results, we have updated our mitigation
measures across various operational area. The following outlines
the scenarios and assumptions employed during our climate risk
assessment.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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Brown Scenario

Bers

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE

Turquoise Scenario

BIesR

Timeframe

By [ €0

Global Mean
Temperature

2HTIRE

Scenario Description

BRER

By gaining insight into the significant climate risks that affect

Short-term - till 2030
Medium to long-term — till 2100
RHAZ 20304
R REAZE21005F

Global mean temperature rises of above
3°C by 2100
F2100F 2R FITRE EFHEEE3C

The scenario represents the future that
only current policies and nationally
determined contribution are implemented
with limited investments and climate
actions to decarbonize. This would usually
lead to high level of physical risk and low
level of transition risk.

RN RABERERARERIBERE
TERRAREK - WEBBETERER
BNRIRTE - ERFSEHNSERAE
AR EE R -

BERANTHREZE

Global mean temperature rises of 1.5 to
2°C by 2100
22100F 2 HFIPRE ETH1.5F2°C

The scenario represents the future that
stringent and immediate policies will
be implemented by the companies that
are actively committed to climate action
goals. This would usually result in high
level of transition risks and low level of
physical risks.
IEERARCEBRAFERETSEF
R - BUTE A M BN BUER RO R
Ko EREEEHNSAERRMEER
E

MIBEESIRIANEAR

our business across our value chain, we can develop effective
strategies and measures to manage these risks and mitigate
their financial and non-financial impacts. Within our framework,
we acknowledge climate change as a strategic business risk
and have integrated climate-related risks and opportunities into
our overall business strategy. Our objective is to enhance long-
term resilience by comprehensively assessing, managing, and
monitoring climate risks that may impact our operations.

fRERR - ZAFIHIE T AR KRS M e K E 2
BERER - REEST MG T ENE
2 - AHPINERA - RAERRRE(LCE—
BB B ME R R SRR - IS B SRR AR R O LB
MEBES B RMNEBEHRES - R
AERRBEEE  BEEMEIEARERTER
PIERBEENRERR - RERADIE -
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Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons,
heavy rain, thunder and lightning and flooding that can cause
physical acute risk. The potential consequences include delivery
or shipment delay as well as damage to documents, equipment
and even employees’ health and life. The above potential
consequences will cause economic losses to and increase
operating costs of the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Acute Risk

SMER

AEBEDHERBmASR - FINEBE - KW - &
EMPIEALHK - ATEHEENT IR -
BENERBBEEHIEEIMNHEE  BEX
- REEEETWEEMERD - LlEE
BRRBEHARREENEER R MIEINZEEK
N o

REBE ST TRRERE - A LERRE
BRBNEEYE -

SHERERE
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
W i KSR TARE MR R i
Typhoons - Attach duct tapes to windows to avoid damage
- Move equipment to safety areas in advance
- Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away
- Inform and negotiate with clients and third-party suppliers of potential delays in
advance
- Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local observatory
g [ — BEFRABTR - BRRE
- RAERBEBRERZZRE
—  INERTBE & R UE B R AN B 1
— RAGBMEFPME =7 HERY HEEERIER
— REEWBBMNIES  THIEABERIE
Heavy Rain and - Check that all windows are shut as secure as possible
Flooding - Reinforce equipment and assets which may be damaged or blown away
- Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local observatory
ARRAHEK - BEMBEFESHAEMET 2N
—  IER R WIBIRENVUENREBEE
—  REBBRETEREMMAMORBMES 2B TAERITIE
Thunder and - Keep good conditions of earthing devices
Lightning - Remind employees to save data and turn off computers
B8 —  REEWEENRFIRAE

—  RES TRIFBURY BB H 4

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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Physical Chronic Risk
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The Group has identified extreme weather such as sustained high
temperature during the year could cause physical chronic risk.
The potential consequences include the drop in sales of autumn/
winter products and a higher chance of getting heatstroke for
employees, increasing turnover rate and work-related injuries.
The demand for cooling for the working environment will be
increased, which may lead to an increase in power demand and
operating costs of the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effects of extreme weather.

Physical Chronic Risk

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE

181t E e m R

Z’-"ilﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ”ﬁﬂi* plan—FHhFENS

R AREEERKBENTBEL - BHNERE

?é:%’ﬁﬁk%%uuﬁﬁ%%ﬁ"l—ﬁx P BTHRBEX

®m E\I}m%“ﬂ“’iﬁ%ﬂlﬁ—%ﬁ&ibﬂ o T1E

i&%ﬁ’]ﬁw’%%x 200 - FIREE AR EA
BNHBKNE $m$ibﬂ >

REFEBHEATZIEREE © AR LE KRR AR
mARKEHEFE o

BBk
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
Wi KSR TR M 42 % 15 e
Sustained high - Diversify the impact by developing and promoting more summer/spring products
temperature - Keep a First-aid kit convenient
- Keep cold water available 24 hours a day
FESR - BARBNEEEZNES EFERRIHMTE

— HTEEBEMBESEEENMAE
—  BR4/NEHRHISK

Climate-related Transition Risk

Transition risk

1)

Risk description

e B ik

SRR 1668 1938 B 7 B2

Potential Business Impact

BENERIE

Legal and policy risk

AR MBCR A

The local government where the
operation is located may implement
stricter carbon emission reduction
policies, which may increase enterprises’
carbon emission costs related to
production and operation

P 3t BT AT B2 B 5t 5B D0 BR AR &Y
PR OB DR - AIREIR N
EVBRBE A AN AR R S AL E M58

- Increase operation cost

— HMEERE
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Transition risk

1ok

S

Risk description

Ja B it

Potential Business Impact

BENEXRSE

Technology Risk

o

Market and
reputation risk

MIZMEZERER

Technological improvements that
support the transition to a lower-
carbon system.

SFHERE R e B Ao ko

Customers have increasingly strict
requirements for carbon emission
management of their suppliers,
while the decarbonization of
productsand services may
become an important standard
for customers to choose from.
Products that are not low-carbon
may lead to a decrease in demand.

There are stricter requirements
for transparent carbon emissions
information, and enterprises
need toincrease investment
in the management of related
performance. Poor performance
in climate information disclosure
may lead to reputation damage,
declined stock price, or difficulties
in financing.
BEREHERNMENEREENR
H#R B - mmMREBH £
ARE BT ERNERIRE
FEEM A m Al SR FERTE -
=2 HBERE S ETE SR
WEBX » ERFBREMNBBRER
mﬁﬁ BEREEBEERR
REHEEXE  KREER
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EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RN EEBR LA

Failing to upgrade to more efficient,
sustainable, or automated technologies
could result in higher operation costs and
reduced competitiveness.
REETTRIESR - ATRHES B BER
il g B E S LB AMBEFE T E

There will be a risk of a decline in sales

and reputation if end-user is getting more
prefer on environmentally friendly products
or services and we do not have these
options for our customers

IMREHAPBABIRFRERENE
mE R - BT RHELEBRRERP
AFEHE TRNEERIBNER -
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Climate-related Opportunities

The Group recognizes that climate change not only presents
a range of physical and transitional risks, but also provides
emerging opportunities for our businesses. Measures such
as improving energy efficiency, increasing the utilization
of renewable energy, transitioning to sustainable resource
management practices, and adopting green and low-carbon
technologies have not only resulted in direct cost savings but
also a reduction in energy expenses.

Looking ahead, we anticipate the opportunities that will arise
from long-term regulatory frameworks and carbon trading. These
mechanisms will enable us to explore alternative approaches
to combat climate change, leveraging sustainable financial
instruments. As the global economy transitions towards carbon
neutrality, we remain committed to assessing and managing
the climate-related risks and opportunities associated with our
business.

Metrics and Targets

We strive to effectively manage and evaluate the risks and
opportunities arising from climate change. Throughout the
Reporting Period, we maintained continuous monitoring of key
metrics, specifically GHG emissions, which serve as indicators of
climate-related risks. These targets aim to reduce overall GHG
emissions and electricity consumption.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
1.1 Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and
aims to support the building of a harmonious society and a
mutually beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, the Group incorporates our long
and short-term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and
society. The Group believes that our modest acts will ultimately
benefit the stakeholders and general society.
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1.2 Employment and Labour Practices Aspects
B1. Employment

As an enterprise with social responsibility, the Group shall not
only be accountable to its customers, but also to its employees.
When seeking for accomplishment of economic targets, the
Group also assumes responsibility to the society, which in turn
enables it to achieve sustainable development. The Group
values its employees as they are key to its success. It commits
to implement a transparent and fair recruitment system and
provide a working place without discrimination and with equal
opportunities for all staff. The Group strictly complies with the
laws and regulations related to labor including but not limited
to the Labor Contract Law of the PRC ({1 I AR L MEILEE
3% )), the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({13 A L FNE
HEREE)), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap 608 of the laws
of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group, and
takes practical and effective measures to protect employees’
rights.

The Group is committed to eliminating prejudice and
discrimination in the workplace and prohibiting its employees
to discriminate against: (i) a person on the ground of gender,
marital status, pregnancy or breastfeeding in prescribed areas
of activities; (ii) a person on the ground of disability when
committed in prescribed areas of activities; and (iii) a person on
the ground of family status. “Family status” means the status
of having a responsibility for the care of an immediate family
member, and “immediate family member”, in turn, means a
person who is related to someone by blood, marriage adoption
or affinity. The employees of the Group must also be prohibited
from their acts of discrimination, harassment, and vilification on
the ground of someone’s race. The Group complies to the anti-
discrimination laws in the jurisdictions of its subsidiaries located.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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Staff annual leaves and benefit packages of the Group were
enforced with reference to the local labour laws. The Group
rewards employees with fair remuneration based on an
individual's work performance in order to inspire their working
enthusiasm. Further, the Group adopts an incentive system under
which the management’s remuneration is related to the Group’s
operating results, which provides reasonable rewards to the
managements of the Group.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group employed 136 employees in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan, among which 130 are full-time
staffs and 6 are part-time staffs. Further analysis of the Group's
employment situations for the Reporting Period and the Last

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE
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Reporting Period are summarised as below: Bt -
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Figure 1: Number of Employees by Gender
— RIUEFIB DB A E

Figure 2: Number of Employees by Employment Type
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R HEREBHE
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Figure 3: Number of Employees by Role Figure 4: Number of Employees by Age
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Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. The Group is
confident to achieve the same result for the coming year.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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The table below shows the employee turnover rate of the
business segment under our reporting scope by gender, age
group, and geographical region, respectively.
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Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender
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Figure 8: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region
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Figure 7: Employment Turnover Rate by Age
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no material
violation of relevant standards, rules and regulations regarding
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, fair opportunity, diversity and other remuneration
package and benefits during the Reporting Period.

B2. Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”)

To indicate its care for employee’s health and safety, the Group
established a safe and healthy working environment for all
employees by establishing monitoring procedures for safety
management. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations regarding employment and labour protection
including but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509) of the laws of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standard Act (Act No. 49 of April 7, 1947, as amended), the
Industrial Safety and Health Act (Act No. 57 of 1972, as amended),
and the Labor Contract Act (Act No. 128 of December 5, 2007).

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, no work-
related fatalities or lost days due to work injury were recorded.
To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no material
violation of relevant laws and regulations regarding provision
of safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational damage during the Reporting Period.

The Group places health and safety of its employee as its highest
priority and has taken timely actions and measures to protect
and prevent its employees from being infected. The hygiene
measures adopted by the Group are as follows:

Sanitary items provided by the Group including face masks,
alcohol-based sanitisers and ultraviolet light hand dryer;

Employees are required to wear a face mask in the office if
they are not feeling well;

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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If an employee has respiratory symptoms or body
temperature higher than 37.5 degree celsius, they are
required to seek for medical treatments.

The Board will continue to ensure to comply with all applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

B3. Development and Training

The Group provides occupational development opportunities for
its employees. Employees of the Group may pursue, depending
on their working capabilities, personal developments by means
of promotion from junior to senior positions.

The Group provides on-the-job trainings for the new employees
serving the junior positions. In particular, employees with
adequate experience are designated to provide guidance to
new employees to assist with their works, aiming to improve
new employees’ expertise and skills as required for works and to
assist them to adapt to the operations and culture of the Group
as soon as possible. During the Reporting Period, the Group
organised training sessions and seminars relating to (i) global
trend on sustainable development; and (ii) security management
of information and technologies for the Directors and senior
management of the Group. Further, certain employees amongst
design and promotion, procurement and merchandising
departments of the Group participated in a series of trainings
in learning of materials and products covering the topics such
as product variety, functions of knitwear materials and trends of
apparel products to help employees improve their knowledge in
the apparel industry and business capabilities.

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE
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RE  #HEREARE

The participation rates of training of the Group during the A& E—EARSHNZIIEE R H LA
Reporting Period and the Last Reporting Period are tabulated as ~ #HZAT :

follows:
Training (No. of employees) Internal External
BFI(EIAR) &R S ShERsE Al
Percentage of employees trained ZifEER DL
2024 —ENF - 8.09%
2023 —E-=F 15.18% 12.50%
Percentage of trained employees RENESZIEER DL

by gender
Male B
2024 _7_m¢ - 18.18%
2023 —E=fF 17.65% 14.29%
Female iZ’E
2024 —E_F - 81.82%
2023 —EB=F 82.35% 85.71%
Percentage of trained employees BB E D

by grade
Senior management =SREEE
2024 _7_E¢ - 18.18%
2023 —E=F 5.88% 7.14%
Middle management PEEEA
2024 —ENF - 81.82%
2023 —E-=F 11.76% 14.29%
General staff HEBET
2024 :;ﬁ:m F - -
2023 —E_=F 82.35% 78.57%

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RN EEBR LA
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The training hours of the Group during the Reporting Period and

A HIA _E— B ¥R & B0 (8 B 15 0I5 SR AR

the Last Reporting Period are tabulated as follows: LU
Average training hours per employee Internal External
BEEENTFIEZIEE A BRI ShEREE
Total average training hours per BEEEMNTIFFI G

employee
2024 —ENF - 3.75
2023 —E=F 434 7.60
Average training hours for male BEHRIESNEREETR

HY S 19 55 3 B B
B

2024 —ENF - 234
2023 —E=F 2.25 6.75
Average training hours for female i
2024 —EF - 4.36
2023 S 491 7.83
Average training hours for senior RBREAINEERETNK

management 1 19 1F S R B

BREEAE

2024 —EUF - 7.09
2023 S 429 2.18
Average training hours for middle PEEEAR

management
2024 —ENF - 18.57
2023 —E-=F 522 548
Average training hours for general HEEST

staff
2024 —T_MmF - -
2023 TE=F 4.10 8.66
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B4. Labor Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat to
sustainable social and economic development. The Group
strictly complies with relevant local labour laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC ({H %
ARFLFBEE L)), the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({1
EAREMBELEEFIE)), the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor of the PRC ({FEARKLFMEZE FFRE
T#E)) and the Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). The Group also strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations in respect of minimum working age. The
Group properly handled child labour issues in accordance
with requirements of social responsibility management and
regulations to prohibit all departments to employ child labour.

The Group established management policy for forced labour
and captive labour to prohibit any forced labour and regulate
that employee of the Group must be employed voluntarily,
undertaking that (i) no forced acts shall be allowed; (ii) no
deceptive means shall be applied in attracting workers to work
in the Group; and (iii) no threats, punishments or to gain any
benefit from employees or force employees to work.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child labour
and forced labour. To prevent and any form of child labour in the
business operation, employment will only be permitted for staff
at the legal age of employment. New employees are required to
provide true and accurate personal data when they are employed.
Recruiters should strictly review the entry data including medical
examination reports, academic credentials, ID cards, household
registration, degree certificates and other information. The Group
has established comprehensive recruitment procedures to check
the background of candidates in order to prevent any child
labour or forced labour in operation. Once any violation is found,
the Group will follow up in a serious manner and handle such
case in accordance with national and local laws and regulations,
and the group’s internal rules depending on the actual situation.
For example, we will timely understand the child’s education
status, and timely contact the local education department and its
guardian to escort the child home.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding prevention
of child labour or forced labour.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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B5. Supply Chain Management

To focus the Group's resources on the provision of IRO, CRO
and apparel supply chain management services, the Group does
not own or operate any manufacturing operations. Instead,
the Group outsourced the labour intensive manufacturing
processes to third-party manufacturers with manufacturing
operations in Japan, the PRC, Thailand and Cambodia. The Group
strives to improve its businesses. The Group has established
procedures and a complete monitoring system for selection
of third-party manufacturers including but not limited to the
ability and efficiency of third-party manufacturers to produce
products for its customers. In addition, we evaluate if third-party
manufacturers consider the environmental and social criteria
including the prohibition on the recruitment of child and forced
labour, eliminating discrimination to employees, providing a
safe working environment, considering if the products and
services provided are beneficial to environmental protection and
fulfilling the Group’s internal environmental requirement while
minimizing the negative impact to natural environment, and
strictly obeying the law. The operation model of the Group is
to manage the third-party manufacturers of different scales, the
Group does not enter into any long term contracts with third-
party manufacturers and the Group engages them on a case-
by-case basis depending on the needs and requirements of
customers. The Group sets standards and goals and provides data
analysis to measure the performance of its businesses, including
but limited to the environmental and social performance. In
addition, the Group closely cooperates with yarn suppliers, third-
party manufacturers and customers to ensure providing the
latest information on customer demands at every stage of its
businesses, and pays attention to the signal of market demands
and makes corresponding improvements.

RiE  -#HEBRERKRSE
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s number of suppliers
by geographical location for each of the year ended 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024:

TREHRE IR L — ERE R R E )
HEHEEUE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

Number of suppliers BBV EE 5 2024 2023
by geographical location HEBHE —E-EF O

Hong Kong BE 35 34
The PRC a3 91 79
Others HAth 213 17
Total HEt 339 130

Note 5: Since 2024, we started include the Group’s IRO, CRO and R&D
business in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.

The Group set up strict guidelines to prevent any employee,
outsourcing contractor or supplier from breaching the anti-
corruption guideline requirements by implementing appropriate
disciplinary punishment(s). The Group also stated in its anti-
corruption policy that it will not work with suppliers who
had previously violated the anticorruption requirements. As
mentioned above, the Group conduct analysis to continuously
measure the environmental and social performance of its supply
chains.

The Group complied with the child labour and forced labour
law. Suppliers were also required to comply with the same. The
Group also requires suppliers to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations to ensure health and safety of employees in all
operating conditions and environment.

B6. Product Responsibilities
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Product Quality Law of the PRC ((HFEARKNHER LD =
&), the Trademark Law of the PRC ({ R A R B IZEL)),
the Advertising Law of the PRC ({FZEARKEMBEIESE)), the
Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap 26 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap 362 of Laws of Hong Kong)
and the Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap 559 of the laws of Hong
Kong), that have a significant impact relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters regard to products and
services provided by the Group during the Reporting Period.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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Quality Control

As an apparel supply chain management services provider, the
Group’s services encompass the total supply chain from the
selection of raw materials until the final delivery of finished
products to the customers at their designated port of shipment.
The Group places great emphasis on the quality of its knitwear
products and the Directors believe that the commitment to the
high standard for quality control of its knitwear products is one
of the key factors contributing to the Group's success. Stringent
quality control procedures such as inspection of the finished
products by a third-party inspection center prior to shipping to
the Group's customers and monitoring the production process
by keeping a production schedule have been established
throughout the total supply chain so as to ensure the quality
of the knitwear products is supplied in consistently reliable and
high standard.

To ensure that the quality of the knitwear products is in
conformity with the customers’ specifications, the Group will
perform random checks on semi-finished products produced by
the third-party manufacturers at various stages of the production
process. To ensure that the colour conforms to the customers’
specifications and standards, the Group will visually inspect the
colour on the semi-finished and finished products with colour
check light box. The merchandising quality control staff will
check whether the semi-finished products are free from major
defects and to ensure that the knitting patterns conform with
the customers’ designs and specifications. Before packaging for
delivery, all finished products will be checked by a third-party
inspection centre. Any products that fail to meet the standards
will be notified to the third-party manufacturers for rectification.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
relevant requirements on product liabilities and there is no
product sold or shipped subject to recall for safety and health
reasons.
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Customer Service and Product Return

All of the Group’s knitwear products are subject to final
inspections by third-party inspection centers to ensure that
the knitwear products are in conformity with the customers’
specifications and requirements. Nevertheless, as a responsible
supply chain management services provider and in order to
maintain the Group’s goodwill and the business relationships
with its customers, the Group would investigate every incident
and offer solutions to its customers to resolve such incident.
Customers are always encouraged to give their feedback and
opinions via service hotline and social media platforms. During
the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material claims
or complaints by our customers in respect of the quality of our
products and there was no incident of failure of our quality
control procedures which had a material and adverse impact on
our business operations.

Intellectual Property Rights

As an IRO, CRO and apparel supply chain management services
provider, the Group respects intellectual property rights. The
Group is committed to protecting trademarks and patent of
customers and restricts any person from using the trademarks
and patent for any unauthorised purposes. We strictly abide
by all laws and regulations related to intellectual property,
such as the Trademark Law of the PRC ({FZE A BHMEFIZE
’%)) and Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group has
policies and procedures to protect the intellectual properties of
the Group and its customers. The product design sketches and
instruction sheets may contain confidential information regarding
proprietary product designs of the Group’s customers. Such
confidential documents for each of the respective customers
will be stored in the designated place and only the responsible
merchandising team, design staff and authorised personnel are
allowed to access such information. The Group's employees are
forbidden to reproduce or publicize any information related
to the product designs of the Group and/or its customers. Any
waste paper containing sketches and/or product designs of
the Group or its customers is required to record in the Group's
design register and provide to the administrative department for
central management before destruction.

The Group has established an internal management team
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the
aforementioned policy and detecting any infringement by others
or by the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
infringement or potential infringement by any member of the
Group of the intellectual property rights owned by any third
parties, and no material complaint was received and no claim
was made against the Group by its customers in relation to
infringement of their intellectual property rights.

Data Privacy

Subject to compliance with the relevant privacy protection
regime, the Group will strive to protect the privacy of customer
information and repeatedly emphasize the importance of
information security in employee training and internal meetings.
Any organizations or personnel are prohibited to access customer
information without relevant authorization by the Group. The
Group has established an internal management team responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the aforementioned
procedures.

Advertising and Labelling

Adhering to its pragmatic principle, the Group does not allow
any misleading, inaccurate and exaggerating information about
its products and services. In the sale process, we ensure that
any descriptions of our services and products are in compliance
with the Advertising Law of the PRC ({1 2E A R MBI EEE))
and Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of Laws of Hong
Kong) and all other applicable laws and standards enacted by the
government and industry associations. The Group has established
an internal management team responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the aforementioned procedures. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any complaint in
relation to advertising and labelling.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group operates under integrity and moral principles. The
Group established relevant standards and complied with laws
and regulations, prohibiting employees from receiving any
benefits from the suppliers, customers or any party having
business or commercial relationship with companies under the
Group or offering benefits to the same. The Group requires (i) all
employee shall comply with its code of business conduct and
ethics; (i) employees are prohibited to, through taking advantage
of their positions, offer any reward or other benefits to or receive
the same from customers, suppliers or any party having business
with the Group; and (iii) all suppliers or individuals dealing with
the Group shall not offer any commercial bribe or transfer other
benefits by any means to employees or management of the
Group.
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The Group requires every employee to comply with the code of
employees and delegates appropriate authority to employees
in every job position to avoid abuse of his or her duties for
profiteering or suspected conflicts of interest. As the Group's
businesses involve the customers’ personal data, the Group has
established confidentiality codes and relevant guidelines for the
employees to reduce the risk of information leakage.

The Group prohibits employees from using the company seal/
chop of each company of the Group without prior approval
from the management of the Group, to sign beyond one’s
authority, and to approve the signing of any external contract
or terminating it and to vary the performance of contracts. The
whistle-blowing and reporting system of the Group permits
employees to report any suspected misconduct or fraud to
relevant department head through effective channels. The
management of the Group is responsible for overseeing the
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s measures to
prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering and
abovementioned procedures.

The Group is in the process of allocating resources to arranging
training on anti-corruption, and therefore no training is arranged
during the Reporting Period. Looking ahead, we will continue to
invest more resource to our anti-corruption training and expand
the scope of anti-corruption training data disclosure.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
material non-compliance of laws and regulations related to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices,
extortion and money laundering brought against the Group
or its employees. The operations of the Group complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited
to the Company Law of the PRC (2 A RHEFBE A GNE)), the
Tendering and Bidding Law of the PRC ({FZE A R EFEHIZ
#HZ)E) ), the Law Against Unfair Competition of the PRC ({9
EARKEMBIR TEEFHFEIA)) and Hong Kong's Anti-Money
Laundering and Terrorist Financing Ordinance and Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance.
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B8. Community Investment

In recognising that bringing resources to the community
while at the same time contributing to the economy and
environment would benefit the society in the long run, the
Group is in the process of devoting time and effort to return to
the society as it has always encouraged its employees to take
part into supporting environmental protection initiatives such
as energy saving initiatives, and participating volunteer work
for the community during the Reporting Period, and there were
no donation or charitable campaign arranged. In the future,
the Group will (i) seek opportunities to work with charitable
organisations to get involved in various community programmes
and to contribute to the society; (ii) promote the health of its
employees and customers by organising and taking part in sports
and fitness activities; and (iii) make donations to the charitable
organisations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Directors hereby present this report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this
annual report. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 March
2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 contained the
information as required by the standards set out in Appendix C2
to the Listing Rule is disclosed on pages 63 to 101 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that had a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's relationship with its stakeholders is disclosed in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page
25 of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results and appropriations of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 133 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (for the year ended 31 March
2023: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 March 2024
in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 March 2024, the key factors affecting its results and
financial position are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further, a fair
review of, and an indication of likely future prospects in the
Group’s business are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial position, results of operations, businesses
and prospects would be affected by a number of principal risks
including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The financial risk management policies and practices
of the Group are disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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Further, there are certain other risks involved in the Group’s
operations which are beyond its control. In particular, the Group
relies on several major customers and the Group does not enter
into any long term contracts with them. The Group also faces
business risks such as (i) any disruption in the relationships with
the third-party manufacturers or their manufacturing operations
could adversely affect the Group’s business; (ii) there are time
lags between making payments to the Group’s suppliers and
receiving payments from its customers. Failure to handle this
cash flow mismatch may adversely affect the Group's cash flow
and financial position; (iii) the Group has relatively thin net profit
margin and is highly sensitive to any unfavourable change in
the cost of sales, selling price and sales volume; (iv) any further
decrease in retail sales value and sales volume of apparel
retail markets in Japan and the USA may adversely affect the
Group's operating results and performance; and (v) the Group's
performance and profitability may be affected by the fluctuation
of the exchange rate of Japanese Yen.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 244 in this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024. The share capital of
the Company only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company's issued share capital was
HKS$5.0 million divided by 500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital for
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer its new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 136 to
137 in this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$51.6 million (as
at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$43.6 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's largest
customer and five largest customers’ aggregate amount
represented approximately 37.7% (for the year ended 31 March
2023: approximately 41.2%) and 63.4% (for the year ended 31
March 2023: approximately 72.7%) of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively. The Group’s largest supplier and five largest
suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 39.7%
(for the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately 41.9%) and
69.8% (for the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately 70.4%)
of the Group's cost of sales, respectively.
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors
nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
nor any Shareholders who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five
largest customers and/or suppliers during the year ended 31
March 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shimada Tatsuji (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on | November 2023)

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru (Managing Director)

Mr. Maezaki Masahiro

Mr. Miyazato Hiroki (appointed on | November 2023)

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak (appointed on | November 2023)

Mr. Okoso Satoshi (resigned on | November 2023)

Mr. Gao Feng (resigned on | November 2023)

Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo (resigned on 20 March 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kusaba Takuya (appointed on | November 2023)
Mr. Yan Ping (appointed on | November 2023)
Mr. Xia Xiangming (resigned on | November 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho

Mr. Choi Koon Ming

Mr. Saito Hironobu (appointed on | November 2023)
Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko (appointed on | April 2024)
Mr. Taguchi Junichi (resigned on | April 2024)
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Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles and the code provision
A42 of the CG Code, any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of members of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. All Directors appointed
with effect from 1 November 2023 and 1 April 2024 shall retire
and be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of two years
and shall be renewed automatically upon the expiry of such
initial term. Either party has the right to give not less than three
months’ written notice to terminate the service agreement.

Each of the non-executive Directors has been appointed for an
initial fixed term of two years and shall be renewed automatically
upon the expiry of such initial term unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ written notice of non-renewal.
Save for the Directors’ fees, none of the non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other emolument for holding his office
as a non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has
proposed or entered into any service agreement or appointment
letter with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than the statutory compensation.
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CHANGE OF BOARD COMPOSITION

Subsequent to the Reporting Year, as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024, (i) Mr.
Taguchi Junichi resigned as independent non-executive Director;
and (i) Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko was appointed as independent
non-executive Director, all with effect from 1 April 2024.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2024.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There is no updated information of directors of the Company
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

CONFIRMATIONOFINDEPENDENCY OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 March 2024 and remained in force
as of the date of this report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior
management of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The executive Directors, non-executive Directors, the
independent non-executive Directors and senior management
receive compensation in the form of directors’ fees, salaries,
benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference
to those paid by comparable companies in the industry, time
commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation
to the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by
comparable companies in the industry, respective responsibilities
of the Directors and performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors
with reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload,
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group. The
Directors may also be offered options under the share option
scheme.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEFEXECUTIVEINTHE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the following Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which (a) would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which such Directors and chief executives of the
Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) would be required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) would be required, pursuant to the Model Code or Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”") as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION(S) OF
THE COMPANY

EERESTRAESRAQFREEGE
EEZED - HEROREERTZ
BERAR
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Percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of share(s) held in capital of the

associated the associated associated

Name of Directors corporation Capacity corporation corporation

HAEECEE

PR iR LR BRITREZ

EEHE HEBEE AR &4 RHBE Bok

Mr. Maezaki Masahiro Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 9,800 0.04
AT IR E 5A 55 4 EmEAA

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 10,000 0.04
(=¥ botad ERFEAA

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 30,000 0.12
HIEmEE EmEAA

Mr. Kusaba Takuya Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 10,000 0.04
Bi5RtheE EmEAA

Mr. Shimada Tatsuji Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 10,000 0.04
SHE—LAE ERFEAA

Mr. Yan Ping Shinyou KK Beneficial owner 30,000 0.12
BTt EmFEAA
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INTERESTSAND SHORTPOSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as it is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was
expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 10% or more
of the issued voting shares of any other member of the Group:
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EPS Holdings, Inc. Beneficial owner 375,000,000 (L)Metes 2end 4) (2224 75%

(‘EPSHD") EsBAA

Shinyou KK Interest of a controlled corporation 375,000,000 (L)etes 2end 4) (2254 75%
X EEER

Y&G Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 375,000,000 (L)otes 2and 4 Hiét224) 75%
Rt EEER

Mr. Yan Hao ("Mr. Yan') Interest of a controlled corporation 375,000,000 (L)Metes 2end 4) (iz2%4) 75%
BEEE(REE]) Rt EEER

RIN HOLDING CO,, LIMITED Beneficial owner 100,000,000 (L)Motes 3 and 4 (i 324 20%

(‘RIN HOLDING') EnfEAA

TAIGA INDUSTRIAL CO, LTD Interest of controlled corporation 100,000,000 (L)Metes 3and ) (i34 20%
(‘'TAIGA INDUSTRIAL’) REHEEES

Mr. He Jun (‘Mr. He") Interest of controlled corporation 100,000,000 (L)Motes 3 and 4 2314 20%
AELE(A%E]) Rt EEER
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Notes:

1. As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
was HKS$5.0 million divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

2. EPS HD is wholly-owned by Shinyou KK, a company incorporated
in Japan which is owned as to approximately 69.19% by Y&G
Limited, also a company incorporated in Japan which is in turn
wholly-owned by Mr. Yan. Mr. Yan is also directly interested in
approximately 2.32% of the shareholding interest of Shinyou KK.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yan is deemed to be interested in these
shares held by EPS HD.

3. RIN HOLDING is 95% owned by TAIGA INDUSTRIAL, a company
incorporated in Japan which is in turn 93% owned by Mr. He. By
virtue of the SFO, each of TAIGA INDUSTRIAL and Mr. He is deemed
to be interested in these shares held by RIN HOLDING. These
shares refer to the consideration shares which may be allotted and
issued in the event of the capitalisation of consideration pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement dated 28 March 2023 and
entered into by the Company, RIN HOLDING and EPS Healthcare
Limited, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2023.

4. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
31 May 2017. The primary purpose of the Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible employees and other selected
participants as specified under the Scheme.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at the time
dealings in the Shares first commence on the Stock Exchange,
i.e. 50,000,000 Shares (representing approximately 9.58% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report), without prior approval from the Shareholders.
The Company may, subject to the issue of a circular, the
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules, refresh this
limit at any time to 10% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval. The total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being, without prior approval from the
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders or
independent non-executive Directors or any of their respective
associates as defined under the Scheme which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
under the Scheme already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
represent in aggregate in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued
share capital and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5.0
million must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HKS$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.
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Options may be exercised at any time from the date of
acceptance of the share option to such date as determined
by the Directors but in any event not exceeding 10 years. The
exercise price is determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of
the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share. No option has been granted since the adoption
of the Scheme and no option was cancelled during the financial
year ended 31 March 2024. The number of options available
for grant under the scheme mandate at the beginning and the
end of the financial year was both 50,000,000. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing on the date
on which the Scheme is adopted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered
into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 or
subsisted as at 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below and in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, no Director nor any connected
entity of a Director had any material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, subsisting during
or at the end of the year, nor had there been any contract of
significance entered into between the Group, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS'INTERESTSINCOMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Directors nor
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules), engaged in any business that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group, or had any other conflict of interest with the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, all of which are either a connected
transaction or a continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the connected transactions are summarised in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” below.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below and in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report, no other contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year, whether for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by any controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or
otherwise.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

EENHFER 2ED

BE_T_ME=-A=1T—HLFE  EF%
HEZENETAZEBREACERR LHAA)
*E%E%EE@KE@%i‘“%ﬁ?‘%ﬁ‘ﬁuﬁ%iﬁzﬁ
BB %ZET‘J%%‘ZE@ﬁ%IEEHEME
IERETES

BAME S R 3

AEEFAMN@E TR SFBERANFERE HF
MR RM S HE T _WE=A=+—
BIEFEEA @ ZEXFH R LEMRAUMERDN
RERZUFEMERS - A AFIEETE™M
HAIBUAENEERT °

B R RE
21— -

ERBRREEXRSE S 2B

RGZABRAR T X HEBER

BRTXHEHEERS | — B RAFREEME
WRMEEBPAWBEES - RERIFAEME
A AR A S EAE B QA SR A A R B A
TAMERAR AL EFEEMBERNSGO(T
i 2 AR R S A A E R R RAR
Al E A B QR RG S EAL) o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024
2023/2024 F3;

115



116

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Tenancy agreement between the Group and Firenze
Apparel Limited (“Firenze”)

On 8 January 2024, Speed Apparel (HK) Limited (“Speed Apparel
HK"), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a renewal
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”’) with Firenze
for the leasing of a property located at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong (the “Property”) to
the Group for a monthly lease payment of HK$100,000 from
1 February 2024 to 31 January 2026 (both days inclusive). The
Property was used as a head office and the principal place of
business of the Group in Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Tenancy
Agreement, Firenze agreed to pay management fee and
government rates and government rent. The monthly lease
payment under the Tenancy Agreement was determined on
an arm'’s length basis between the parties thereto by reference
to the prevailing market rates. The aggregate lease paid by the
Group under the Tenancy Agreement was HK$1,200,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$1,200,000).

Since Firenze is owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan Wing Kai ("Mr.
Chan"), being a director of Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited ("Speed
Apparel BVI"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Firenze
is considered as a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As such, the leasing of the Property by the
Group from Firenze under the Tenancy Agreement constituted
a continuing connected transaction of the Group under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Tenancy agreement between the Group and X ¥ 7K — A%k
At

Also, during the year, Speed Apparel Japan &[R4t (“Speed
Apparel Japan’), a subsidiary of the Group leased a property
from X N 7K — LKA 24, which is a management company
engaged by Yan Hao (controlling shareholder of ultimate
holding company) who is the ultimate beneficial owner of the
property. A renewal of tenancy agreement was entered into on
20 December 2023 for a monthly lease payment of JPY1,125,920
from 11 January 2024 to 10 January 2026. The property was used
as a business office in Japan. The monthly lease payment under
the tenancy agreement was determined on an arm’s length
basis between the parties thereto by reference to the prevailing
market rates. The aggregate amount of lease payment made by
the Group was JPY13,511,040 for the year ended 31 March 2024
(for the year ended 31 March 2023: JPY13,511,040). Yan Hao (“Mr.
Yan’) is considered as a connected person of the Group under
the Listing Rules. As such, the leasing of the property from the
management company which Mr. Yan is the ultimate beneficial
owner constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Since the aggregate annual consideration is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions under the tenancy agreements
with Firenze and & X 7R — LRI £ 4E fall within the de minimis
threshold and constitute de minimis continuing connected
transactions of the Group under Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, both tenancy agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder will be exempted from
the requirements of reporting, annual review, announcement,
circular and independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

CRO services arrangement

During the Reporting Year, the three (2023: four) PRC subsidiaries
of the Group provided CRO services to its ultimate holding
company’s subsidiaries and the total revenue in relation to the
CRO services provided by the three (2023: four) PRC subsidiaries
during the Reporting Year amounted to HK$3.8 million (2023:
HKS2.7 million).
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Sharing of administrative services expenses and services
costs arrangement

During the Reporting Year, five (2023: five) Japanese subsidiaries
of the Group shared administrative services expenses and services
costs with ultimate holding company and related Companies.
Administrative expenses and services costs incurred during the
year amounted to HK$20.6 million (2023: HK$25.0 million). The
transactions relating to the sharing of the administrative services
and services costs between the Group and its ultimate holding
company and related Companies are on a cost basis, and such
costs were identifiable in proportion to the services received by
the Group and had been allocated to the Group on a fair and
equitable basis. Accordingly, such transactions constituted fully
exempt continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.98 of
the Listing Rules.

Purchase of goods

On 27 July 2023, EP Trading, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the framework purchase
agreement (the “Framework Purchase Agreement’) with
EPS Americas Corp (“EPS USA"), pursuant to which EP Trading
has agreed to purchase, and EPS USA has agreed to sell the
pre-clinical animal testing consumables for the three financial
years ending 31 March 2026. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 July 2023.

During the Reporting Year, the total purchase of pre-clinical
animal testing consumables from EPS USA amounted to HK$19.2
million (2023: HKS$8.0 million).

EPS USA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS Holdings, which
is the controlling shareholder of the Company and hence a
connected person of the Company, is therefore a connected
person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
Hence, the transactions contemplated under the Framework
Purchase Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Engagement for CRO services

On 15 December 2023, EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan) Co.,
Ltd. (“EPSMC"), a subsidiary of the Company, EPS Corporation
and EP Mediate Co., Ltd ("EP Mediate”) entered into the CRO
services framework agreement (the "CRO Services Framework
Agreement’), pursuant to which EPS Corporation and EP
Mediate has agreed to provide the CRO services to EPSMC for the
three financial years ending 31 March 2026. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 December
2023.

During the Reporting Year, the service fee in relation to the
provision of CRO services from EPS Corporation and EP Mediate
amounted to HK$4.6 million.

EP Mediate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS Corporation,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPNextS, Inc., which is in
turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS Holdings, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. Hence, the
transactions contemplated under the CRO Services Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Incentive Agreement

On 6 March 2024, the Company entered into the incentive
agreement (the “Incentive Agreement’) with Mr. Chan, a
director of Speed Apparel BVI, pursuant to which Mr. Chan
has undertaken to the Company to procure to meet certain
performance targets in respect of the profits and revenue of
Speed Apparel BVI and its subsidiaries for the two financial years
ending 31 March 2026, the successful fulfillment of which would
entitle Mr. Chan to certain performance bonuses. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
March 2024.

Mr. Chan is a director of Speed Apparel BVI, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and is therefore a connected person
of the Company at subsidiary level. Hence, the transactions
contemplated under the Incentive Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, the Group has not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2024 which should be disclosed
pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above non-exempt and non-fully exempt
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company has engaged the auditor to issue a letter
confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the
above non-exempt and non-fully exempt continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company complies with the minimum
of public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no equity fund
raising by the Company, nor were there any proceeds brought
forward from any issue of equity securities made in previous
financial years.

As mentioned in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” below, the Company has entered into two subscription
agreements on 9 April 2024 in relation to subscription of new
Shares under general mandate. On 22 April 2024, (i) 10,080,645
shares were allotted and issued to KIRABOSHI CONSULTING CO,,
LTD. at the subscription price of HK$0.992 per Share; and (ii)
12,096,774 shares were allotted and issued to OHMI LLC (& [al=
#T3T)T) at the subscription price of HK$0.992 per Share (together,
the “Subscription Shares”), pursuant to the said subscription
agreements entered into with each subscriber, with an aggregate
nominal value of approximately HK$221,774. The net proceeds
from the issue of Subscription Shares of approximately HK$21.8
million are intended to be applied as general working capital
of the Group, out of which (i) approximately HK$18.0 million
(representing approximately 82.6% of the net proceeds) will
be used for research and development expenses of the Group
on the upfront investment-type of projects in the in-house
research and development business in order to accelerate those
projects; and (ii) approximately HKS$3.8 million (representing
approximately 17.4% of the net proceeds) will be used for
staff costs, professional fees, other general administrative and
operating expenses. The closing price of the Shares as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the date of the subscription agreements
was HK$0.98 per Share. The net price per Subscription Share
allotted and issued, which is calculated by dividing the aggregate
net proceeds by the total number of Subscription Shares based
on the subscription price of HK$0.992 per Share, is approximately
HK$0.98 per Subscription Share.
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The Directors consider that the raising of funds by the
subscription would be a long-term investment for business
collaboration and would help strengthen the financial position
by providing cash resources to fund its working capital and
to enable the Group to further pursue business opportunities.
Details of the subscription are disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 9 April 2024 and 22 April 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Waiver of notes

The revenue and profit after tax of the Group attributable to
the Garment Business for the year ended 31 March 2024 is
HK$466,977,764 and HKS$7,863,869 respectively while the targeted
revenue and profit is HK$240,000,000 and HKS$10,000,000
respectively.

As the profit after tax is lower than the guaranteed profit
pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 26 April
2021 (the "Agreement’) and entered into among the EPS
Holdings, Inc. (the “Purchaser”), Speed Development Co. Ltd (the
“Vendor”) and Mr. Chan Wing Kai (the “Guarantor”) in relation
to the sale and purchase of an aggregate of 375,000,000 ordinary
shares in the share capital of the Company, details of which are
set out in the composite document of the Company and the
Purchaser dated 26 May 2021 (the “Composite Document”),
the Vendor and the Guarantor were required to compensate
the Company by waiving a portion of the unsecured interest-
free non-transferrable notes due on 30 June 2023 issued by
Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in favour of the Vendor, pursuant to the terms and
conditions set out in the Agreement, details of which are set
out in the Composite Document. As such, HK$2,136,131 out of
HK$21,666,000 of the Notes will be waived.
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Subscription of new shares under General Mandate

On 9 April 2024, the Company has entered into two subscription
agreements with two subscribers for 10,080,645 and 12,096,774
ordinary shares of the Company respectively at subscription price
of HK$0.992 per Share. The net proceeds from the issue of shares
was approximately HK$21.8 million. The Group intends to apply
the proceeds as general working capital of the Group. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 9 April
2024 and 22 April 2024.

AUDITOR

KPMG resigned as the external auditor of the Group with effect
from 28 February 2023. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified
Public Accountants (“Deloitte”), has been appointed as the
external auditor of the Group with effect from 28 February 2023.
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 and 2024 were audited by Deloitte.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the
auditors of the Company in the preceding three years.

A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Shimada Tatsuji
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHBEHRE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
EPS CREATIVE HEALTH TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of EPS
Creative Health Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to 236, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
AR ESER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Revenue recognition in trading of apparel products
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We identified the occurrence and cut-off of revenue
recognition in trading of apparel products as key audit
matter due to revenue being one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and could be subject to
manipulation to meet targets or expectations, such as
profit and revenue guarantees.
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The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping terms
of each customer contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.
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Revenue from trading of apparel products is recognised
at a point in time when control of the goods has been
transferred to the customers in accordance with the
contractual arrangements and related agreed commercial
shipping terms. As detailed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements, the revenue from trading of apparel
products amounting to approximately HK$466,978,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
trading of knitwear apparel products included:
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obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal controls
over revenue recognition in trading of apparel
products;
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inspecting customer contracts, on a sample basis, to
understand key terms of sale transactions including
the terms of delivery and sale returns and assessing
if the related revenue was properly recognised in
accordance with such contractual terms and with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
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testing recorded revenue transactions on a sample
basis, against corresponding customer contracts,
goods delivery notes and shipping documents that
evidenced control of goods have been transferred;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

B EmE(4E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
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EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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testing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions recorded around financial year end
date had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period by tracing sales invoices, shipping
documents and the terms as set out in customer
contracts; and
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performing revenue analysis by products and
customers to assess the reasonableness of the
revenue recognised.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHBEHRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHBEHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chin Cheung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_IMF=A=+—HBItFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E_=fF
Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
Bt FET FETT
Revenue e 5 644,615 452,906
Cost of sales SHE RN (545,358) (385,059)
Gross profit FEAH 99,257 67,847
Other income, gains and losses Hag A - Wz R EBE 7 11,883 (261)
Research and development expenses 2% Sz (24,309) (13,040)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HRAX (48,819) (33,768)
Administrative expenses THAX (54,994) (63,144)
Loss from operations KEFTSEE (16,982) (42,366)
Finance costs R E R AR 9 (7,070) (5,795)
Loss before tax BrEi R E1E 8 (24,052) (48,161)
Taxation MIE 10 (2,444) (2,125)
Loss for the year FREE (26,496) (50,286)
Attributable to: AN ALTFEN
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE YN (22,066) (45,737)
Non-controlling interests SRR (4,430) (4,549)
Loss for the year FNEE (26,496) (50,286)
Loss per share BRESE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BN R #E (B 12 (4.41) (9.15)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS AIER B EBEARLA




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RelEakEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

ZENF=A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—RCNmEF —E =%
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TFET
Loss for the year FANERE (26,496) (50,286)
Other comprehensive (expense) income  FREMEE () K&
for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently B AJFEEF D IHEE 7.2
to profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETE 2 B R ERE
foreign operations (1,456) 388
Other comprehensive (expense) income  FREM2E (FX )z
for the year (1,456) 388
Total comprehensive expense for the year F A2 H X #%58 (27,952) (49,898)
Attributable to: AT ATRER :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE YN (22,284) (45,358)
Non-controlling interests SRR R (5,668) (4,540)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 TH X £ %8 (27,952) (49,898)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEBBRRE
At 31 March 2024
R-ZE-_WE=HA=+—H

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—E-MEF o S
=B=+—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Ktat FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment NN 14 5,561 3,387
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 4,087 2,666
Other financial assets Hihv e pEE 16 2,977 2,977
Goodwill Gl 17 49,040
Intangible assets EEEE 18 155,310
Refundable rental deposits AREIFAES LS 21 981 1,732
217,956 10,762
Current assets HREBEE
Inventories EA 19 15,747 16,871
Contract assets BHEE 20 985 2,786
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE AR ERIE 21 70,657 56,488
Tax recoverable Al Ug e F7 18 - 116
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITFR 22 9,000 9,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEEEY 23 115,540 131,471
211,929 216,732
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables and BHRHMBNRIBARE 24
accruals sER 52,084 34,347
Contract liabilities BHAEE 26 3,269 5,648
Amounts due to related companies  JE{ BFEE A B /TAIE 27 78,360 70,585
Amount due to ultimate holding JEN R AEAEIR A B FRIE 27
company 45,739 318
Amount due to non-controlling JE 1< FEH28 I e 25 RUIR 27
interests 11,759
Lease liabilities HERIE 25 2,606 2,564
Tax payable e IR 3,878 1,722
Bank borrowings RITEE 30 7,335 -
205,030 115,184
Net current assets BRBEE 6,899 101,548
Total assets less current liabilities AEERABARS 224,855 112,310

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRRE
At 31 March 2024
RZE-_WF=ZA=1+—H

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—E-MEF —T-o=F
=A=+—H =NER
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
KtaF FET FHET
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 25 1,512 141
Amounts due to related companies  FE{S B8EE A A15KIE 27 - 20,525
Amount due to non-controlling JE 1~ FEH2 Hﬂg\_ih 27
interests 50,204 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAE 29 34,957 -
86,673 20,666
Net assets FEE 138,182 91,644
Capital and reserves EXK#EE
Share capital AR 317 5,000 5,000
Reserves G 60,355 82,639
Equity attributable to owners RRATEBAEGER
of the Company 65,355 87,639
Non-controlling interests IRV o 35 72,827 4,005
Total equity RERBERE 138,182 91,644
The consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 243 were R EBI12E243BENGA MR RREBEET S

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

SHIMADA TATSUJI

BHE—
DIRECTOR
5=

\—7—PI|£E/\H +tE|TJ:t/E&TXTE$|J§X !
WHNATEEFRERRE

MIYANO TSUMORU
=5
DIRECTOR
EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_IMF=A=+—HBItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN TN 4
Retained
profits Non-
Share  Share  Special  Capital ~ Other Exchange (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses) Total interests  equity
REEA *ER
Bx RHEE HHEE &5RE EeRE EXRE  (RHER) &3 BE RE4E
HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tér TEn TEr FTEr TEn  TEr TEr TEn TR TEn
(Notei) ~ (Noteii) (Noteiii) (Noteiv]  (Notey)
(W) (Wdii) (W) (W) (Biev)
At 1 April 2022 R-F-_EWA-A 5000 47,656 17016 4000 3563 (676) 2681 131319 8545 139864
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - w37 s 4549 (50286)
Other comprehensive income Efp2ENE - - - - - 379 - 379 9 38
Total comprehensive income EnrEdE (Y88
(expense) for the year - - - - - 379 (5737 45358) (4540)  (49898)
Adjustment arising fom business R SR H 2 $HaH
combination under common LERAGRY
control {note fv) - - - - 5512 131 (3965) 1678 - 1678
At 31 March 2023 N-E-=E=A=1-H 5000 47,656 17,016 4,000 41,148 (166) (27,015) 87,639 4005 91,644
Loss o the year ERER - - - - - - (22,066)  (22,086)  (4430)  (26,496)
Other comprehensive expense At 2ERT - - - - - (218) - 218 (1,38)  (1.456)
Total comprehensive expense EMERTEE
for the year - - - - - (218) (22,066)  (22,284) (5,668)  (27,952)
Acquisiton of non-whollyowned K2 EHEHELR
subsidares (note 34 (HtsE34) - - - - - - - - TAA90 74490
At 31 March 2024 N_Z-mE=A=+-A 5000 47,656 17,016 4000 41,148 (384) (49,081) 65,355 72821 138182

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS AIER B EBEARLA




Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and proceeds received from
the issuance of the shares of the Company. The application of
share premium is governed by Section 34 of Cayman Companies
Act and the provision of the Company’'s memorandum and
articles association.

Special reserve represents the corresponding movements in
reserves of the Group as a result of the group reorganisation of
Speed Apparel Limited and Firenze Apparel Limited completed
on 1 February 2016. None of these entities formed part of the
Group but are held and controlled by Mr. Chan Wing Kai, the
then controlling shareholder of the Company at that time.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the one share of the Company issued as part of the
reorganisation to acquire Knit World International Limited (“Knit
World"), a subsidiary of the Company, from the then controlling
shareholder of the Company and the nominal value of the then
issued share capital of Knit World.

Other reserve represents (i) the shareholder contribution for
providing an interest free borrowings to the Company in
connection with sales and purchase agreement set out in note
34(b); (ii) the effect arising from the business combination
involving entities under common control on 26 April 2021; (iii)
the total consideration for the acquisition of the combining
entities of HK$8,842,000 which was settled through the current
accounts with the related companies and accounted for a
deemed distribution; and (iv) deemed contribution arising
from the wavier of amount due to a related company of
HK$ 14,354,000 in the book of the combining entities during the
year ended 31 March 2023. In addition, during the year ended

1 March 2023, there is dividend recognised as distribution by a
subsidiary under business combination under common control
before completion of acquisition of HK$3,965,000, which was
settled through current account with a related company.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

MEERBEXR
For the year ended 31 March 2024
ZE_E_ME=A=1+—HILFE

Hiat -

() B g BEEARRBRPEERETAR
MZAERIBZE 2 =5 fo%/ﬁiffZJEﬂ%
XASHERAERMGRANFEBER
KA R AR Z EFTRE e

(ii) 5 Bl 36 E Speed Apparel Limited & Firenze
Apparel Limited Z SEEBHNR —FT —RF =
A—ATKmMEBRAEBFEEE 2 EES
B  ZEERUAEE2AEXIS - 1EH
BN R A E R 2 IR AR R R oK R Se AR5 B
P2 o

(iif) BAREEBIEIEAEHR LD MEBETAEAR
A B 2 ¥ I I R B AN R B B 8 R Al Knit
World International Limited ([ Knit World]) Z
A A — IR 2 E{E BEKnit World & B B 2%
ITRAEBECZR -

(v)  EAEFEEOBRESM 340 Fﬁﬁ/\,jﬁ;
MARXABRREEEEEMELAIE : (VR
WA= Jr/\a/i& £ [F] 4% %'JE\L
MEBAHEENTE  (WREBAHEE
KB E8,842,000/8 7T + B F @ EL R A A
E’\Jfﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬁﬁjﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ{’ﬁﬁiﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ &
(VVREAHERBEE S _=—F=-A=+—
B IEFE RS AR % FE R B A B 3B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EC U4 T =%
HKS$’000 HKS000
FHET FEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Loss before tax BrEERTEE (24,052) (48,161)
Adjustments for: BRI SIBFEFRE -
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERRBITE
equipment 2,585 1,501
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 3,450 2,981
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEEHY 7,984 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREEZ
equipment &8 35 1
Finance costs B E RS 7,070 5,795
Fair value gain on financial liabilities at BRATESABGZEHREE
FVTPL pa/NS B 6 (16,059) -
Interest income FEWA (1,090) (190)
Operating cash flows before working LEESEYPHKLERENE
capital changes (20,077) (38,073)
Decrease in inventories FERL 8,608 2,777
Increase in trade and other B 5 K& H M FE UL SRIBE N
receivables (11,777) (1,606)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N BRI R ERT
and accruals & R (3,341) (1,751)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEERD (1) 1,801 (2,559)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BHEECRD)EM (2,379) 3,904
Cash used in operations KEFTRR® (27,165) (37,308)
Income tax paid E BTSN (1,400) (799)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES & & /EB)FTFAIR € F 58 (28,565) (38,107)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEW¥ - HE M&E (5,037) (2,409)
Placement of pledged bank deposit FABREMRITER - (9,000)
Payment of rental deposit xfNHEEE - (164)
Interest received 2 & 1,090 190
Net cash inflow/outflow on acquisition of ~WHEHBRARZIRERA Rt
subsidiaries (note 34) FEE(MI5E34) (16,456) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & & EBIATARIR & F 5 (20,403) (11,383)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTMRNER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEEFASHIA 7,335 3
Advances from related parties RaEE 5 AR 10,653 =
Repayment to related parties M) BA s N FE K (22,947) (18,267)
Repayment to ultimate holding company [ #x4 T “”“Tii/m - (4,045)
Advance from ultimate holding company — Fx4X¥ERR A B E K 46,427 ¥
Repayment of lease liabilities BREHEEAE (3,367) (3,083)
Interest paid ERTFLE (4,442) (2,360)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING MEEYEL(FTA)RESFRE
ACTIVITIES 33,659 (27,755)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND He RS EEMR LV FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (15,309) (77,245)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUNRe RIRSEFEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 131,471 208,141
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ERE ) s &
CHANGES (622) 575
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FEARMIRE RIS EEM
THE YEAR 115,540 131,471
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 19 November 2015. Its immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is EPS Holdings, Inc.
The address of the Company's registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business
of the Company is Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man
Lok Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "“Group”)
are principally selling knitwear apparel products to its
customers, specialised contract research organisation
(“CRO") and innovative research organisation (“IRO")
services performing in Japan and the People’s Republic of
China ("PRC"). The Group is also engaged in in-house drug
discovery and development. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is EPS
Holdings, Inc. a company incorporated in Japan with
limited liability, the issued shares of which were listed
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange until its subsequent
privatisation on 17 September 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountant (“"HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual
period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 8

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 "Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures
and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments in current year has no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
but has affected the disclosure of the Group's accounting
policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale of Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between the Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture!
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation

Amendments to HKAS 1

5 (2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

3.

— = —

—_—

ME=A=+—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements,
a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’'s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to the
ability to continue producing outputs, including
an recognize workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except
for transactions and events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that liabilities or equity
instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into
to replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition
date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred and, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

3.

— = —
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ME=A=+—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units ("“CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

3.
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ME=A=+—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of CGUs).

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contract with customer is provided in
notes 5, 20 and 26.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 “Leases” at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises and office
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received:;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever the lease term has
changed, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes other than properties construction in
progress as described below, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets, other than construction in progress
less their residual values, over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquiredin a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Intangible assets acquiredin a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible assets is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of assets other than
financial assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a
group of CGUs is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included
in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred as the Group does not have any qualifying
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
using exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of the exchange
reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (‘"HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial assets
or financial liabilities and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss ("ECL") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents) and contract assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

3.
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ME=A=+—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when the instrument
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer of
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probably that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
relevant financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. The Group usually writes off when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice when appropriate.
Any recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of each reporting period.

For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
income, gains and losses” line item (note 7)
as part of the net foreign exchange gains/
(losses);

For financial assets measured at FVTPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
income, gains and losses” line item as part of
the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of
financial assets (note 7).

Derecognition of financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies
and ultimate holding company are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the
foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the instruments.
These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the “Other income, gains and
losses” line item in profit or loss (note 7) as part of
net foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the applications of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates are based on the historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. As the future is inherently uncertain, actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed
below.

Estimated impairment of exclusive distribution
rights, unpatented technology, patents and goodwill

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of exclusive
distribution rights, patents, unpatented technology
and goodwill were approximately HK$85,196,000,
HK$1,858000, HK$68256000 and HK$49,040,000,
respectively. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
life are required to be tested for impairment annually and
intangible assets with definite life whenever there is an
indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. In
determining whether the group of assets are impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation
on whether the carrying value of CGU to which the group
of assets belong can be supported by a recoverable
amount, which is based on its value in use calculation.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the
relevant assumptions and inputs thereof. Changes in facts,
circumstances or estimations relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the recoverable
amounts.

Details of the recoverable amount calculations are
disclosed in notes 17 and 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE
Revenue from goods and services

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in
trading of apparel and healthcare products and provision
of healthcare services.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
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by major products is as follows: S ¢
2024 2023
it —E=F
HK$’000 HKS000
FET TET
Trading of apparel products ARFEEME
— Womenswear — 338,604 298,830
~ Menswear — 38K 117,833 68,995
~ Kidswear —BX 10,541 13,675
466,978 381,500
Trading of healthcare products REEME S 133,198 55,844
Provision of IRO and CRO services IR IR0 )2 CROAR TS 38,149 15,562
Revenue from contracts with customers 2 P& 4z 638,325 452906
Leasing of medical devices ERSWEE 6,290 =
Total st 644,615 452,906
Timing of revenue recognition: Yo 2 HE SR B ]
Over time R—EBREER 44,439 15,562
A point in time P JRE {IE B P B 600,176 437344
644,615 452,906
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from goods and services (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies

Revenue from trading of apparel and healthcare products
Revenue from trading of apparel and healthcare products
is recognised when the control of the products has been
transferred to the customers, being at the point the
goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location.
Transportation and other related activities that occur
before customers obtains control of the related good
are considered as fulfilment activities. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to
the customers as this represents the point in time at which
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon issuance of
invoice at product delivery.

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront
deposits ranging from 5% to 100% of total contract sum,
when the Group receives a deposit before the apparel/
healthcare products delivery, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount
of deposit.

Revenue from provision of IRO and CRO services

The Group provides IRO and CRO services to the
customers in Japan and PRC. Such revenue are recognised
as a performance obligation is satisfied over time because
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from goods and services (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies (Continued)

Revenue from provision of IRO and CRO services
(Continued)

The progress towards completing satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's effort in terms of inputs (i.e. direct staff costs and
other direct overhead costs incurred) to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
the best depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of products. Contract assets arise when the Group
has right to consideration for satisfaction of a performance
obligation under the relevant contracts, and the right
is conditioned on factors other than passage of time.
Contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables when
such right become unconditional other than the passage
of time. Invoices to the customers are issued upon the
milestones completed to date. The normal credit term
is 60 to 120 days upon the issuance of invoices to the
customers. Credit period of 180 days is granted to a
customer with whom the Group has a good relationship
and who is in sound financial condition. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits
ranging from 10% to 20% of total contract sum, when the
Group receives a deposit before the commencement of
healthcare services, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Revenue from leasing of medical devices

The Group engaged in medical device leasing. Rental
income is recogned on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations

All the Group's contracts with customers with unsatisfied
performance obligations have expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or satisfied) as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 is
not disclosed.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE
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BAEYNBEYETWERNRE - BZEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are
therefore as follows:

(a) Trading of apparel products (“Garment Business”)

(b)  Trading of healthcare products and leasing of
medical devices (“"Healthcare Products Business”)

(0) Provision of IRO and CRO services and In-house
R&D Business (“IRO with CRO and In-House R&D
Business”)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DWER
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBRKEERAZHRD BEID 2 Was
results by operating and reportable segment. REBSTWT ©
Revenue Segment profit (loss)
Wz 2 EER(E8)
2024 2023 2024 2023
—RomE —Fo=fF —2omME —T-—F
HKS’000 HKS000 HKS$’000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET
Garment Business BREE %75 466,978 381,500 7,069 7,198
Healthcare Products Business  {RIEE ¥ 139,488 55,844 7,711 (5,409)
IRO with CRO and In-House IRO K CROFN A 2F
R&D Business I X 38,149 15,562 (36,403) (34,281)
Total Bt 644,615 452,906 (21,623) (32,492)
Bank interest income IRITH BULA 39 190
Unallocated corporate RAOBEERST
expenses (2,330) (15,733)
Finance costs on HEREY
lease liabilities BE R AR (138) (126)
Loss before tax BREIATE R (24,052) (48,161)

All of the segment revenue reported above is from

external customers.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policy
described in note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the
profit earned/loss incurred by each segment without
allocation of bank interest income, unallocated corporate
expenses and finance costs on lease liabilities. This is
the measure reported to the Group’s management for
the purpose of resources allocation and performance

assessment.

RIS 2 B S BRI TR SN
=5 -

BN AR E DR & At IR B R 3P
AMARSEBEESTBRMAR o 2 85 (8
B)IEE D BR8N, EEZEE -
BRI ESRRITHEBRA - Rofcd
ERAXMEERBZBERAE o AR
BRAERRRFERNAEEEEER
EZETEIE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

As at 31 March 2024

oERE R (#)
PTHEERAEE

AEEZEERAIREDBED ZEE
REESWT

R-EB-MNFE=A=+—H

Healthcare IRO with CRO

Garment Products and In-House
Business Business R&D Business Consolidated

%2 IROK CROA
PR & 7% EmER RNIPHREK SE
HKS’000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FET
Segment assets DEEE 118,001 164,011 142,313 424,325
Other assets HEi&EE 5,560
Consolidated assets REBE 429,885
Segment liabilities NEEE 88,446 99,277 100,654 288,377
Other liabilities HMAE 3,326
Consolidated liabilities ReasE 291,703

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DWER
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHEEREE(E)
As at 31 March 2023 o= =EEE B =ae— (8
Healthcare RO with CRO
Garment Products and In-House
Business Business  R&D Business  Consolidated
RE IROKCROFIA
e EmER  EPEER R
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets DEPEE 124,144 31,821 44,397 200,362
Other assets HEmEE 27,132
Consolidated assets EBE 227,494
Segment liabilities NEPAE 99,823 17,593 15,538 132,954
Other liabilities HMAafE 2,896
Consolidated liabilities me8aE 135,850
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and MERSHRIAEN D EEDBEE R
allocating resources among segments: =

- All assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than certain property, plant and
equipment, other financial assets, certain other
receivables and deposits, tax recoverable and cash
and cash equivalents.

- All liabilities are allocated to operating and
reportable segments other than certain other

payables.

BRETYE BELRE  Eft
ETREE & THMEBKRER
Be -~ AIREREARRE KB
TEEBYI  MEEEGENEE
RENFREDE -

BETHEMEMNREN AR

BEORELERATmENE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_IMF=A=+—HBItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHEHR
Other Segment information Hithn & &R
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=ZA=+—H
IRO with
CRO and
Healthcare In-House
Garment Products R&D Segment
Business Business Business total  Unallocated Consolidated
%  IROKCROH
REXl  EREE ABWERE  AREH AR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEr FAr T FEr FEr FiEr
Amounts included in the measure of HENDEN (BRI HEER
seqment proft (loss) or segment assets ~ sTAZ 2%
Results or segment assets: SEINTEE:
Interest income HEMA 966 70 15 1,051 39 1,090
Interest expenses MERX 6,932 - - 6,932 138 7,070
Depreciation of property, plant and % BERRENE
equipment 512 1,920 148 2,580 5 2,585
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fEREEENE 2,258 - 649 2,907 543 3,450
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESHS - 7,984 - 7,984 - 7,984
Additions to property, plant and RENE  BERZHE
equipment 143 4,887 - 5,030 7 5,037
Additions to right-of-use assets REGRELE 3,545 - 1,436 4,981 - 4,981
Additions to intangible assets RERN AR - 94,497 71869 166,366 - 166,366
Additions to goodwil e - 19919 30,148 50,067 - 50,067

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS AIER B EBEARLA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. TEER®)
Other Segment information (Continued) HipaHMER(E)
As at 31 March 2023 o= =EEE B =ae— (8
[RO with
(RO and
Healthcare In-House
Garment Products RED Segment
Business Business Business total  Unallocated ~ Consolidated

{3 RORCROA
hExh  EnEE APRERE  28ER AR 54
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FAT FAT FAT FA1 Tir FET

Amounts included in the measure of HEAPETBR) AN HEER
seqment proft (loss) or segment assets ~ sTAZEHE

Results or seqment assets: 5EINTEE:
Interest income HMEKA - - - - 190 190
Interest expenses MERX 549 175 = 5669 126 5,79
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% BERIENE

equipment 825 504 169 1498 3 1501
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 2574 = = 2574 407 2981
Additions to property, plant and RENE - BRRRfE

equipment 81 267 36 2,384 25 2409
Additions to right-ofuse assets REGFREEE - - - - 1087 1087

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 181
2023/2024 F1R



182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

Fort

BHE

6.

he year ended 31 March 2024
ZEMF=A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographic information

The Group's operation of Garment Business, Healthcare
Products Business and IRO with CRO and In-House R&D
Business are located in Hong Kong, Japan and the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers and
information about non-current assets by geographical
location of the customers and assets respectively are set
out below:

DEER(®)

i & E &

AEBEZREER REERFEAR
IROKCROMAZ A EBESTE « HA
R EEE o

REERBINBEF 2 W kB BIER
HEEZENDREFREEME
BETIAT

Revenues from external

customers Non-current assets
REIMEBES 2 W FRBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EomE T4 ZRCDWE T =F
HKs’000 HKS'000 HKs’000 HKS'000
FHT FET FHET TFET
Hong Kong B 30,602 33,310 107,338 2,385
Japan B 214,703 206,784 105,376 2,574
Mainland China hE R 134,383 29,367 1,284 1,094
Europe M 71,688 48,492 - =
United States EH 191,125 131,191 - -
Other countries HEaEH=x 2,114 3,762 - -
644,615 452,906 213,998 6,053

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial assets. Kzt - ERBEETBIESREE

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.
Geographic information (Continued)
Revenue from major customers:

Revenue from customers individually contributed over

DEER (B
#EE R ()
KEETEEFZ NS :

FRR/ANEE 2 BN 8 R & B10% A

10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year are as FreEPRERT -
follows:
2024 2023
—EB-ME —EC=F
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
Customer A (from Garment Business) HEARBE REER) 242,753 186,712
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HMWA - WEREE
2024 2023
—EImEF —B=fF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Interest income FEWA 1,090 190
Sample sales income BRAHERA 1,589 922
Sundry income FEIERA 508 543
Government grant (note) AT Bh (B 57) 28 1,150
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER

plant and equipment w2 BB (35) (M
Fair value gain on promissory note due FEVERRE R E £ HIE H IR

to non-controlling interests N EWRE (HFE27(0)

(note 27(c)) 16,059 -
Loss on exchange difference, net b 5 518 58 (6,720) (1,213)
Others HAth (636) (1,852)

11,883 (261)
Note: For the year ended 31 March 2023, government grant Bzt - Bz —ES-—=F#=A=+—HI&F

represented the Employment Support Scheme launched
by the Hong Kong Government of approximately
HK$1,150,000.

& BUREBEE B BT H H R
¥ EIE B 491,150,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. MKRBAIEE
2024 2023
—T-mE ==t
HKS’000 HKS000
FHET FEIT
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 2,000 1,600
Staff costs (including directors’ BINAN(BIREESZHM)
emoluments)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits —#He TENREMEF 52,252 52,864
— Contributions to retirement —RIRBFIET B R
benefits schemes 2,088 2,228
Total staff costs BT A4 54,340 55,092
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAERYNFERA
an expense 508,455 363,359
Depreciation of property, Y - BENREETE
plant and equipment 2,585 1,501
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREERE 3,450 2,981
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 7,984 -
14,019 4,482

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCE COSTS 9. MEMRAE
2024 2023
—E-EF —T=F
HKS’000 HKS000
FHT FET
Interest expenses on: BB ERAX
Factoring of trade receivables 2 5 EWFIRRE 3,991 2,234
Bank borrowings RITEE 313 E
Amounts due to related companies FEASH R B A A F0E 2,628 3,435
Lease liabilities HERE 138 126
7,070 5,795
10. TAXATION 10. HIE
Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss REBRRANZHIER
represents:
2024 2023
—E_E TE-=4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
The taxation comprises: MIEEE
Current tax: BVEARRIE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBMEHR
Charge for the year FRXH 4,964 1,461
Overprovision in respect of prior year @ F/EHBEEEE (36) =
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B {h S FTIS AR
Charge for the year FAH 23 43
Overprovision in respect of prior year — B{F & [E HBEAEE (105) (281)
Japan Corporate Income Tax AN FEFTEH
Charge for the year FREZH 67 940
Overprovision in respect of prior year @ F/E B A (1,152) =
3,761 2,163
Deferred tax credit for the year (note FNIRLEFLIBER & (F2729)
29) (1,317) (38)
2,444 2,125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

10.

—E-_NE=A=1+—HBItFE

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKS2
million of the estimated assessable profits of one of
the subsidiaries of the Company and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HKS$2 million under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The assessable profits
of group entities not qualified for the two-tier profit tax
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”’) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Under the rule of Japan Corporate Income Tax, the tax
rate of the Japan subsidiaries is 30.62% for both years.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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B A Al T FE SR % F 2 & 2,000,00058
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(AT ERTUER AR 165%:1E - TFAE
MARFERREGENEEE B ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between tax expense and loss before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss at

applicable tax rates:

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

10. ﬁlﬁ(%ﬁé)

?ZE@E%%RWETEZ%EE :

BREXRARERRERFE ZHAR

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Loss before tax BRIRIEE (24,052) (48,161)
Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% RS %16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (ZZBZ=%F : 165%)
AHEZHIA (3,969) (7,947)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ “NAJ T X RS2 &
for tax purpose 1,856 3,851
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBBA 2 RIE 2
for tax purpose (2,995) (32)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised mARMER IR
M E 15,878 9,108
Utilisation of tax loss previously not BRI RIARMER 2 T IBE 1B
recognised (808) -
Overprovision in prior year iﬁﬁ&ift%ﬁﬁéﬁ (1,293) (281)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBIEERZE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARTREME
jurisdictions 72 (6,060) (2,409)
Tax effect of profit two-tiered tax rate ~ MARFR R 2 T iF e & (165) (165)
Income tax expense PSR 2 2,444 2,125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 11. EE - ES5THA B R{EES
EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration EERESITHRAEHM
The emoluments paid or payable of the fifteen (2023: ten) ENSENTFTTRAB(ZZE_=F: +
directors are as follows: BIMESHBIOT

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other scheme
Fee benefits contributions Total
ek EBIRER
ue H {338 F sHEIH R et
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET F#ET
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Okoso Satoshi® AAERAAED - 407 - 407
Mr. Gao Feng® g S A - 352 8 360
Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo®  SRMEB L L - 242 - 242
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =EEHRELE - 357 - 357
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro AIEE AL A - 182 - 182
Mr. Shimada Tatsu;ji® SHE A - 84 - 84
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak® HERELES - 1,194 21 1,215
Mr. Miyazato Hiroki® = ERRRE L - 25 - 25
Non-executive Directors FH{TE=
Mr. Xia Xiang Ming®© EMREEO 60 - - 60
Mr. Kusaba Takuya"” BBt A 24 - - 24
Mr. Yan Ping?” B RAED 25 - - 25
Independent non- BIYFEHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Taguchi Junichi® HAE—%4E® 120 - - 120
Mr. Choi Koon Ming 2R A 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho =t 120 - - 120
Mr. Saito Hironobu® PN b 55 - - 55
524 2,843 29 3,396

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =



11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

(1) Resigned as Executive Director and the chief executive of
the Company with effect from 1 November 2023.

) Resigned as Executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(3) Resigned as Executive Director with effect from 20 March
2024.
(4) Appointed as Executive Director and the chief executive

of the Company with effect from 1 November 2023.

(5) Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023. Mr. Chiu Chun Tak serves the Group as
employee under a subsidiary before being appointed
as Executive Director, the amount above represents his
annual salary package.

(6) Resigned as Non-executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(7) Appointed as Non-executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(8) Resigned as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2024.

9) Appointed as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 November 2023.

11.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=—A=1+—HIFE
EE  BETBRAEREESHMH

(&)

EERBETHRASHMNE)

Kz -

M BT _=F+—- A HEFELQ
BITEE RITRAEE °

®) BT _=F+— A HERENT
B= -

3) BT -E=H -+ HEBEHT
=

@) BT _=51+—-A-HERZES
ARBRITESE RITHAAE -

G BIE_=Ft+—A—HEEZER
HITES - BEBEEENEZERH
TESH - BEAKE—HHNEARR
EERE  LHESWAEFH -

6) B - =—F+— A —HEBITIFEH
TEE o

) BT _=F1+—-A-HEEZER
FERTES -

®) B-Z UGN A —HERIBIIE
WMiTEE -

©) BT _=F+—-A-HERZEA
BUIFATES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 11. &%  BE5THRAERE S I b
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration EENBETHAEHFME)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_Z-_=F=A=+—RHIFE

Salaries and Retirement
other benefits scheme
Fee benefits contributions Total
Fak RIKRET
e H A B 4t
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FHET
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Okoso Satoshi® RARRAED = 725 = 725
Mr. Gao Feng (S 3E - 1335 18 1,353
Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo RNERB LA - 555 - 555
Mr. Miyano Tsumora® =HBEELE - 433 2 433
Mr. Maeaki Masahiro® AR E A A - 232 — 232
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Liang Fei® RIEFTHED 34 - - 34
Mr. Xia Xiang Ming® BEm#AEES 82 - - 82
Independent non- BIAEHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Taguchi Junichi HRZ—%4E 120 — — 120
Mr. Choi Koon Ming AR A 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PR 2 S 120 = = 120
476 3,280 18 3,774

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF



11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

(1) Appointed as Executive Director and the chief executive
of the Company and his remuneration disclosed above
included those for services rendered by him as chief
executive with effect from 12 July 2022.

) Resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 12
July 2022.

(3) Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 12 July
2022.

4) Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 22
August 2022.

(5) Appointed as Non-executive Director with effect from 12
July 2022.

Five highest paid individual

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
(2023: one) is a director whose emoluments are set out
above. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

11.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE

EE BESTHRAERESHMN

(&)

EERBETHRASHMNE)

Kt -

(1) BE-E - —F+At+_HEEZTA
ARAEMITESRITHER ERE
XTI R B E N R TR R B AT T B AR
F R RMEIRS T AT FEN o

) BT - S+ A+ _H#EETIEHR
TESE -

3) BE-E-_—_F+A+_HRBEZEA
WITES -

4 BE-E-__FNA-t+t-_HEEZT
BWITES -

(5) B+t A+_HEEZTA
IEMITES -

LTERESEHFMAL

EFReSFMOREZALTY  —R(ZZE=

=F:—R)BEEF EFMR LEXE
EoHMmUZ(ZE—_=F : UZ)EA

other four (2023: four) individuals are as follows: B asEmn T
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Salary and other emoluments e REMBE 4,012 4,272
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIE R 77 72
4,089 4,344

The emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

FMERESOHMOA(ZT =5 : OF)E

ARFBE T HIEERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 11. &%  BE5THRAERE S I b

EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
Five highest paid individual (Continued) TEREEMAL(E)
Number of individuals
N |
2024 2023
—EB-MEF ZEZ=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T 2 1,500,000/ JT - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 1
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments HE-_ZT-_WF=B=+—HILFE -
(2023: nil) were paid by the Group to any of the directors NEFWE(ZCE =4 #)AEE=
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join ERHaTmA T EMNE - 1EA
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of MAREF S INARNER %R 7 B B
office. BrE o
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREE
Basic loss per share BREXRESE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the FRERERNEETIEREKAREAS AE
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company {5 N B8 49 22,066,000 .( —Z & =
of approximately HK$22,066,000 (2023: HK$45,737,000) =4 14573700080 ) R E KRB BT
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 500,000,0000% ( == = = £ : 500,000,000
500,000,000 (2023: 500,000,000) in issue during the year. A% EBAT 2 nEE e E o
Diluted loss per share BREBEEE
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did HE_T-_NMFERZTE-_=F=HA=+
not have any dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding —BIEEE r AR T E AT
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. TN BB E L @I - W EZEYE
IREEEEE -
13. DIVIDENDS 13. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 HE_T-_OMFER_FT-_=F=A=+
March 2024 and 2023, nor has dividend been proposed —HItFEE @SR EZIRMNK
since the end of reporting period. B BEHmEHAREHERZZ RN
é\ o

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_ZT_NF=A=+—HILFE
14. V¥  BERRXRE

Machinery,
furniture
Leasehold and office Medical
improvement equipment Devices Total
o e~ RAR m .
MEMEEE WA BESEW st
HKS 000 HKSO00  HKSQ00  HKS000
S FExT  FET  FETL
CosT PES
1 April 2022 (restated) MZT=__FMH—H
_(&g=51) 2,558 7,156 - 9,714
Additions e - 2409 - 21409
Disposals e (23) - (23)
Fxchange difference bE = - (108) - (108)
At 31 March 2023 R_Z_=F=A=+—H 2,558 9,434 - 11,992
Transfer RN - (2,310) 2310 =
Additions INEL - 309 4,728 5,037
Disposals e - (70) - (70)
Fxchange difference bE R (132) (282) (414)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_N&E=A=+—H 2,558 7,231 6,756 16,545
ACCUMULATED RitiE
DEPRECIATION
1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—FmWA/—H 2,558 4,633 = 7,191
Charge for the year FNH0RR = 501 = 1,501
Written back on disposals & KDl - (22) (22)
Fxchange difference bE R (65) (65)
At 31 March 2023 R-_ZE_=F=A=+—H 2,558 6,047 8,605
Transfer BERE = (435) 435 -
Charge for the year FAH0RR = 738 847 2,585
Written back on disposals & K [El = (35) = (35)
Exchange difference bE R - (80) 91) a7
At 31 March 2024 AZEZNFE=RA=+—H 2,558 6,235 2,191 10,984
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-_MFE=A=+—H - 996 4,565 5,561
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=A=+—H - 3387 - 3387
The above items of property, plant and equipment, after HiiEx - BEREERE ELE
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on BRIGEER - DERANTFERER
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: ERTE
Leasehold improvement Over the period of the relevant MEYEEE EAABEHE B SF
I%ase or 5 years, whichever is (AERRRE RZE)
shorter
Machinery, furniture and 20% per annum ez - RAR BF20%
office equipment NG -
Medical devices 20% — 33% per annum B BF20%E33%
The Group leases out a number of medical devices under AEBEREBELE2HELHE TEES
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial Woo FIFHEEE R —ETF o FﬁﬁT
period of one to ten years. None of the leases includes eEnreEgglse -

variable lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FAREEE
Office premises
leased for own use
ERAHEE
WA ELZAT
HKS000
FET
CoST B2
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_FPA—H 5,399
Additions INE 1,087
Exchange differences PE X Z=%E (215)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=A=+—H 6,271
Additions NE 4,981
Eliminated upon lease expired EN Vel (4,895)
Exchange differences MEHZERE (260)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ZWE=HA=+—H 6,097
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEHiE
At 1 April 2022 R-ZT-_—FP@PA—H 636
Charge for the year F PR 2,981
Exchange differences MEHZERR (12)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H 3,605
Charge for the year F R 3,450
Eliminated upon lease expired T E Em R (4,895)
Exchange differences PEH =58 (150)
At 31 March 2024 R-EZNF=A=+—H 2,010
NET BOOK VALUE BREFE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_NWE=A=+—H 4,087
At 31 March 2023 RZTE-Z=F=H=+—H 2,666
The office premises leased for own use are depreciated BRAMEEHAZTEMNEESHRITE -

over the leased terms of the lease.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15. EABEE®
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases RERANEREEEHEBNRAXIER D
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: AT -
2024 2023
b it 2 —E_=F
HK$’000 HKS000
FET TH#T
Depreciation charge TEEA
- Office premises leased for own use —BAEER QTS 3,450 2,981
Interest on lease relating HERBEEERNE
liabilities 138 126
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ REHEEZMAX 1,148 3,449

Expense relating to leases of low-value HIEEEEZEEHE(TEIE
assets, excluding short-term leases of  KEEEEMEHHEE

low-value assets B 5 5
Total cash outflow for leases MER ML E 4,871 6,663
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets and = {EFH%%F//J“E&TH%E%’
lease liabilities were approximately HK$4,981,000 (2023: B #) R 4,981,000 m( ZF = = F:
HK$1,087,000) and HK$4,967,000 (2023: HK$1,072,000) 1087000i§7E)Zi4967000/a7E(__2?__
respectively. =4 : 1,072,000 7T) °
For both years, the Group leases various offices for its RREFE  AEBARHEEHEET
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term WAE - HESHNZETHEMFL]
of two years. AVARS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE
HitemEE

16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 16.

On 30 August 2021, the Group entered into a limited
partnership agreement, pursuant to which the Group, as
a limited partner, has undertaken to invest JPY100,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,100,000) in the limited
partnership (“The Limited Partnership”).

The Limited Partnership has been established in Japan
under the Limited Partnership Act for Investment and the
principal objective is to invest in startups, early-stage, and
emerging companies that have high growth potential in
industries such as healthcare, intelligent manufacturing,
technology, and consumer services. The Limited
Partnership will be managed by a general partner.

The directors of the Company considered the Group
has neither significant influence nor joint control over
the Limited Partnership and therefore it is classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in
accordance with the requirements under HKFRS 9. Details
of the transaction have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 August 2021.

As at 31 March 2024, the unpaid capital commitment on
investment in the Limited Partnership is JPY50,000,000
(equivalent to HK$2,585,000) (2023: JPY50,000,000
(equivalent to HK$2,945,000)).

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
are no change in the fair value on the Limited Partnership.

Details of the fair value measurement are set out in note
33.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

RZZE-_—FNA=1+H x&EEDE]
VEREGEEWZ Bt - 25B(EA
ERABANCERFERNEREELE(SA
REBA%¥ ) E100,000000H B (HE
A #97,100,000/8 7T ) °

BEREBEEDRELimited Partnership
Act for Investment® R HZARRKY - = EH
EAEmERRE - TERE - BRI EE
BUERBETEEESRERE N 21
gl - YHRFHEARIRMHEE - ARE
BTERBLBEMAER o

ARAEZERR  AEEHERAR
CEIBEBRATES » HELXFEG
& - R RIERBMEREELFE R
REBESBERBAFEAANBRZS
BMEE - AR ZIFRERAR A HE
BB —F)\A=THZAERKE -

RZZTE-_MF=ZA=+—H8 ' KEREF
fRA& B 1% 2 R E A HHE A50,000,000
BE (81 #92,58500087T) (ZE ==
£ 1 50,000,000 H [El (F8E 1 #92,945,000/%8
JT)) °

BE_Z_NMEER-_T-_=F=-A=+
—BLEFE  BRABERZAFEMR

BRAQFEFENFTENMME?S -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

17. GOODWILL 17. BE
HKS000
TF#ET
Cost and carrying values B K BRE{E
Arising on acquisition of a Wi — I B A RIFTEE A (A A 34)
subsidiary (note 34) 50,067
Exchange Difference ME =50 (1,027)
At 31 March 2024 RZZB_MFE=A=+—H 49,040

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and
unpatented technology with indefinite lives set out in
note 18 have been allocated to two individual CGUs,
comprising (i) Taiga Group (defined in note 34) and (ii)
Biotube (defined in note 34).

The carrying amounts of goodwill and unpatented
technology with indefinite useful lives (net of accumulated
impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

BEARENME - BEKLMFE18FT
HEAERBAFEAFHIEENENE »
@Eiﬁmliﬁﬁéiﬁﬁlﬁ BN () AR &=
B (ExERBKsE34) o X(i) Biotube (EF&
R HizE34) -

DEEZFEMNHE M AERAEH
FRZ IFFEF M REELR T

Unpatented
Goodwill 2024 technology 2024_r
Gk IEF IR

—FHFE —ETHF

HKS'000 HKS000

FET FHET

Taiga Group RNAEE 19,629 =
Biotube Biotube 29,411 68,256
49,040 68,256

In addition to goodwill and unpatented technology above,
property, plant and equipment (including allocation of
corporate assets) that generate cash flows together with
the related goodwill and unpatented technology and
other intangible assets are also included in the respective
CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of Taiga Group has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period, and pre-tax discount rate of 19.34%. Taiga Group
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 2.0% long-term growth rate. This growth
rate does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the
PRC market in which Taiga Group operates.

SURERHEBRME - bR DapE Ik
BRI EXRSRENDE - K
EhREB(BRESENEREE) &
[F76 B 2 MR B R BT A S EL At S T
BENHABBREELSEMA -

RNAEER R E 5T EEREER
Zﬁ/f?ﬁ °© Exﬁ'kk K F E’jiﬁﬂimuilﬁ
BITREBEEEMEN T FRY KRS
K 1934% T AT AL IR FAGH o Ko KB
BRFHNRERERAREN20%K
Hﬁiﬁﬁ“??&*” % I8 = IR A R 3 AR

ELEMENFETSHRAEREK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

17.

18.

—E-_NE=A=1+—HBItFE

GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 17. BE®
The recoverable amount of Biotube has been determined Biotube®) AI Y B & RE TR B ETE
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses FAEEBTE - ZtEHEANBERERA
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved DIREEREIEN T FHMERE R
by management covering a five-year period, and pre- 22.05%FE AT AR IR E1GH © Biotube BB R
tax discount rate of 22.05%. Biotube cash flows beyond FHMBRESRERABEN 1 .6%KHIHE
the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 1.6% REHH - ZEREIW B iBBiotube sk
long-term growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed EMEN BRI REERE -
the long-term growth rate for the Japan market in which
Biotube operates.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, management of BHE_ZT_NF=A=1T—HILFE -
the Group determined that there was no impairment on AEEEREEETHARSEAELNMIT
each of the relevant CGUs. Management of the Group ERE AEEBEERR  ZF5FER
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of HIREMSEAEEESHH TS EREH
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount ReEFsBEUNREERBRANEAREE
of the relevant CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of A BRI REISEE ©
the relevant CGU.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BIEE
Exclusive
distribution Unpatented
rights Patents  technology Total
BER D iHE BN EEFRSM #HE
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000
FET FET FHET FHET
AT COST B
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ YEEMIB AR (HfiE34)

(note 34) 94,497 1,904 69,965 166,366
Exchange difference MEHZERE (1,376) (46) (1,709) (3,131)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_MF=A=+—H 93,121 1,858 68,256 163,235
AMORTISATION AND B RE

IMPAIRMENT
Provided for the year FREE 7,984 i - 7,984
Currency realignment Ve 5 (59) = = (59)
At 31 March 2024 R_ZE_MFE=A=+—H 7,925 - - 7,925
CARRYING VALUES RmEE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_MFE=A=+—H 85,196 1,858 68,256 155,310

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. BFEE®)
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis B EAERBERERER NS HAR A
over the following periods:
Exclusive distribution rights 10 years BR 5 105
Patents 17 years E 174
Unpatented technology Not amortised FEF Ml s =
Exclusive distribution rights represent an exclusive rights BRDHERE —RHEEEEI L 10FH
with a supplier to trade healthcare products in the PRC for AR EETERREEMRE HRVERN o
10 years.
Unpatented technology is acquired during the acquisition FE A F My 5 7S W B — FE BT )88 2 BB B
of a subsidiary. The unpatented technology will not be WHE - RIFEAIEAFHERERFR
amortised until their useful life is determined to be finite, (BEMBEARABRTKERGE) &
initiating by the completion of confirmatory clinical trial. BIZEE A~ T#dE o
Particulars regarding impairment testing of intangible BREREENREANRAFBERIE7
assets are disclosed in note 17. W= -
INVENTORIES 19. FE&
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET T#ET
Raw materials R R 1,836 1,803
Work-in-progress R 1,984 1,678
Finished goods BURX in 11,927 13,390
15,747 16,871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

20.

—T_ME=ZA=+—HBILFE

—_—

CONTRACT ASSETS 20. ENEE
2024 2023
—ENE et St
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FETT
Contract assets from provision of FEHIRO KX CROAR TS HY
IRO and CRO services BREE 985 2,786

As at 1 April 2022, there are contract assets amounted to
approximately HK$227,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration from the customers for the tailoring
provision of IRO and CRO services. Contract assets arise
when the Group has right to consideration for the work
completed under relevant contracts and their right is
conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables upon
the delivery and acceptance of products by customers.

Typical payment terms are 60 to 120 days upon delivery.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note
33

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

R-E-_FWMA—H  AYEEEBAE
#9227,000/8 7T ©

BHEETRZRMAASERRERISER
& IR0 K2 CROAR 15 1) & = U B (B 2 7
- BRNEERNAEBARRGSRER
AR TIEMH(E - BREHRE
T 78 LA B [ 7 2 DA S ) (R 35 73 1R 1 By EE
£ BRNEEREFPRMNMEMEME
BREE SRR -

—RRI R R H1R602 1208 -

AEBRZEENEESBRRRDE
E RARAKEEBEHNLELERBH
(BREMRBRT —EAR)BEFAE

B .
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B RHEMBWFIE
2024 2023
—T-mE —
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Trade debtors, net of loss allowance JE B SR (FNBR S 1E R ) 46,835 34,593
Bills receivable U E I 947 4,792
Deposits and other receivables Y N B Ath e U FRI8 16,948 14,680
Prepayments SN 6,908 4,155
71,638 58,220

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MMERESNTA -
Current assets MENEE 70,657 56,488
Non-current assets FEREE 981 1,732
71,638 58,220
As at 1 April 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables RZEZ—_FWHA—H  BFENESE
from contracts with customers was HK$27,802,000. 2B SR GRIAR BREE A27,802,0007
TE o

As at 31 March 2024, trade debtors of HK$46,835,000 (2023:
HK$34,593,000) comprised receivables from contracts
with customers and lease receivables of HK$46,325,000
(2023:HKS34,593,000) and HKS$510,000 (2023: nil),
respectively.

The Group's credit terms on Garment Business and
Healthcare Products Business generally range from 30
to 90 days, while allows an average credit period of 60
to 120 days to its customers of the provision of IRO and
CRO services. Credit period of 180 days is granted to a
customer for the IRO and CRO services with whom the
Group has a good business relationship and who is in
sound financial condition.

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

R-ZE-_NF=A=1+—H - BKER
46,835,000 (B - =4 : 34593000

BL)EEEFAENEEZRKK
46,325,000 T(ZE = =F : 34593000
BT ) K YR & FI8510,00008 T( =
T )

AEEREEBLRREEREBZEE
HAPR — MR T F30290H © 4 FHIROK
CROBRBEF 2 EEHR F19560E 120
H - BAKEARRIFEBFHEREPBEAM
%EﬂZlRo&CRoHEﬂ‘%EJﬁﬂ?ﬁmo
HZ{EEH

BHIFAE 5 LA REFRIBESRRN —F
AU E KR AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_Z_ME=A=+—HIEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

21.

B R EHMEWRIE®)
R 2 AT

BERSHR  HERAHPEI LR
R 2 EUWARR 2 R DTN T ¢

2024 2023

—T-mEF ZT=F

HKS’000 HKS'000

FET FHET

1 - 30 days 1%£30H 21,858 19,203
31 - 60 days 31E60H 5,749 3,447
61 - 90 days 61290H 7,254 9,462
Over 90 days 90H K 11,974 2481
46,835 34,593

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HKS$5,344,000 (2023:
HK$6,573,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date. Out of the past due balances, HK$1,234,000 (2023:
HK$93,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default. With reference to the historical
records, past experience and also available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information to those
customers, the directors of the Company do not consider
these receivables as credit-impaired as these customers
have a good business relationship with the Group and
recurring overdue records of these customers with
satisfactory settlement history.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 33.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

N-_ZE_WME=A=+—0 X£EEZ
B HRENFGEREREREHGT - B
BRI AR BB 45,344,000 TT( — T - =4 :
6,573,000/ 7T ) < FEW IR X - i ZRIER
FRREBHE B - waEgsRT
12340008 T( =T = =4F : 93,000%7T)
DEEAo0 A IA F - BIWIERMAEL o
K2EZEXPFPHNELEHR  BELK
BARTESHNAEREKEREESE
B RAREEW TR BZSREWHE
BEHBEERE  ERAZEREFPEN
SEERRITXBHER  BZERFEH
KRB HA R SR RN LB SRR BRIRAE o
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22,

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group entered into two banking
facilities agreements with the amount in aggregate up
to approximately HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$20,000,000).
Bank deposits of HK$9,000,000 (2023: HK$9,000,000) was
pledged to secure the facilities as at 31 March 2024.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest rates with a
range from 0.98% to 4.2% (2023: 0.6% to 3.8%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits are set out in note 33.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short term deposits with original maturity less than three
months for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term
cash commitments

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances of approximately
HK$25,105,000 (2023: HK$39,922,000), HKS$2,561,000 (2023:
HK$15,375,000), HK$36,000 (2023: HKS$1,048,000) and
HKS$17,000 (2023: HKS$45,000) are amounts denominated
in HKS, Japanese Yen ("JPY"), USD and Renminbi ("RMB")
respectively, the currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group entities.

The bank balances carry interest rates with a range from
0.1% to 4.3% (2023: 0.1% to 5.4%).

Details of impairment assessment of cash and cash
equivalents are set out in note 33.

22,

23.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

B FRITIFR
R-F_ME=A=+—8 ' "&E7]
VMNRTRERS 2B RSNR

2ooooooo,%m(_7__¢ 20,000,000
fETTT_ 9000000,%75(_ = __¢
9,000,000/ 7T ) E/EHIR - LAKIRZ SR
ﬁf o

BERBBEITFERIEN T098%E42% (=
T _=1F : 06%E3.8%)FFRTE o

EHERRITES
330

ReERRATEEY

Re kB2 FEYWBERRN
RHREFREHERK
R={8R zE8FHK -

X H) L (B AT A 7 15 B0 PR

Vim e AN E
RE|ER D

RZE-_NF=ZA=+—H  B&Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

24. TRADEAND OTHERPAYABLESAND 24. EFRHMENREUREFTE
ACCRUALS H

2024 2023

—E-EF —E-=F

HKS’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Trade payables =) ANE/ O 32,880 22,406

Accrued staff costs JEET B TN 1,163 1,175

Accrued expenses FEET RS 9,020 5,034

Other payables E b e 508 9,021 5,732

52,084 34,347

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables T ARSRERBEEE A BEH 2

presented based on the invoice date at the end of
reporting period.

B 5 RNFIRNRER DM

2024 2023

—E-mEF —TE=F

HKS$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

1 - 30 days 1£30H 17,957 19,848
- 60 days 31260H 10,619 1,413

61 — 90 days 61290H 1,190 -
Over 90 days 90H K 3,114 1,145
32,880 22,406

The credit period ranges from 30 to 45 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

Trade and other payables of approximately HK$2,926,000
(2023: HKS$4,271,000) were denominated in RMB against
USD as at 31 March 2024, the currency other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =

EEBMNF30E458 - NEE B HIEH
BRBREBEER - UHERHAERENKIE
AL -

RZZE-_WNF=ZA=+—8 " BHY
2,926,000 70( ZF = =4 : 4,271,000
TTIZE S REMBERFIEUARE R E
TLEHE - MABBEKIIEZEBERE Y



25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEASE LIABILITIES

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—HIFE

25. HEESE

2024 2023
—T-mE —
HKS’000 HKS000
FHET FEIT
Lease liabilities payable: ERNHEERE :
Within one year R—FKN 2,606 2,564
Within a period of more than BB —FETEARFER
one year but less than two years B A 1,512 141
4,118 2,705
Less: Amount due for settlement B RRBA AR TR
with 12 months shown under 1218 A R B BREE IR
current liabilities (2,606) (2,564)
Amount due for settlement after RIERENBEE THIRA
12 months shown under 1218 A& B HR(E 8 3R
non-current liabilities 1,512 141
Lease liabilities that are denominated in currencies other NEEEEB 2 EEUINEETE
than the functional currencies of the respective group ZHEREFHIWT :
entities are set out below:
2024 2023
“EE —Eo=F
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Denominated at HK$ against USD BT HETEE 2,051 990
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates HEEEREMAINETISE S EZHF =X
applied to lease liabilities range from 3.7% to 8.1% (2023: NF37%ZE81% (T -_=F : 28% %2

from 2.8% to 5.8%).

5.8%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. EHAE
2024 2023
—E U o = el o
HKS’000 HKS'000
FHET FEIT
Contract liabilities from trading of RERKEME SR

apparel products BHEE 216 1,572

Contract liabilities from healthcare RERBERNEHNEE
products 822 110

Contract liabilities from provision of IRO 2K B H2#£IRO & CROARTE &Y
and CRO services aHaE 2,231 3,966
3,269 5,648

As at 1 April 2022, the carrying amount of contract
liabilities was approximately HK$1,744,000.

Contract liabilities are classified as current liabilities
because the Group expects to settle them within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit before the garment
and healthcare products delivery, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit. The Group receives a 5% to 100%
deposit on acceptance of orders for trading of garment
and healthcare products from certain customers.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

RZE-__FWMA—H A48 EMNE
HE{ELA1,744,00078 7T °

ENREIERRBDAE  REALE
BEMNHERRR T —EARENSE
WAIE -

HERRBENABSHRELREN R
STRHEFR AT

EAKBRIRE MAREE®Z A2
e AR EMRRRELSHE
f - BEEREEASNBIANKDBBET
LR c ARERBETEPWIIRE
R ARG E m B 5 AT B IR UENS%ZE 100%H]

HE3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 26. EHNAEE®
When the Group receives a deposit before the completion B AREERIREIRO M CROARE K EIE T
of milestones under provision of IRO and CRO services, AT EIRT & @ Bl A LR IR E
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a FERNEE  BEEMBES BRI
contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific mHBBFeEHE ARERRERGH
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group BRREZBRBE TR IEI0%E20%
receives a 10% to 20% deposit on from certain customers BE] & °
when the contract for healthcare services signed.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINTKRAFERANK G EHE - W
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward REBEHEE -
contract liabilities.
HKS'000
T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-—Z_NMF=A=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in FAFVIENBEEHRNERREE

the contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year 5,648
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZE_=F=A=+—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included in SAFUEHNERESRNEERKR

the contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year 1,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES/ 27. EFNRBEEAT HRAKERAT

Except from the amount due to a related company
of HK$56,434,000 (2023: HKS$76,752,000) as disclosed
in note 38(b), the remaining balances due to related
companies (which are fellow subsidiaries of the
ultimate holding company) are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

ULTIMATEHOLDINGCOMPANY/ eI IR 2R TR
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HK$000 HKS'000
FET FET
(a) Amounts due to related W1‘f%§ﬂ YNGIE ]
companies
Carrying amount that is repayable: JEEERMEE
- repayable on demand or —REREERIN—FA
within one year . 78,360 70,585
— over one year but less than — BB —FEIRME
two years - 20,525
) 78,360 91,110
Less: Amount due for settlement B — R B HEIE IR
within one year (shown (RRBEEIR §|J/T)
under current liabilities) (78,360) (70,585)
Amount due for settlement after —F1g B BB 1B 51
one year - 20,525

4

B BY 5F 38(b) 1% 58 2 FE 1~ A Bt 2 B FRIE
56434000/%75(_3___%

B IT) 4 (BB
) SNEEAG] Pt

%R
. BERBEERER -

2024 2023
—ES-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(b) Amount due to ultimate holding  (b) FES x4 IER% R B FRIB
company
Amount due to ultimate holding JE AN B XA AR A
company 45,739 318
At 31 March 2024, an amount due to ultimate holding N-_EFE-MqE=H=+—H F1‘TE—M
company of HK$40,471,000 (2023: nil) is unsecured, PR A Bl FRTE40,471,0008 ( —ZE = =
carried at fixed interest rate of 1.4% per annum and & 4m) AEIKE IRETEEFR R 4%qu
repayable on 30 September 2024. The remaining ERANR-_E-MENLA=+HES
balance is unsecured, interest free and repayable on JoN g[ fm B T 15 5B S (2
dernand. BEAARER 8 REEREE
(0) FEfT FEIE AR AE S FRIR

(©) Amount due to non-controlling interests

At 31 March 2024, except for HK$50,204,000 of amount
due to non-controlling interests that is carried at FVTPL
in relation to contingent consideration for acquisition
of Taiga Group (defined in note 34 (a)), the remaining
balance is unsecured, interest free and repayable
within one year.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =

R-ZE-_WNF=A=+—8 ' BREKE
KT%l(m%ﬁBﬁﬁM ))BISARAB
B A T IEE Hx%\_i”1550204000/’§
TR AN FEF AR - rEEY AE
iR B RBR—FNEE -



28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees in Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HKS$1,500. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions under
the Group’s MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
and Japan are members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the respective government.
The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Japan are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
employees’ payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group
has no legal constructive obligations to pay further
contributions.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

28. EERKEF

AEEBERBERBSRHIMAESETENEH
AXEBEBEKINEENESRER L
BHIERTEERFE - BIELFTEIAHE
UXTAEENTERHIGRARGE - R
FaaiEestE BEERERESBAM
BESFEIMHN  HEBEREERBARK
AHI5% - NSRS AHEBEKA500
BITH) LR o M EEH a gtk Bl
REBEBAL o

7N 52 B30 ) A 2 )R W A SR AR AR
SEBE S ENRBEHFTOKE -

AEERTE LB ANHEA R EER
A2 ERBEBNRLNERE BRIKE
METE - ARRINFE R KB A RIAR
BEEAHFMNET A D LRAZFENK
w|AFFEIER - BRERAEHRES -
AEEERKEF T EINHE—FEAIR
RArEHEH TR R - REBEBEE—
TRMEREO AR IEEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 29. BEEHEEE

2024 2023
—E-EF —T=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHT FET
Deferred tax liabilities BEEMIERE 34,957 r
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in REREMBIRARERCIELEHRIEEE

the consolidated statement of financial position and the E’\J B E D RFEANZEAT ¢

movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation

allowances

in excess of

Intangible  the related
assets depreciation Total

TERERL

HBRREN
@REE % 83
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 R-ZBE-_—_FMA—H - 38 38
Credited to profit or loss RERETA - (38) (38)
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=f=A=1+—H - - -
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiaries (note 34)  WKEBPN BN RIFTEE (#/:#34) 37,015 — 37,015
Credited to profit or loss RIEFEA (1,317) = (1317)
Exchange adjustments fE 31, 35 (741) = (741)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-MFE=A=1+-8 34,957 - 34,957

2]0 EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS AIER B EBEARLA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 29. EEBEEEH
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in REBEWEMZATIEEBRRELN
respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$187,627,000 THEE#)187,627,000 T (ZE =4 :
(2023: HK$96,293,000) as it is not probable that future 96,293,000/ 70 ) * AR E @R IE A
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised ERLRERBARBTAAEEERD RN
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and ARAREHEER - REBERTHEBER -
entity. The cumulative tax losses of HK$168,780,000 ZEEtFHIEE18168,780,0008 L ( ZE ==
(2023: HK$88,075,000) will expire at various dates up % : 88,075,000 L) KR ZE=HF (£
to and including year 2034 and HK$18,847,000 (2023: ?‘EEZE)ZTFJ HEFEIHE] - if1 18,847,000
HK$5,830,000) do not expire under current tax legislation. /%TE( —E = =4 :583000087T) BT
22 -
At 31 March 2024, temporary differences relating to ’E/‘f T_MWE=ZA=+—H KB
the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to REIZAD K FNEENERERER
HKS$ 13,457,000 (2023: HK$6,703,000). Deferred tax liabilities 13,457,000/ 0 ( ZZE = =4 : 6,703,0005&
of HK$2,220,000 (2023: HK$1,106,000) have not been 7B AR B AR5 3 KA 5 1R B A
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on ERT BT B RERREE R IE & 52,220, OOO
the distribution of these retained profits as the Company BIT(ZT =% :1,106000% T ) -
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it BRARRAIEFHIZENRE A TE’\JI&E\
has been determined that it is probable that these profits Blkﬁ I 8 7 5% 5 M AE A R 2RAR A]
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. ETENIK ©
30. BANK BORROWINGS 30. RITEE
2024 2023
—EmF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FAET
The borrowings are repayable as BEAZTIGNEE
follows:
On demand or within one year (shown RERsiR—FREE
under current liabilities) (RREBFEETYIR) 7,335 -
Bank borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rate at 6.4% RZE-_WNF=ZA=+—8 ' L17EE
to 7% as at 31 March 2024, BT F64%ZE 7% EE T XL -
As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings are secured by RZE-_NF=ZA=+—H ' RITEE
the pledged bank deposits of HK9,000,000 as disclosed in LA B #5 #7 £R 17 7% 509,000,000 7% 7T 1 1K 1
note 22. (R EE228 ) -
Bank borrowings of approximately HK$6,575,000 were RZZFEZMF=HA= ‘f’ A RITEE
denominated in HK$ against USD as at 31 March 2024, #96,575,0008 TTAE T L ET(FAES
the currency other than the functional currency of the WIEEBERB IUGEERE)FE -

respective group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

31.

32.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of share capital of the Company are
as follows:

31.

&N
AR ZBARBEEMT

Number of
shares Share capital
igvip - gE| [N
HKS'000
TFET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  ®AXE{E0.01/8 T2 & B
Authorised: JEE
At 1 April 2022, R—_ZE-_—_FMA—H -
31 March 2023 and :;:-E‘H_wL A%
31 March 2024 —E-UE=A=1+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEZITRHE -
At 1 April 2022, JJ‘A_7__¢EH =R
31 March 2023 and —EC=F=A=t—HK
31 March 2024 —E_ME=A=+—H 500,000,000 5,000
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TRRFEABREITIHETIR 2K
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled B MERE —REROAIRARGRR
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All AELEE—F - IAETERAERQRFE
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s HEEAEEZERSEZ o
residual assets.
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXEkER

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeqguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

AEFEEREANTRZANRREARE
BIRERKEHEE SN  EESUESES
BRBKPETERRRBEENAS
ERARGRE @ ARREHEHRLR
HAb s 0 &S RAM s

ARE BRGNS EHEEANRBETRG
KNEE - LAFER] R ﬂﬁfm{ﬁ“ﬁk%ﬂ
e A IR [0 R £ R 4 B9 B ANHR O 7 2R Y
4 BE S IR IE 2 PR #5 P 1 - S R R AE
ARNE BB EARZBIEL R -



32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 32. EXEREE®
As at 31 March 2024, the Group has outstanding notes and RZEBE_WME=A=+—H ' &&
interest-free revolving loan amounting to HK$56,434,000 BB KB A& EH % KRR X Speed
(2023: HK$76,752,000) from Speed Development Co. Ltd Development Co Ltd (FizE27(2)) 9K 1(E
(note 27(a)), the former controlling shareholder of the BEEKEBERE56434000/%8 7T
Group, in relation to the terms and conditions of the sale ZEE =4 76 752,000/870) » B EE
and purchase agreement as discussed in notes 27(a) and a) X 38(b)Firad i B & 19 3 2 163K S 15
38(b) and bank borrowings of HK$7,335,000 (2023 nil) (note 1¢ﬁﬁ§ DA KR 1TE B 7,335,000/ (=
30). — =4 - ) (fEE30) ©
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. €@ TH
Categories of financial instruments SRIAZER
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HKS$’000 HKS000
FET FHEIT
Financial assets cRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRZZEREE 2,977 2,977
Financial assets at amortised cost REEK AT ECSREE 189,270 194,536
Financial liabilities tHeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZEHK AT EZ R AE 185,094 119,566
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEF ARG ZEREE -
- contingent consideration in a EBENHARE
business combination 50,204 -
Financial risk management objectives and policies BEEEEEEEREBEK

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, amounts due to ultimate holding company,
related companies and non-controlling interests and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risk associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors of the Company manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEBEZFEZSRTABERATER
ABHZeREE - 5 REMEBER
B BERARTER  ReLBEEF

B E%&E?M’gﬁalﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
A BNREERQRFIE - ENEHE

Bt A RIFIA - EH#?&%&%E&E
ﬁﬁﬂom$$@IHZﬁ|%E%W
AR - HEtEeRTI AR AR
% R (T R @b & 5% & e )1*
Eﬂ. //lL@JﬁfEﬂ fa o /)jwiﬁfﬁﬂ
ZHREN I - ARREFEENE
RzERRE - BERMSRIUES B BE
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company’s presentation currency
and functional currency.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, certain
trade receivables, bank balances, trade payables
and lease liabilities of the Group are denominated
in HKS, RMB, USD, JPY and EURO, the currencies
other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities as disclosed in notes 21, 23, 24 and
25 respectively.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HKS is pegged with
USD, the Group does not expect any significant
movements in the USD/HKS exchange rates.

The Group's exposure to currency risk to RMB
and JPY is not significant and hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
cash at bank, pledged bank deposits, lease liabilities
and amount due to ultimate holding company as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Lease liabilities, amount due to ultimate holding
company and bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

33.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant and hence no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills receivable
is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit rating.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

To minimise the credit risk, the directors of the Company
have delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses the credit risk management
policy to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customers. These evaluations
are referenced to the repayment histories for recurring
customers, current past due exposure for the new
customers and the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The contract assets have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same type of contracts.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate.
Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 11% (2023:
10%) and 38% (2023: 43%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the garment
segment.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1+—HIFE

33. €I A

M EREE B ERBR(E)

™5 R (E)

(i) FIEEER (&)
AREBFHEEZ M ERERY &
KR > BAEZINGREDN

1= B E B K a E 71

EERREHTFHRERTEAHNRME
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁl;ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%iﬁé’izmﬁ“ 2
AEBENEERREIEREEKE SR
B AEBEEGRRERS MRS FE

WAREBREREZEERRAR © Tl
REFHRERSER .:%&Zﬁﬁ&(ﬁ

AL -

EPEHELZHEZENRTBRENE
E

SEEREEERR  ARREZREHE
/JEEI%Eﬁf?zmﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁt*ﬂéf

REXEAFEPR - AEERAEE
REBEEBRFHEEEFP 2EEER

EREEFZEERE - 2FHhes
REFUETFPHEERESL HEPRE
ERRNSEREPREMENKLER
B AaNEEEMERBLAONESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
used an internal credit rating by assigning loss rates to
its trade receivables. The estimated loss rates are based
on the ageing of trade receivables as well as historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The directors of the Company believe that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of trade receivables and contract assets. The
Group assessed the ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets were immaterial. Thus no loss allowance was
recognised.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits and lease receivable

For other receivables and deposits and lease receivable,
the directors of the Company make individual assessment
on other receivables and deposits and lease receivable
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of other receivables and deposits and lease
receivable. The Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and deposits and lease receivable were
immaterial. Thus, no loss allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposits/Cash and cash equivalents

The Group only transacts with reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and therefore the directors of the Company
consider the risk of default is low. The Group uses
12-month ECL to perform the assessment under ECL on
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
individually based on the average loss rate by reference
to credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed the ECL for pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents were immaterial.
Thus, no loss allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables show the remaining Group's
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay.

RE R R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
hEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 33. E@IAEM®m
Financial risk management objectives and policies MKRREERERBE(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TMEEZE R (E)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. TRBEBHEFNMBEEAREEESHRE o HA 2
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the AR EHMNERE B - BIRELIRSEEIL
undiscounted amount is derived from prevailing market WMEBRZEFI SR RAE o
rate at the end of the reporting period.
Liquidity tables MBEEL R
Weighted Carrying
average Ondemand 3 months Tyear  2years Total ~ amount at
effective  or within to to to undiscounted 31 March
interestrate 3 months Tyear  2years  Syears  cashflows 2024
a1 13
mErs  RERY =@A AERRE ZA=t-
BRNE  ZEAm  E-F -FEWEF WEELF REAR AZKEE
%  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000
% A A AT A A A
2024 it -3
Trade and other payables B REM A N/A FEH 41,901 - - - 41,901 41,901
Amounts due to related companies BB ATIA N/A FEH 35000 43,594 - - 78,504 78,360
Amount due to non-controlling interest  FER SRR 5B N/A FEH - N759 - - 11,759 11,759
Secured bank borrowings BEBBTEE 6.8 7,335 - - - 7,335 7,335
Amount due to ultimate holding ERREERARZE
company 1.40 5,268 43,304 - - 48,572 45,739
Lease liabiltes HEGE 7.20 808 199 155 - 4,363 4,118
90,312 100,656 1,556 - 192,524 189,212
Weighted Camrying
average  Ondemand 3 months 1 year 2 years Total  amount at
effective  or within to to o undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2023
mEry  EErE =R AEREE ZA=t-
ERRE  ZBAR  E-%F -FEWF MEELF  REEE ACKER
% HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSO00 HKSOO00 HKS 000 HKS 000
% AT by BT AT AT AT
2023 it Skt 3
Trade and other payables B RAMERFE NA TER 28138 s s - 28138 28138
Amounts due to related companies FERBERARTE N/AER 37304 35000 21,668 - 93,972 91,110
Amount due to ultimate holding BRRSERAANE
company N/AER 318 - - - 318 318
Lease liabiltes HEAR 35 807 1801 142 - 2750 2705
66567 36801 21810 s 15178 122271
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liguidity tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as
at 31 March 2024 are include in the “on demand” time
band in the above maturity analysis. The carrying amount
of the bank borrowings amounted to HKS$7,335,000 as at
31 March 2024. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and assets pledged for the bank borrowings,
the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the financial institutions would exercise the
discretionary rights to demand immediate payment. As
at 31 March 2024, the directors of the Company believed
that such borrowings will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. The aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows amounted to HKS$7,487,000 as at 31 March 2024
and the amount will be repaid within one year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of financial asset.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The management of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and key
inputs for fair value measurements.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 33. €I A
SRMIAZATEHEE)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs
used in determining the fair value of the financial asset are
disclosed below.

FEBUBEEREZNFHEHTEBZEM
BERTHEENLFEGE)

EHETEMEEN HEMANGEES
EREBBHABBNERR FHE °

Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets 31 March hierarchy
R=RA=+—H
cREE ZA¥E AFEFE
2024 2023

—RoNFE ZF--F
HK$000  HKS'000

Valuation technique(s) and key
input(s)

HETERTERARE

FET FEIT

Other financial assets 2,977 2977 Level 3
HhemEE E=4
Amount due to non- 50,204 - Level 3

controlling interests

(contingent consideration

in a business combination)
FEAST FEHE AR A 25 BRIE E=4

Note: The actual and projected profits before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of Taiga Group is key
unobservable input. A 5% increase/decrease in the actual
and projected profits before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization holding all other variables constant
would increase/increase the fair value of amount due to
non-controlling interest by HK$2,510,000.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

Ffet -

Asset-based approach with
adjusted net asset values as key
unobservable input
N RABREEFERTEETAIH
R ABUBMEEX

(i) actual and projected profits
before interests, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of
Taiga Group (defined in 34 (a)) for
three years from 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2026 of HK$47,795,000,
(ii) projected adjusted Issue price
of HKS$1.00 per share and (iii)
market price of HK$1.01 per share
(note)
(BE-—ZE_=FMA—BEE_
“RF=A=1+— Eﬁ:1l$ﬁ'
A EE(EE R E34)) R
HERME ~ IR - FrERE#E
BB B B Ko FROR& 47,795,000
BT (N RABREITETR
1,008 7T ¢ (i EF1.0178
7o (P &E)

AAEBERNBAE - HRE - T E
MEBEAMNERMTEENATETR
ERGARE o  KNBRFE B
B TERBEEATNERR RIEEEF
#an, m %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@“E%%T
B BIFEN SRR E R AN A FE
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1+—HIFE

33. €I A
SRMIAZATEHEE)

FEEUBEEEZNFHEHGTEBZEM
BERETMA BN FEGE)

NFEEERIER

_/r

Amount due to

Other financial non-controlling

assets interests
ANEZ2d
Hih & m&EE ez BIR
HKS000 HKS000
FET FET
At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 ﬁé_gzzimﬂ A&

—E_=F=A=+—H 2,977 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34 (a)) HWEE—REIMI B AR (FizE34 @) - 66,263

Fair value change recognised in RiBRm AR AT EEE
profit or loss - (16,059)
At 31 March 2024 AZE_FE=A=1+—H 2,977 50,204

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, and Level
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

The fair value change arising from the remeasurement
of the other financial assets and amount due to non-
controlling interests measured at FVTPL are presented
in the “Other income, gains and losses” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at amortised cost were not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. WEKHEBLE
(@)  Acquisition of R&E Corporation Limited and its (@ WBHZROERITARIEKE
subsidiary (“Taiga Group”) AR FAER )
On 28 March 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary RZE_=F=A=-+/\H =K
of the Group entered into a sales and purchase SE—EE2EMNBRARIBETE
agreement with the then owner of Taiga Group to WEEHE AT LEE W -
acquire 65% equity interest of Taiga Group using AR A RELHERE TSR
a contingent consideration arrangement. The H65%AXE - R_T-_=FHA
acquisition was completed on 23 May 2023 upon all Z+T =8 FrEBRHEBEEEK
conditions were fulfilled. Taiga Group is principally MU EEIBIRE T o KK E
engaged in trading of Japanese health food and FTEREFALARERME H KM
brand operation and the management of the RiEe  BARETEERAK
Group expects the acquisition would complement 5§$Igﬂ—rﬁﬁ$'§.ﬁ’\ £ IR IE
the existing business operations of the Group in DHOMEEKESL - BB
the healthcare segment which would help create RAARRTBIEIESE KB o Y
greater returns for the Company. The acquisition EHEHEARB R REBRBIE
had been accounted for as acquisition of business IR ©
using the acquisition method.
Consideration
transferred
EERE
HKS'000
TFETT
Contingent consideration arrangement (Note) FAREBLH(ME) 66,263

Note: Based on the relevant agreement, the Company
is required to issue new ordinary shares of the
Company to the non-controlling interest by
reference to (i) the actual and target profits before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA") of Taiga Group for three years from
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 and (ii) adjusted
issue price as set out in the sales and purchase
agreement. The completion of the subscription
of new ordinary shares of the Company is
expected to be taken place on the fifth business
day from the date of the delivery of the audited
certificate of EBITDA of Taiga Group or 15 July
2026, whichever is later. The audited certificate
should be issued within three working days
from the issue date of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group. The contingent
consideration of HK$66,263,000 represents the
estimated fair value of this obligation at the
date of acquisition and has been included in
“amount due to non-controlling interests” on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

Met - BERBEHZE - AARIAR
#%k%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ 1ﬁi%
f% » WELEZE = ﬁﬁ
B =N A—HEE-
E-_ANF=ZA=+—HIt=ME
FERXVEBERIDBAE - &
H ﬁ%&%%’(FEBWDAJ)
AIRER K BEEH - K&
ﬂﬁ%ﬁgoﬂﬁ$ RIFE
BRTEHIR R LB EBITDARE
R ERN BB EREE
¥HSE T -_ANF+A+THEHA
(ABIBE BE)TTK o TIXE
EENAE B B H ER|AZLER
GBS HRER BB =EIEH
WHA - AR E66263,000
BT AZEE TR BB

BEFAFE - ERGEAMBHR
P2 M ET AT RS 3R 12 B4R 2
A e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueD) 34, WIBFE 2 8l ()

(a) Acquisition of R&E Corporation Limited and its (@) WEREROERATDREKES
subsidiaries (“Taiga Group”) (Continued) AT XEE]) (&)
Acquisition-related cost amounting to W B A8 A A AN £9190,0008 T 2 B
approximately HK$190,000 had been excluded EEREARNR  IREGEER
from the consideration transferred and have been FATHEAZ IBETERAEE
recognised as an expenses for the year ended 31 —E_NMFE=A=1+—HILtFE
March 2024, within the “administrative expenses” LRI o
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the RIERBHERENEE RS #
date of acquisition RHEE
HKS'000
TET
Net assets recognised: EERIFEE :
Intangible assets mLEE 94,497
Inventories & 9,010
Trade and other receivables B 5 & B A e IR 1,986
Cash and cash equivalents B MRS EHEY 21,718
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A R FRIE (29,595)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEMIERE (15,592)
82,024

The receivables acquired (which principally
comprised trade receivables) with a fair value of
HK$1,986,000 at the date of acquisition had gross
contractual amounts of HK$1,986,000. The best
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash
flows not expected to be collected amounted to
nil.

The net cash inflow during the year arising
on acquisition of Taiga Group amounted to
approximately HK$21,718,000.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests (35%) in Taiga Group
recognised at acquisition date was measured by
reference to the proportionate share of recognised
amounts of net assets of Taiga Group and
amounted to approximately HK$35,680,000.

R UCEE B B8 A F 1 & 1,986,000
THEWRBERKIB(ZTEERE
ZEo5RWAB)NBENSER
1,986,000/ 7T ° 8 Hi & )= UK B By
EHReRENWERBENRE
EHE-ER

FRWEBRTEBEEELEZRER
ASREEX) 521,718,000/ 7T ©

UL B B B SR A AR 5 B JE I
RS (35%) ThREFh R &R
ERANFEESELELOGE -
B{EAY 535,680,000/ 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NE=A=1t—HILFE

(a)

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 34. KBBR8
Acquisition of R&E Corporation Limited and its (@) WEHKEROBMRIBREKE
subsidiaries (“Taiga Group”) (Continued) NFI(TATERE] (&)
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEEEZHE :
HKS'000
TET
Consideration transferred EEAE 66,263
Plus: non-controlling interest (35% of Taiga Group) B : FE¥EARRERS (KO SR B AY35%) 35,680
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B EREFEENCERERE (82,024)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEE 2B 19,919

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The intangible assets recognised at the acquisition
date were measured by reference to the
estimated fair value amounted to approximately
HK$94,497,000. This fair value was estimated by
applying an income approach using discounted
cash flow model. The key model inputs used in
determining the fair value were pre-tax discount
rate of 17.8% and long-term growth rate of 2%.
Other key assumptions for the fair value calculation
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
included budgeted sales with growth rate ranging
from 2% to 10%, such estimation is based on Taiga
Group's past performance and management’s
expectation for the market development.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Acquisition of R&E Corporation Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Taiga Group”) (Continued)

Gooduwill arising on acquisition: (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024

Included in the loss for the year ended 31 March
2024 was the profit of approximately HK$3,570,000
attributable to the Taiga Group. Revenue for the
year included HK$91,680,000 generated from the
Taiga Group. Had the acquisition of Taiga Group
been completed on 1 April 2023, revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2024 of the Group would
have been approximately HK$112,915,000, and
loss for the year of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 would have been approximately
HKS$2,817,000. The pro forma results are for
illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the operations
of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
April 2023, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE

34. WEEMB AR @®)

(a)

WiERER OB R AR REKE
DF([XTEE ) (&)

WEBELZEE :(18)

WEFRH A EBEE—F N
FoA=1T—HIFFEZRED

FE
HE-_Z_WF=A=+—HIt
FEZEBF - & H 43,570,000

BB RNIEE - FRKEE
& R0 & B E 4 79 91,680,000
T MBEBEBRAITEEER-F
“ZFMWA—HBREK ' BIAE
BHEZ_ZT_mWFEF=A=+—H
EFEZ2WEE#A112,915000
B AREERE—_ZT_MF=
A=+—HIFEZ2EBAHNAE
2,817,000/87TC - ZBEEXEEH
MACH WIERTEREESIE
R-ZZE-_=FNA—B=KME
EERRBS I AEREERTZ R
FECERER  MIERKRFEECE

Al o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Acquisition of Biotube Co., Limited (“Biotube”)

On 29 November 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with the then owner of Biotube to
acquire 47.3% of equity interest of Biotube for a
consideration of JPY 612,233,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$32,445,000). On 29 November
2023, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
also subscribed to an issue of a convertible bond
of Biotube for a consideration of JPY150,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,949,000). The
convertible bond can be converted all or part of the
outstanding principal amount up to 695 new shares
of registered capital of Biotube. The acquisition was
completed on 29 January 2024 upon fulfillment
of conditions precedent in the share transfer
agreement and exercise all the conversion right of
the convertible bond. After the transfer of shares,
the Group holds 51% equity interest of Biotube.
Biotube is principally engaged in in-house research
and development in relation to the projects of (i)
autologous sheet tissue for autograft by in-body
tissue architecture for the patients of Refractory
diabetic foot ulcer; and (i) autologous tubular tissue
for autograft by in body tissue architecture for
the patients of lower extremity peripheral arterial
disease. The management of the Group expects the
acquisition would further improve the development
of the Group's innovative research sector, which
is in line with the overall development strategy of
the Group. The acquisition had been accounted
for as acquisition of business using the acquisition
method.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

34.

WEEH B AR @)

(b)

Wk B8 Biotube Co., Limited
([ Biotube |)

W_ZT-_Z&+—A=+ jL
H AEBE—H2EMNEBER

EﬁBiotubeEl’]B%E%ﬁA%Tﬁﬁﬁ
mEEERE - UK E612233,000
B B (& ® 4324450007 7T )
HﬁlﬁﬁBlotubeE’J473%ﬁx$fE o AT
T _=Z%+—A=+A1B =&
;‘%lmzﬂ'ﬁiéﬂ?ﬁ% al I8 A
£ {8 150,000,000 B B (8 & R 4
7,949,000/ 7T ) 3R B& Biotube B A]
BRES - AJBRRESHE I
BoEMKEERAEERZ LB
A Biotube 5t B 48 F #9695 A% ¥
By - R-_ZT-_MWFE—A=-+AN
B - IR EE R RIS
BERBBRBRESNATA B
EHBEITE  MBBEEIIE T
Ko R ERE  AEEHE
BiotubeH)51% A% # ° BiotubeF &
HET518 B By ERHT 2T e 2
(EHEE A MRERR T BB B EN
BERNEGEEREOERRES:
RNt TRINFEREREE
MERNESEEEESRBERAE
B - AEEEEEEBKEER

H%Z@ 2 (e HE 7N 52 B B F T 5T &P
FINEER  RAASENERR

RERE - WEFHEC KA WEZR
BEERBUIEFERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisition of Biotube Co., Limited (“Biotube”)

34. WEEMB AR @®)

(b) U B Biotube Co., Limited

(Continued) ([Biotube]) (&)
HKS000
FET
Consideration transferred EIR(E
Cash e 32,445
Convertible bond Al RRRE S 7,949
Total KRR 40,394

Acquisition-related cost amounting to
approximately HK$390,000 has been excluded from
the consideration transferred and recognised as an
expense for the year ended 31 March 2024, within
the "administrative expenses” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the

U B% 48 B BX 2K 49390,00078 T B B

EERRERR

FAMTTHAS |BETERAEEHZ
—E_NNFE=A=1+—HILFE

ZRX -

RUEEEHERBENEERD #

date of acquisition 2B G
HKS'000
FET
Intangible assets EEE 71,869
Cash and cash equivalents BEMESEEY 2,220
Trade and other payables g5 Mk E MR FRIA (3,610)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE (21,423)
49,056
HKS'000
FHET
Consideration paid EfRRE 40,394
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BERERNIRE MR FEYD (2,220)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of Biotube U E&BiotubeE £ 2 IR &7 1 /F 58 38,174
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year
BE-ZT—

ended 31 March 2024
WE=A=+—HItEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Acquisition of Biotube Co., Limited (“Biotube”)
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests

The Non-controlling interests (49%) in Biotube
recognised at acquisition date was measured by
reference to the proportionate share of recognised
amounts of net assets of Biotube of HK$38,810,000.

34. WEEMB AR (@®)

(b) U B Biotube Co., Limited
([Biotube ) (&)

FERE

UK B8 B HE & R 8 Biotube FE 1%
P& #E 25 (49%) 5 2% FT{h Biotube
ERRNFEESELAD
38,810,000/ LT £ ©

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WHRE A 28
HKS'000
FET
Consideration transferred HEERE 40,394
Plus: non-controlling interest (49% of Biotube hn: FEFEAR#E % (BiotubeAY49% )
Group) 38,810
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired & : BB FEENC RS (49,056)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEBEL 2 EmE 30,148

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The intangible assets recognised at the acquisition
date was measured by reference to the estimated
fair value amounted to approximately HK$69,965,000.
This fair value was estimated by applying an income
approach using discounted cash flow model. The
key model inputs used in determining the fair value
were pre-tax discount rate of 21.9% and long-term
growth rate of 1.6%.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

W B e 7 B AR -

RUE B RN ELEEIZ
Z H B A F{E#969,965,00078 7T
HE o ZAFENFERURIRS
mERA KRS EEET - BEA
FEREFEANEZENHAZBE
#521.9%88 AT B 387 2 K2 1.6% = HA 18



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Acquisition of Biotube Co., Limited (“Biotube”)
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024

Included in the loss for the year ended 31 March
2024 was the loss of approximately HK$1,281,000
attributable to Biotube. There was no revenue
generated by Biotube for the year ended 31
March 2024. Had the acquisition of Biotube been
completed on 1 April 2023, there would have
been no impact to revenue for the year of the
Group, and the loss for the year of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 would have been
approximately HK$4,158,000. The pro forma results
are for illustrative purposes only and are not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
the operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 April 2023, nor is it intended to be
a projection of future results.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE

34. WEEMB AR @®)

(b)

Wk B8 Biotube Co., Limited
([Biotube]) (&)

FEIR R ()

WiEEIRH N EFEE —F =
FZA=Z+—HIFFEZZEH
L

HE_T_W&E=A=+—HIt
FEZEEF - BE#%1,281,000
7 JC K B Biotube « HE T —
EE’E_H_TL BIEFE - &
I % Jh Biotube FTEE & © fiw W iB
BiotubeERX—ZE - =% H—H

T AREZFARGE TR
T8 AKRERE_T_MF=

A=Z+—HLFEZEEBUNE
4158000870 - X EXEE R
MEACH WIERTERESIE
R-ZE-_=FWNA—B=x=Km&
FERHRB 2 AEREENT R
FEZER  MIERKRFEECE
Al o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE

35.

— = —

—_—

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ME=A=+—BILFE

AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

35.

TEMNBRARARFERERS ZF

(=]

TREHINHAKEEZSE  EEXRE
FENMBRRNFE - BKEE
AEASH - PR RIS B Ak o

BEX

Proportion of ownership interest

ikl 1 b
Issued and paid Group's Held Held
Place of Place of up share capital/ effective by the bya Principal
Name of subsidiaries incorporation  operation registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
WEAREH ARRIEs SENH BRATRAR A58 A28 -AWE IERE
Bx/EfmER EREL K8  DERE
Knit World Interational Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% = 100%  Apparel supply chain
Limited HK$4,000,000 management services
Knit World International & &R EER40000008 7T R EEERRY
Limited
Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited ~ BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares US3101 100% 100% - Investment holding
Speed Apparel (BV)) Limited ~ RERXHE BE LaR0%ET REER
Speed Apparel (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Apparel supply chain
HK$10,000 management services
HiE(EE)ER A Bk Bk E@H 1000087 100% - 100%  REHERERRS
mERFIESERARY  The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Apparel supply chain
RMBB00,000 Management services
HiER (RN ESBRAR" & i FHE 7 AR %800,000 100% - 100% BREUEEERRS
T
Speed Apparel Japan BFI24L Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Design and
JPY5,500,000 customers
account services
Speed Apparel Japan AR2H B A% S & 55000008 100% - 100%  FGREPRE
Speed GarmentZ Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Investment
HKS10,000 holding
Speed GarmentZ Limited B4 R L30%100007% T 100% - 00% REHER
Progress Ahead Holdings BV Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Investment
Limited Us$100 holding
Progress Ahead Holdings ZBRAHE FA EERI00ET 100% - 100% REHR
Limited
EPS Innovative Medicine Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment
(Hong Kong) Limited HK$10,000 holding
EPS Innovative Medicine (Hong &7 R LRR10000757T 100% 100% - RAER
Kong) Limited
EPD Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 51% - 51%  Investment
HK$4,200,000 holding
EPD Hong Kong Limited 3 R L3M4.20000057C 51% - 5%  RARRK

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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35. FEMBARIRFERER 2
=16

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

Proportion of ownership interest

frERERLfl
Issued and paid Group's Held Held
Place of Place of up share capital/ effective by the bya Principal
Name of subsidiaries incorporation  operation registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
WEARER AR SEwH BRATRAR A5E AR -HKE IERE
R/ ERER BRER BE  LEkE
EPD i &4t Japan Japan Registered capital 51% - 51%  Development
JPY15,000,000 of new drugs services
EPDER &t A% AR FHE 150000008 E 51% - S1%  RERENRE
EPS glEt5 gt Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Medical
JPY50,000,000 consultancy services
EPSEIZERA &1t A% AA # & A50,0000008 B 100% - 100% BEHEARS
FEF g2t it Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Development
JPY50,050,000 of new drugs services
FEFAIE IR @t AA AA s EA500500000 E 100% - 100%  FEFENRS
Biotube Co,, Ltd Japan Japan Register capital 51% - 51%  Development
JPY121,457,951 of new drugs
Biotube Co, Ltd A% AA FHE 2121457 951 51% - S1% FEHEY
A
EPS Medical Consultany Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
Services Limited HK$10,000
EPS Medical Consultancy BB R E@k100005T 100% 100% - RERR
Services Limited
EPS Health Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
HK$10,000
EPS Health Limited &b Bk L@R0000%ET 100% 100% - RERR
BIRBERR(LBARAR" The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RMB15,148,000
HRERAESERAR TE kel AMERARE 100% - 100% REZR
15,148,0007C
EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan) Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd. RMB50,000,000
EPS Medical Consultancy AR A% HMERARS 100% - 100% &R
(Japan) Co, Ltd. 50,000,0007T
R&E Corporation Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 65% - 65% Trading of healthcare
HKS1,300,000 Products
maRiERAA Bk Bk LAMR1,3000007E 7T 65% - 6% REEME S
Taiga SCM (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd  The PRC The PRC Registered capital 65% - 65%  Trading of healthcare
RMB1,000,000 products
KAKEREE(RINR P e AMARARE 65% - 65% REERES
1,000,0007T
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. FEfiB AR REERERZF
AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

15

Proportion of ownership interest

frERELRLfl
Issued and paid Group's Held Held
Place of Place of up share capital/ effective by the bya Principal
Name of subsidiaries incorporation  operation registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
WEARER AR SEwH BRATRAR A58 AR -HWE IERE
Rk /ERER BRER K8 DERE

Shanghai EPS Pharmaceutical ~ The PRC The PRC Registered capital 95% - 100%  Development
Development Co, Ltd. RMB5,320,944 of new drugs
(HERHEELRARAR)P

FEAHBEERERARY ME e AMARARE 95% - 100% REREN

53209447C

Suzhou EPS Tigermed The PRC The PRC Registered capital 51% - 100%  Development
Pharmaceutical RMB9,803,900 of new drugs
Technology Co, Ltd.
ENRTRRBEREA
RAR)®

FNEHEREENRAR  TE e HMERARS 51% - 100%  FEHMEN
NS 9,803.9007T

Bejjing Global Pharmaceutical ~ The PRC The PRC Registered capital 51% - 100%  Development of new
Research Co, Ltd. RMB500,000 drugs
RRHEBEREER
/D\E—D(Zﬁ

IRRHREEREARA  F i FHE A AR B 500,000 51% - 100%  FEHED
& o

EP Trading Co, Ltd. Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Trading of healthcare
PEABRARP N — JPY80,000,000 products
T4 VTR RH)

PEHERAA/PPRL- BX A% & A80000000A E 100% E 100% REERES
VR PZL SNk

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. FEMfBATIRIEEZERER 2

AND NON-CONTROLLINGINTERESTS B

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BEEAFERERNFZEHRBEAR
material non-controlling interests 3

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned Ti’%\?ﬁﬁ']%ﬁiﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂ@ﬁ%
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- FEREWBRRINFS

controlling interests:

Incorporation/  Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
principal place of ~  interest held by non- held by non-controlling  (Profit) loss allocated to Accumulated non-

Name of subsidiaries business  controlling interests interests non-controlling interests  controlling interests
AR/ FEREREEN FEREREEN
it R IELENY it 4 3-041] RERILA IRFFIREENERER  EHFERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

e e e e Lt e e s
HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD
Tz Tt TEx TEn

R&E Corporation Limited® Hong Kong 35% - 35% - (605) - 36,285 -
naRnERARY B
Biotube Japan 49% - 49% - 1,575 - 37,235 -
Biotube AR
Suzhou EPS Tigermed

Pharmaceutical

Technology Co, Ltd.? The PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% 1,618 3015 2,080 3698
FNRNRRBERRARAA hE
EPD it 24t Japan 49% 49% 49% 49% 2,781 1434 (2,883) (102
EPD sl @it A%

Individually immaterial subsidlaries
with non-controlling interests 299 91 110 409
BRI ERFARERNBAR

5,668 4540 12,821 4005

Notes: Mtet -
(1) This entity was established as wholly foreign-owned ©) ZEBRPEKY - WAIINEBED
enterprise in the PRC. ES

i}

BRPBEKYL - TRKRAREE

(2) These entities were established as equity joint venture (2)
enterprises in the PRC.

/

N
HE e

3) The subsidiary of R&E Corporation Limited is Taiga SCM 3) ImElmERARNKBARBIEE
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, a company established as wholly B AR ST B9 SN 9B B 1 B RO 1 pE B
foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. ERORYIDRAFA -
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35.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. All subsidiaries
listed above are limited liability companies.

Summarized financial information for the year ended 31
March 2024 in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

There is no material non-controlling interest in 2023.

(a) Taiga Group

35.

FTEMBLAEIRFERERZFH
&)

BEEAFEREZNFZEWE AT
15 ()

RRABEERR LRI ZERNTIE
HAKEARFE2RBEAEERTE NN
BRASEEEFEEANN ZMWBER
A e ERIE BB ARERER
BEEAF

TXFREEEAEENEB R RMEER
MBE-_T-_NF=-A=+T—HLFE
ZHBERER - THIEEBAR R HEM
HATAM SRR ©

R-ZFB-=%F  BEEASFERER -

(a) KXuEH

2024

—EomE

HK$’000

FHET

Non-current assets SEMENEE 104,824
Current assets MENE B 32,638
Current liabilities mEEE (19,749)
Non-current liability ERBAG (14,284)
Total equity Tk 103,429
Revenue Weam 91,680
Other income, gains and losses HMRA - e K EE 796
Expenses F (87,302)
Income tax expenses FrE i X (1,769)
Profit for the year F N A 3,405
Other comprehensive income for the year FRHE M2 E WS (1,198)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FAEE WA EE 2,207

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. FEMfBATIRIEEZERER 2

AND NON-CONTROLLINGINTERESTS B
(CONTINUED)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BEEAFERERNFZEHRBEAR
material non-controlling interests (Continued) E3{E))
(a)  Taiga Group (Continued) (a) KOTEE(E)
2024
—E-E
HKS’000
FHETT
Profit for the year attributable to AT AT EIEFEREN
~ the owner of the Company —ARARIHEB A 2,213
— non-controlling interests of Taiga — RSB IR ER
Group 1,192
Profit for the year F N A 3,405
Other comprehensive expense for the year LA T ATEBEFAEMEZERA X
attributable to
— the owner of the Company . NSO Z SN (611)
— non-controlling interests of Taiga — RSB IR =
Group (587)
Other comprehensive expense for the year R E M2 E M (1,198)
Total comprehensive income for the year AT ATEEFAZEKRBERE
attributable to:
~ the owner of the Company —RRBEINEB A 1,602
— non-controlling interests of Taiga — NASEEH IR ER
Group 605
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEWN AT 2,207
Net cash inflow from operating activities A& EBEERESMAFRE 6,794
Net cash inflow from financing activities ~ BB )EBEER S HMAFRE 15
Net cash inflow WERAFEE 6,809
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e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_IMF=A=+—HBItFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. T EMfIBATIRIFIERER 2
AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 15

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) Biotube

FHE(E)
(b) Biotube

BEEAFEREZNFZEWE AT

2024
—E-NEF
HKS’000
FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 99,526
Current assets MENEE 1,503
Current liabilities MEEE (4,129)
Non-current liability ERBAG (20,900)
Total equity Tk 76,000
Expenses 2 1,297
Loss for the year FHNEE 1,297
Other comprehensive expense for the year R E A2 E M 1,916
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 HH X %8 3,213
Loss for the year attributable to AN AL REEFREIS
— the owner of the Company —ARARIHEB A 661
- non-controlling interests of Biotube — Biotube ) FEFE IX i 2 636
Loss for the year FAEE 1,297
Other comprehensive expense for the year A N A TBEFREMEERL
attributable to N
— the owner of the Company —ARRRIHEB A 977
- non-controlling interests of Biotube — Biotube ) FEFE IX 2 939
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMZ R 1,916
Total comprehensive expense for the year AT A LR F AL EF 25
attributable to: N
— the owner of the Company —RRBINEB A 1,638
- non-controlling interests of Biotube — Biotube ) FEFE IX M 2 1,575
Total comprehensive expense for the year 4 A% E 5 St A2 %8 3,213
Net cash outflow from operating activities AL EB)EHEIR &M FEE (16,852)
Net cash outflow flow WEMmEFER (16,852)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RN EEBR LA
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

COMMITMENTS 36. HIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2024 not R-ZFE_WMFE=A=+—HIKRELE
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were Eﬁ%iﬁﬁ{/ﬁﬂjﬁfﬁ,z*iﬁﬁﬁ-‘%ﬁﬁﬂ
as follows: u[SE
2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted for 2’4 \ ]
Investments in Limited Partnership RAEBRABEEZERE
(note 16) (Btatie) 2,585 2,945
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. REZEMELEENHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities Tiﬁﬁ?”$¢@%%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ@)ﬁﬁ?éﬁﬁﬁ
arising from financing activities, including both cash MEFFE  BEASMIFRSEY -
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing METHFELANBERBESREIR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future REEHRETRAEBEGARERER
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated PO BESRERSHRTRENRE -
statement of cash flows from financing activities.
Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Lease related holding Bank
liabilities companies  company borrowings Total
ENEE Bz
HEEE LQRARE RARANE RITREE B
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022: R-E-__§NA-R: 4,778 108,055 4363 = 17,196
Financing cash flows @Eﬁfﬁiuu& (3,194) (18,267) (4,045) - (25,506)
Finance costs REKA 126 3435 - = 3,561
Dividend declared to a related party =& FREBE A RIAUAR B = 3,965 = = 3,965
Consideration for the acquisition of MBS HEBHNNE
Combining Entities - 8,842 - - 8,842
Wavier of amount due to arelated ~ EA% FE{ BAHE 1 )3
company \ - (14,354) - - (14,354)
Profit quarantee adjustment BARERE - (543) = = (543)
Addition NE 1,072 - - - 1,072
Exchange difference B 3 3% (77) (23) = = (100)
At 31 March 2023 R=Z==%
_ \_H +-—H 2,705 91,110 318 - 94,133
Financing cash flows HERTRE (3,505)  (12,294) 46,427 7,022 37,650
Finance costs G EN 138 2,628 - 313 3,079
Addition NE 4,967 - - - 4,967
Exchange difference 0 5 3% (187) (3,084) (1,006) - (4,277)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-mF
=R=+- 4,118 78,360 45,739 7,335 135,552
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For the year
BE-ZT—

ended 31 March 2024
WE=A=+—HItEE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EXEEAIXRS

(a)

Related party transaction (@ BHLIXZ
2024 2023
—E-E —E =4
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MBI AR N Z2HES
paid to a related company (note a) EFIE X (Hfita) 1,200 1,200
Interest expenses on lease liabilities M&AZER G 2HE
paid to ultimate controlling party ~ B&EFERZ (AiEb)
(note b) 713 781
Lease liabilities incurred to a related SRR HERE
company (note a) (Biata) 2,051 990
Lease liabilities incurred to ultimate B SRAIER AR 2 HE
controlling party (note b) aE(Hatp) 1,144 591
Administrative expenses and service BZIEIEA FIUKER Z 1TIR
cost recharge by ultimate holding B B ARTEA A
company (note c) (Biazc) 7,677 3,815
Administrative expenses recharge by BEEA FIUWER 2 T X
related Companies (note ¢) (Biazc) 12,916 17,787
Revenue from ultimate holding RERLZER AR 2 W
company 8 =
Revenue from related companies PEll NG Al g 4,423 8,176
Purchase from a related Company  [RIE8ES: R A5 A8 (A azc)
(note ¢) 19,150 25311
Notes: Hiat -
a. During the year, a subsidiary of the Group a. FRA-AEE-—RKBL

leased a property from Firenze Apparel Limited
("Firenze"), a company beneficially owned by Mr.
Chan Wing Kai, who is also a director of Firenze.

b. During the year, a subsidiary of the Group
leased a property from Mr. Yan Hao (controlling
shareholder of ultimate holding company), who is
the ultimate beneficial owner of the property.

C. As described in note 2, the Company is controlled
by EPS Holdings, Inc.. The transactions entered
with the related parties of the Combining Entities
from the date when EPS Holdings, Inc. became
the Company's immediate and ultimate holding
company are related party transactions.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

7] [A Firenze Apparel Limited
([Firenze ) FH A —FT¥m % -
Firenze & — M HBABKRMEEE
EEAR AR o FRKERSEE TR
AFirenzeEE o

FR - AEE-FHHEB AR
BOE e A (RBIER A B AR
REBCGR)ER —FE - mE
EEERZMENRKER R
BA

AP FE2FT L - ANQ F AR
#l] A AEPS Holdings, Inc. ° B
EPS Holdings, Inc.i &7 A B1#HY
BEREaERA AR ZARBRES
HEBBAE A LR HE R
B AR5 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Borrowing and profit guarantee in relation to
a sale and purchase agreement

On 26 April 2021, the controlling interest in the
Group was disposed to EPS Holdings, Inc. by Speed
Development Co. Ltd, the preceding controlling
shareholder of the Company which was controlled
by Mr. Chan Wing Kai (the “Disposal”). Pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement, Speed
Development Co. Ltd provided profit and revenue
guarantees in favour of EPS Holdings, Inc. up to
31 March 2024. Mr. Chan Wing Kai retains as a
management of the garment business of the Group
after the Disposal and Speed Development Co. Ltd
is considered to be a related party of the Group.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement,
Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, issued to Speed Development Co. Ltd
three interest free notes (the “Notes”) with a total
principal amount of HK$65 million in relation to the
profit and revenue guarantees for the years ended
or ending 31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024. If the profit or the revenue is lower
than the guaranteed profit or guaranteed revenue,
part or the entire Notes of the respective year will
be waived and Speed Development Co. Ltd will be
obliged to pay the amount equal to the audited
loss after tax of garment business for the year to
the Company. Speed Development Co. Ltd has also
provided a HKS$35 million interest-free revolving
facility to the Company which is due for repayment
on 31 March 2024.

The amount due to Speed Development Co. Ltd
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. The amount due to
Speed Development Co. Ltd is HK$56,434,000 at 31
March 2024 (2023: HKS$76,752,000) are included in
note 27.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_ZE-_WNF=A=1+—HBItFE
38. EXBEELIRZ @)

HEEHEEBAZEERERR
%‘%
R-ZE_—FMAZ-+XH B
N6 [ A 2 AR AR 2 ER PR KRR S A
7 6l &) 28 2 &) B 5 IR IR 3R Speed
Development Co. Ltd i & F EPS
Holdings, Inc. ([ HEEE]) - RIE
B F i © Speed Development
Co. Ltd BAEPS Holdings, Inc.&¥ #
ARMEZE T _MF=A=1+
—B1IEMENRKRRRE o i
EFIHE KR EERESE
EASEREXEBNEEE - m
Speed Development Co. Ltdi##5 15
RAEENBH S

BRIBEEEWZ  ~NARNMEA
7] Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited[d]
Speed Development Co. Ltd 3 1T
TRACERERSCBEESTHNR
BEEBIREED - T’E?’]E@ —_F
—_—_Ff=RAR=+—H Z%FZ
=F=A=+—BHkZZT-_AF
=A=+—BILFEMNRN R
/\f%n °T|#J)ﬁ?ﬁ”‘]jiqﬂl/\_'\1fﬁﬁﬂ%
EaMSREYRE oz
*Bﬁf B ERE ﬁﬁSpeed
Development Co. Ltdf§#&ERA A
RAIXMHEERNEEFEREERS
REZRNEBEEBENET -
Speed Development Co. LtdJRE A
RARRHISEBETLHNRER
BRRE  ZEBER_ZT_NF
—A=1+—BEHEE -

J& {5 Speed Development Co. Ltd
MREBEVTZAFEGTFE  H
BIRBIENAGTE - RZT =
MFE=H=+—H FESpeed
Development Co. Ltd B 3K 1B &
564340008 T( Z T Z = & :

76,752,000/ 7T ) * EFF AMEE27 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Borrowing and profit guarantee in relation to
a sale and purchase agreement (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the HKS35 million interest-free
revolving facility to the Company as mentioned
above has yet been repaid and is included in
“amounts due to related companies” line item of
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The profit guarantee adjustment is recorded by
the Group after the contractual right to receive
the related benefit is established. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, there is profit guarantee
adjustment relating to the year ended 31 March
2023 of HKS$393,000 (2023: HKS$543,000), being
recorded in profit and loss as sundry income under
“Other income, gains and losses” (note 7).

(c) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company'’s directors and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 11, is as follows:

38. EXRBEHAIRS &)

(b) HREBEHZRHEEZEERBEFNR
& ()

R-_ZE-_WF=A=+—H8 "' L
XAt A ATIMISBEEBTRE
BIRBE RAREE - ]IE’\,vT\ 8t
Gk 2k Al e B B A R 5K8 )
B RAR o

5E%IJ1%%E}%%EKEH&HMHE§%IJ§E@

BHEFELEAREBALR -
EA@i:g@ mE=ZA=+—H
IHFEE BT -_=%=A
=+—HIEFE 2393000/ T(=
T = 543000/ 70 ) fEH %
FMRFBAE - WRBIAIH UK
A~ WS MESE BT ARAMIE
A (B3E7) ©

() FEEEEBZHFM

AEBETRERE 2 HM(BREM
FNABRBEXNTARAESER
FT&EFNEE 22BN

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=4F

HKS’000 HKS'000

FET FHET

Salaries and other benefits Fre MEMET 3,428 8,028
Retirement benefit scheme and RIKEFIFTEI R R

contributions 29 90

3,457 8,118

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see
note 8).

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF

FMEEC T ATEIRA] (F2
BIFIFES) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILFE

39. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 39. KeHERH
The Group as lessor AEBFEREBAA
All of the machineries held by the Group for rental AEEDMAEAZABEBEHRERS
purposes have committed lessees for one to ten years. W BN —ETFARER -
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as ZEMEMARRREWASRIEAT :
follows:
2024 2023
it 2 —FE_=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FAET
Within one year R—FK 2,715 -
In the second year F_F 1,511 =
In the third year E=F 937 -
In the fourth year FINE 54 -
In the fifth year FRF 15 =
After five years hF& 7 -
5,239 -
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. HAEE

40.

A subsidiary of the Group is a defendant in a legal action
involving the alleged failure of the subsidiary to provide a
compensation to the plaintiff.

The directors of the Group believe, that the action can be
successfully defended.

The maximum of contingent liabilities to the Group is
estimated to be HK$5,280,000.

AEE-EHBRRR— T ML B
NAEIRELRREREFEERFR
HE o

13

AEBEERR %

FRey

o

AAR] LA TH

AEBNIARBESTHGEA RSB
5,280,000 7T, °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An S BB SRR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=1+—HILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41.

THE COMPANY

R B EARR R

2024 2023
— ks —E=F
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary KER—HEREB AR 1,021 1,021
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FERKIE - Be RHAME
receivables WRIR 70 52
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL BT B & A 173,071 111,545
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁéﬁ&fi{fiﬂf% 554 2,962
173,695 114,559
Current Liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FEETER &/H\@J—Eﬁﬁlﬁi 3,160 2,195
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEHMTE AIFIE 64,782 64,782
67,942 66,977
Net current assets BERBEE 105,753 47,582
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERABERG 106,774 48,603
Non-current liability FRBERE
Amount due to non-controlling interest  fE1 JEF5 P48 25 718 50,204 —
Net assets REE 56,570 48,603
Capital and reserves BERR#E
Share capital &N 5,000 5,000
Reserves e 51,570 43,603
Total equity RREH 56,570 48,603

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIZRI EEBRAF




41.

42,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e Rt

For the year end

R M

ed 31 March 2024

BE_Z_NME-_A=T—HULHFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. ARATBBRREE)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement of the share capital and reserves are stated as IR K 2 EE T -
below:
Retained
earning
Share Share  (accumulated
capital premium losses) Total
REBF
LN B0 fE (RFTEH8R) B
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
FE F#E F#Ex FEx
1 April 2022 i S— Y R = 5,000 47,656 6,611 59,267
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREEREZERY B
expense for the year - - (10,664) (10,664)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=A=+—H 5,000 47,656 (4,053) 48,603
Profit and total comprehensive & A3 F & 2 E U5 4258
income for the year - - 7,967 7,967
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_NF=RA=+—H 5,000 47,656 3,914 56,570
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42, HEHREE

On 9 April 2024, the Company has entered into two
subscription agreements with two subscribers for
10,080,645 and 12,096,774 ordinary shares of the Company
at subscription price of HK$0.992. The net proceeds from
the issue of shares was approximately HK$21.8 million. The
Group intends to apply the proceeds as general working
capital of the Group.

RZZEE_WNFINAAH

REEART LMD R 15

w,ﬁ\%fﬁowz,%m RPN
$212,096,7740% &A% ©
FIBFRENAE2I8EHS

i /N R
NAHB @
7110,080,6450%
BIIRMBFTE
BT o AEE K

RESTIRRERERN —REEES -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE GROUP

AEEEFEFHBEHME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LABBEZ Z1))
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS #EiEHR
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZECNE —To=F T —F —T-—F —FT_FTF
HKS’000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue Iz 644,615 452,906 519,947 405,445 537,408
(Loss)/profit before tax BR 75 AT (B51R) A (24,052) (48,161) (22,744) 7,136 27,800
Income tax expense FTiS TR X (2,444) (2,125) (3,529) (631) (5,065)
(Loss)/profit for the year FRNEE) B A (26,496) (50,286) (26,273) 6,505 22,735
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL mEBBEMRRK
POSITION
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EDNE —T-=F —F-—F —T-—F —T-FTHF
HK$’000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
Current assets MENEE 211,929 216,732 284,643 146,955 152,532
Non-current assets FERIEE 217,956 10,762 11,917 4,212 5,847
Total assets BB E 429,885 227,494 296,560 151,167 158,379
Current liabilities nEaE 205,030 115,184 82,288 17,892 30,243
Non-current liabilities FEREBERF 86,673 20,666 74,408 130 1,606
Total liabilities HaE 291,703 135,850 156,696 18,022 31,849
Net assets FEE 138,182 91,644 139,864 133,145 126,530
Equity g
Equity attributable to RNABIHEE AL
owners of the Company M= 138,182 91,644 139,864 133,145 126,530

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS IR EEBR D =
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